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DEPARTMENT OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE
REPARATIONS, 1930-31

REPORT

To His Excellency,
the Governor General in Council.

May 17 PLEASE YOUR EXCELLENCY:
I have the honour to submit the following Reporc:

Since the date of my Supplementary Report, dated July 21, 1931, attention
has been given to the large number of cases presented by former prisoners of
war who claim damages caused by maltreatment. The present Report is designed
to include and dispose of all such cases heard up till June 23, 1931. Decisions
have been reached and recommendations are now made in 340 cases, leaving
only & number of civilian cases yet to be disposed of, together with a further
group of soldier cases received or heard after the date above mentioned.

In addition to the sittings referred to in my previous reports, the Commis-
¢jon has held sessions at Halifax, N.&,, Montreal, P.Q., Ottawa, Ont., Toronto,
Ont., Winnipeg, Man,, Calgary, Alta., Edmonton, Alta., Vancouver, B.C,, and
Victoria, B.C.

These cases have entailed serious study and the work of preparing detailed
recom:nendations in each case has been laborious. I regret that the report should
be so voluminous, but I felt that each claimant was entitled to have his case fully
reviewed in such detail as the facts and circumstances warranted. Many of the
claims asserted should not have been advanced before this Commission, being
purely pensionable in nature, and a number of the applicants erroncously regarded
this Commission as a means to obtaining an initial or increased pension.

In dealing with these cases, claimants have been required to complete and
file statements of claim setting out their grievances, supported by medical certifi-
cates indicating their present condition as to disability. Where possible, the
medical practitioners v ho have furnished the certifieates have been requested
to attend at the heariugs. Claimants themselves, in practically every case, have
been heard and fully questioned. Every effort has beeu made to ascertain the
actual facts and to measure fairly the damage sustained by each individual
claimant. To hold a claimant rigorously to the full, legal proof of his claim
would be as unfair as it would be to accept in their entirety the unsupported
statements of claimants. Evidence such as would be required in a court of law
has not been exacted but, on the other hand, stories, which have become exag-
gerated with the passage of time, have been carefuliy scrutinized and confined
within the bounds of probabilit;y. In only one case (Hunter No. 1846) has the
reverse side of the picture been put before the Commission, by a letter from the
German Consul General, which seriously assails the accuracy of the claimant’s
tostimony. Had this practice been more prevalent and had both sides been
represented at the hearings, it would have simplified the task and facilitated the
decision of eases. In the absence of this assistance, the Commission has sought
to test, as best it could, the authenticity of the facts as presented in each
particelar ease. This it has been able to do, in some measure, by checking the
facts related by claimants with statements made by them (when available) upon
- 4U29—-1}
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repatriation, by their pension and medical history records and by reports, of an
official or semi-ofticial eharacter, as to conditions prevailing in various camps, to
which reports T have made reference in the annexed opinion.

Gireat care must be exercised in distinguishing between service disability and
incapacity direetly ttributable to treatment received while a prisoner. Both
classes of injury are, of course, pensionable, but this Commission is concerned
only with cases falling under the latter eategory. By reference to the records
of the Board of Pension Commissioners and scrutiny of the pension decisions in
favour of claimants, it is hoped that there will be no confusion nor any duplica-
tion of awards It is undesirable that any decisions of this Commission should
embarrass the Bourd of Pension Commissioners in their consideration of claims
presented by pensioners or clnim..nts seeking pension.  In many cases, of course,
claimants in receipt of pension, provided they have made out a easc of maltreat-
ment, are entitled to an award from this Commission. ‘The rights to pension and
reparation are not exclusive the one of the other.

I have preparcd awd annexed to the present report a general summary or
opinion outlining the principles upon which 1 have endeavoured to decide the
various cases. As to a large number of the cases now under report, the
Commission has had the benefit of the co-operation of Dr. J. P. 5. Catheart,
Chief Psychintrist to the Department of Pensions and National Health. Dr.
Catheart has attended most of the sessions of the Commiscion and I desire to
record my high appreciation of his valuable assistance in advising upon the
medieal and disability aspeets of each case. He has prepared and filed with
the Commission a report, which I append hereto as indicating his appreciation
of the evidence from a medical standpoint.

In arranging the material for the present report, the recommendations are
presented numerically in the order in which they were heard, with an alphabetical
index and a summary of the awards made. As far as possible, statements of
claimants referring to other cases have been checked and verified, in order to
bring to cach claim all posisble corroborative testimony.

A number of claims have been presentea Wy former Imperial soldicrs, who
only became resident in Canada after the war. .\s explained in Opinion annexed
to my Interim report, dealing with the scope and jurisdiction of the Commission,
it was found necessary to fix a date constitutive of jurisdiction for those claimants,
British subjeets, who had come to Canada to live after the events complained of
January 10, 1920, date of the ratification of the Treaty of Versailles, was selected.
"Tlie was the date upon which, under the Treaty, Germany undertook to pay
and assumed what may be regarded as a contractual obligation to make good the
damage caused during the war. I sce no reason to depart from this principle in
dealing with the group of cases above mentioned.

In a few cases claims have been presented by dependents of deceased soldiers
who died after their return to Canada. The section of the Annex to the Treaty,
with whieh we are concerned, does not authorize awards upon the ground of
dependency, as do the sections relating to civilian claimants. The claim ig purely
persprml to the victim of the maltreatment and does not pass, upon hie death,
to his legal representatives. Moreover, in such cases it is practically impossible
to adduce direct evidence of maltreatment and still more difficult to establish that
the death has resulted from the treatmernt alleged.

_ In allowing interest upon the amcunt of the awards, I have followed the
principle adopted in dealing with civilian cases and referred to in Opinion
annexed to my Interim Report. Regarding the Treaty of Versaiiles as a gpecific
undertaking on the part of Germany to pay, it seems reasonable to make interest
run from the date of the ratification of the Treaty, viz., January 10, 1920,
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The present report involves an expenditure amounting to $93,500, with
$66,100 estimated interest, at the rate of 5 per cent per annum, to say, January
10, 1932—a total of $149,600.

The Commission has accepted for hearing 932 olaims, of which 730 have
been Loard.  The present report, consisting of 340 cases, brings the total number
of cases disposed of to 666. There remain 266 cases, made up of 211 military
and 52 civilian claims, of which 43 military and 21 civilian have beer heard
since June 23, 1931.

All of which is respectfully submitted for Your Excellensy’s consideration.

ERROL M. McDOUGALIL,
Commissioner.
Orrawa, January 13, 1932,



MALTREATMENT OF PRISONERS OF WAR

The elauses relating to Reparations in the Treaty of Versailles, Articles 231
and 232, with Annex 1 to Article 232, contain the following provision dealing
with prizoners of war:—

Compensation may be claimed from Germany under Arlicle 232 ahove in respect of
the total damage under the following categories:—

4. Damage cawsed by any kind of maltreatment of prisoners of war.

While the language of the scetion is clear, no attempt has been made to
define the precise meaning of the term @ maltreatment.” Tt will be observed that
the addition of the words “any kind of,” as applied to the subject, is the con-
verse of restrietive and would appear to indicate that the framers of the Treaty
intended to give the word its widest connotation. It would be idle to attempt
an exact definition of the term or to set up any rigid standard by which all
claims now before the Commission should be governed. 1 conceive it to be my
duty to examine and weigh the circumstances of cach particular case and to
determine, ia the exercise of a wide diseretion, whether the claimant has sustained
damage as the result of maltreatment suffered at the hands of the enemy.

Indicative of the manner in which 1 consider that this discretion should be
exereiged, it will be useful to state some general guiding principles applicable to
the majority of cases and to which reference may be made in the individual
decisions.

The wording of the section quoted mukes it clear that damage must have
been sustained by a claimant as the result of maltreatment to entitle him to
recover. This was the view taken not only by the British Reparations Com-
mission, but bv the American Mixed Claims Commission in dealing with like
cases under similar provisions contained in the Creaty of Berlin. I quote from
Report of Le « Sumner- ~Report V' (1923) at pp. 47:—

Paragraphs %, ¢ and 4 of Annex T deal with different categories of personal damage
suffered by the civilian population and thereon the following decisions were taken.

1. that Germany owed compensation under the terms of Paragraphs 2 and 3 of Annex
1 only for those damuges which were the direct consequenees of the uets stipulated in these
paragraphs.

IIL that in order that damages suffered by a prisoner of war as a result of maltreat-
ment should give rise to a claim for reparation, it would be necessary

(a) that incapacily to work thould have been the consequence of maltreatment.

(b) that such incapacity for work should have subsisted after liheration.

In dealing with the claim of an American soldier alleging maltreatment by
the Germans, Judge Parker of the United States Mixed Claims Commissicn,
makes this comment— (Docket 1322—Geo. T.. Hawley, Record of decisions
np. 651)

The claimart undoubledly sustained serious injuries as a consequence of the war, but
o careful consid ation of the record before the Commission fails to disclose that he has
suffered any pecuniary damage vesulling from any maltrcatment or other act for which
GGermany can be held liable under the Treaty.

It would appear to follow from the language of (2) of the Annex which
deals specifieally with “injuries to life or health as a consequence of imprison-
ment, deportation, internment or evacuation, of exposure at sea or of being
forced to labour” that civilians are entitled to put forward claims for injuries to
health which are not available to prisoners of war under (4) which is restrictive

6
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and deals only with “ maltreatment ” and damage caused theieby. The mere
fact of the existence of an injury to health as a consequence of imprisonment
(which, in the case of prisoners of war, i3 legnl) without proof of maltreatment
inducing the condition complained of does not, in my view, establish liability to
pay compansation. Punitive or vindictive damages are thus excluded. As ex-
plained in Opinion annexed to my Interim Report,  this Commission has no
punitive mission, nor has it any offence to punish.” Its functions must be con-
fined solely to compensatory damages. -

Diverse and various have been the incidents of maltreatment urged in sup-
port of the numerous claims. While it is not opportune to attempt an ex-
haustive enumeration of what acts constitute maltreatment, it may, by way of
illustration, be useful to direct attention to certain acts which do not, per se,
constitute maltreatment. Thus, poor food conditions, in Germany, resulting in
impaired health, unless deliberately and unreasonably imposed upon a claimant
by the authoritics, cannot be regarded as maltreatment. Germany’s inability to
obtain better food, at least during certain stages of the war, was notorious and
obtained throughout the country. A hardship arising from necessity and which
was bo1e alike by the captured and the captors does not constitute “ maltreat-
ment.”

Again, many eclaimants complain of being inoculated by the German
physicians,  The fact that the Germany authorities inoculated and vaecinated
prisoners would scem to imply that they were secking to give them all proper
and necessary attention, rather than to maltreat them. Another frequent ground
of complaint is the use of paper bandages by the German hospital authorities in
dressing the wounds of prisoners, but there is no evidence that any other handages
were available, and it appears that the German authorities were forced to use
paper bandages in the dressing of the wounds of German soldiers. This was one
of the hardships of war in which claimants were cngaged as combatants. Many
prisoners who attempted to escape, upon recapture, were severely handled and
subjected to solitary confinement under very trying conditionz. Provided such
punishment was inflicted in accordance with military law and did not go beyond
reasonable bounds, it cannot furnish ground of complaint. CGermany was entitled
to hold her prisoners and to apply to them such disciplinary measures as each
case required. To sheot nd kill or maim a prisoner in the act of escaping, is not
illegal and to punish him, even severely, upon recapture, cannot be termed
“ maltreatment ” unless the punishment, by its violence and inhumanity trans-
gresses the rules applying to the treatment of prisoners by civilized nations.
International law recognizes that a prisoner may be “ confined with such rigour
as is necessary for his safe custody.” (Hall's International Law, 8th Ed., p.
487).

The Hague Regulations by Articles 4 to 20 have enacted exhaustive rules
regarding captivity, and declare the humane principles relating to the treatment
and care of prisoners of war. These rules were prepared in time of Peace before
the World War, but to quote “ Oppenheim ” International Law, 4th Ed., at p.
253, “ the experiences of that war disappointed many hopes founded upon them.”
The matter has also been discussed by jurists of international reputation. 1
refer to Wheaton on International Law, 6th Ed. Vol. I1, p. 722; Hall’s Interna-
tional Law, 8th Ed. p. 488; Garner, International Law and the World War 1920.
Better to appreciate what treatment a prisoner of war may expect to receive
and to set a standard by which the conduct of civilized nations should be
governcd, the Hague rules, relevant fo the present matter, read as follows:—
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CHAPTER II—PRISONERS OF WAR

Arr. 4

Prisoners of wur are in the power of the hostile Government, but not of the individuals
or corps who capture them. :

They must be humanely treated.

All their personal belongings, except arms, horses, and military papers, remain their
property.

ART. § .

Prisoners of war may be interned in a town, fortress, camp, or other place, and are
bound not to go beyond certain fixed limits; but they cannot be placed in confinement
except a8 an indispensable measure of safety, and only while the circumstances which neces-
sitate the measure continue to exist.

Art. 6

The State may employ the labour of prisoners of war, other than officers, according to
their rank and capacity. The work shall not be excessive, and shall have ne connection
with the operations of the war,

Prisoners may be authorized to work for the public service, for private persons, or on
their own account.

Work done for the State is paid for at rates proportional to the work of a similar kind
executed by soldiers of the national army, or, if there are no such rates in for: -, at rates
proportional to the work executed.

When the work is for other branches of the public serv..e, or for private persons, the
conditions are settled in agreement with the military authorities.

The wages of the prisoners shall go towards improving their position, and the balance
shall be paid them on their release, dedustions on account of the cest of maintenance
excepted.

ARt. 7

The Government into whose hunds prisoners of war have fallen is charged with their
maintenance. :

In defanlt of special ngreement between the belligerents, prisoners of war shall be treated,
a8 regards rations, quarters, and clothing, on the same footing a3 the troops of the Govern-
ment which captured them.

ART. §

Prisoners of war shall be subjeet to the laws, regulations, and orders in foree in the
army of the State in the power of which they are. Any act of insubordination justifies the
adoption towards them of such wrasures of severity as may be considered necessary.

Escaped prisoners who are retu ien before being able to rejoin their own army, or before
leaving the territory occupied by “he army which captured them, are liable to (fisciplinary
punishment.

Prisoners who, after succeeding in escaping, are again taken prisoners, are not linble to
any punishment on account of their previous escape.

ArT. 17

Officers taken prisoners shall receive the same rate of yay as officers of corresponding
rank in the country where they are detained; the amount shall be refunded by their own

Government.
Agrt. 18

Prisoners of war shall enjoy complete liberty in the exercise of their religion, including
attendance at the servives of their own Church, on the sole condition that they comply with
the police regulations issued by the military authorities,

Art. 20

After the conclusion of peace, the repatriation of prisoners of war shall be carried out
as quickly as possible,

Ideal as may be the conditicns of captivity provided in the foregoing rules,
it is doubtful whether any captor has been, or will be, able to conform com-
pletely to this desirable standard. The inevitable exigencies of a war bring
about departure from the principles stated. It is certain that Germany fell far
short of the application of these rules to its prisorers in the World War. Oppen-
heim, op. cit. at pp. 258, says:— ,

These rules of the Hague Convention had, as has been gaid, been laid down in time of
peace; and in war the attitude of belligerents towards prisoners is liable to change. Al
the States involved in the World War charged one another with violating the Hague Regu-
lations by the maltreatment of prisoners of war, and at an early stag: they arranged for
inspection by neutral representatives of the camps on their territory. The reports of the
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inspectors disclosed conditions at certain times in certain German camps which were very
bad, and made it clear that alniost cverywhere iu Germunﬂ, prisoners were sulfering great
hardsbips insufficient food and clothing. The reports on British and French camps were
almos, uniforinly satisfactory. None the less, Germany disbelieved them, and resorted to
reprisals for the alleged maltreatment of German prisoncrs, while the Allies, in their tum
feared that conditions in the camps in Germany were cver worse than appearcd from the
reports. Whatever may be the evidentiary value of some of the charges, undoubtedly the
Hague Regulations were grievously violated by Germany in letler and tn spirit.

Applying the strictest legal construction to the acts of Germany in the light
of the rules quoted, would involve a finding that in practically overy case there
had been maltreatment, but I regard such a construction as unduly harsh and
literal. Not in justification of, but perhaps in partial extenuation of, the treat-
ment accorded by Germany to its prisoners of war, it is worthy of note that
over 1,600,000 Allied prisoners were taken and held by the enemy in the early
stages of the war and remained in captivity for over three years, to say nothing
of the internment of practically the entire enemy alien population. The mag-
nitude of the problem thus suddenly thrown upon Germany of caring and pro-
viding for so great a number, was beyond her power to accomplish strictly in
accordance with the regulations laid down in the Hague Convention. (Garner,
loe. ecit,, vol. II, p. 1.} As the war progressed and the pressure of the allied
blockade upon Germany was intensified, it became increasingly difficult to feed,
clothe and care for this vast army of prisoners. At various stages of the war
agreements were entered into by the belligerents looking to the betterment of
the conditions under which prisoners were held. providing for exchange of the
disabled and dealing with various grounds of complaint. In general, it cannot
be said that these agreements, so far as Germany was concerned, brought any
great amelioration to the lot of the prisoners in its hands.

The treatment of prisoners of war varied very considerably in the different
camps, and even in the same camp at different periods. I have had the advan-
tage of having before me the reports made to the British authorities through
the United States Ambassador to Germany, Mr, Jas. W. Gerard, upon the con-
ditions and treatment of prisoners in a number of the camps where claimants
were held, as also report of Lord Justice Younger in November, 1918, dealing
with conditions in the coal and salt mines where British prisoners were held.
These reports throw a valuable light upon conditions generally and have been
of great assistance in reaching conclusions. Without attempting to detail con-
ditions as they existed in the numerous eamps in which Canadian prisoners were
held, it is proper that attention should be called to what was possibly the worst
prison camp in Germany—at Wittenberg—the scat of a typhus epidemic in
1915, which marks the height of German callousness in the treatment of
prisoners.  Between 15,000 and 17,000 prisoners were confined in the camp—of
all nationalities—within an area of 10} acres. Little or nothing was done to
prevent the spread of the cpidemic, which broke out in December, 1914, and
the German military and medical staffs ignominiously deserted their charges, so
that with rare exceptions they had no communication with the prisoners until
August, 1915, except by means of directions shouted from a distance outside the
wire fences. In commenting upon this camp, Lord Justice Younger's committee
said: “Incredible ag it may scem, the action of the officers and guards in pre-
cipitately deserting the camp and thenceforth controlling its cagad inmates with
loaded rifles from the outside, was only in keeping with the methods and con-
duct of these men throughout.” (See Garner, op. cit. Vol. IT at pp. 19 (Note).)

The evil fame of the salt and coal mining camps to which prisoners were
sent for punishment became notoricus. Lord Younger's report above referred to
deals with conditions there obtaining in no uncertain terms. He describes life
in these camps as “a singularly cruel and dangercus form of slavery.” In
explanation of the system adopted in these camps he says:—

The prisoners in the mining camps are hired out by the German Government to private
firms, a military guard, under a non-commissioned officer, heing attached to each kommando
to maintain discipline. Special precaution is obviously neeessary in these circumstances to
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ensure that the N.C.O. or “ Kommandofuhrer” is fully responsible to s military superior
at the. parent-camp, and alfo that he has no immediate interest in overworking the men.
Both these clementary considemtions have been ignored by the German authorities. The
« IXommandofuhrer” and his subordinates are openly bribed by the contracting firm to get
as much work ng possible out of the prisoners; and on the other hand the control of the
prisoners iz divided, nt uny vate in practice, between the military commsnd and the civilian
foreman who direct the work in the pit. These latter ure actually armed with revolvers.
and in some of the coal-mines they appear to tuke over, during the working day, the fuli
powers of the military guard, which remains above ground. Not only can the foreman, or
“ steiger ” report the prisoners for regular punishment in the camp, but he can and does ill-
treat them on ‘*he spot without any interference. There is abundant evidence of the serious
dungers to whicn the men are thus exposed. Moreover, as they naturally defend themselves
as best they can against such unconirolied tyranny, the foreman is in the habit of calling
in the civillan miners, at work in the same pit, (o help him in coercing the prisoners, This
proceeding, it need scareely be said, is justly and indignantly resented. It is a constant
source of {rouble, and ncutely intensifies the embitterment of feeling all round; even though
a result of these conflicts has certainly been, in some places, that the German miner bas
learned a decided respect for the British prisoner of war.

Dealing particularly with the Beienrode mine (parent ecamp Hameln) where
many of the claimants, now under report, were held prisoner for upwards of three
vears and as to which we have an abundance of detail as to cruelty, violence
and general maltreatment, Lord Younger says:—

The officially recognized punishment is simply 14 days cells, but besides the fact that
the cell may be such as is deseribed above, there are other me.hods of aggravation. One,
practised in manv of the salt mines, is to orduin that the 14 days shall be worked off on
Sundays only, with extin labour on week days, thus ensuring that the offendcer is deprived
ot any hour of respite for 14 wecks, But more commonly the * Kommandofuhrer” takes
the opportunity n} wreaking a kind of personal revenge; for to permit an escape is of
course the one offence for which he stands openly condemned in the eyes of his superiors,
and it may doubtless be a serious matter for him. He accordingly adds to the official arrest
an informal thrashing and battering administered hy the sentries. This has been the rule
among other places, at the salt mine of Beienrode (parent camp, Hameln), where the method
of Sunday arrest js also enforeed.

It is unnecessary further to expatiate upon the vile conditions of life and
treatment in such camps. Almost is it enough for 2 claimant to prove that he
was held a prisoner in such a camp to establish maltreatment and consequent
disability. It has been said that prisoners have exaggerated the brutality to
which they were subjected. To cite one instance only in refutation of this view,
I quote from Garner (op. cit. Vol IT, pp. 47) in regard to one form of punish-
ment.

The forms of individual punishment were various, and some of them not without an
vlement of brutality. The most criticized of these was the practice of tving the prizoner to a
post with his hands behind him, where he was compelled to stand for some hours in the heat
of the sun or in the cold. Sometimes he was suspended with his feet dangling above the
wround; sometimes he was compelled to stand for hours with a heavy Joad on his back or
walk to and fro with a heavy sack of bricks on his back.

It is abundantly clear from the ensemble of the evidence in these cases that
many men invited or provoked treatment which was harsh and brutal and while
this may be no excuse for the callous and malevolent eruelty which seme prisoners
underwent, it must receive consideration in considering their cases. Many wit-
nesses declare that punishment or abuse could be avoided by a proper obedience
to the camp rules and compliance with the wishes of their captors. One very
general complaint has to do with the work prisoners were called upon to do
and the punishment meted out upon refusal to work. It is well to recall that

-the captor is entitled to demand that his prisoners do labour of certain kinds
and subject to certain conditions. (See Hague Rules, supra. pp. 9, Art. 6).

Linked with the complaint as to work is the fact urged 'y claimants that
they were inadequately fed to carry out the arduous tasks to which they were
assigned. This is the universal grievance at the worst camps, such A%¢he salt
mines. It is undoubtedly true that lack of food with hard manual labod must
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and did aave a most unfavourable repurcussion upon the health of the men
involved, and these conditions have been given the fullest consideration in the
recommendations made. ,

One group of claimants has received very careful consideration. I refer to
prisoners who were held behind the lines and made to work under shell fire and
upon German operations of war. Although contrary to the Hague Rules and
Agreements made between the combatants, this practice was prevalent particu-
larly in the later stages of the war and was resorted to, so it is said, by way of
reprisal for similar labour and treatment alleged to have been imposed upon
German prisoners in Allied hands. The lot of these unfortunate prisoners was
most pitiable and while they may have been only a short time in captivity, their
physical and mental sufferings were so intense as to merit special consideration.
There is an abundance of testimony in the findings of the Commissions set up
to investigate these cases and the reports of Lord Yourger bear out the stories
of deliberate starvation, cruelty and brutaiity which these claimants tell. To
cite one instance only, I quote from report of Lord Younger dated March 6,
1918 (Miscellancous Documents, No. 7, 1918), as follows:—

Many were brought into the camp who had returned from working behind the lines;
they were in a shocking state, literally skin and bone, hardly able to walk, and quite womn
out physically and mentally; their clothes threadbare and in rags, without boots, wearing old
rag slippers -. . . . .

In & great majority of cases, no specific cum has been claimed as compensa-
tion and the amount has been left to the determination of the Commission. The
difficulty of finding the measure of damage, in cazes of this clasz, is obvious.
To compensate a man for his loss depends upon factors ef se¢ diverse a nature,
that no precise pecuniary standard can be adopted. It is not a case of supple-
menting pension awards as so many claimants seem to think. The right to
pension is open to all returned men, and in 2o far as injuries may have been
sustained through maltreatment the remedies are co-extensive. Whether pension
or reparation, awards must be regarded as compensation for disability, but it is
manifestly impossible in either case to apply the full measure of legal indemnity,
recognized in the familiar legal principle of restituo i integrum. It would be
absurd to say that a man who has lost a leg or an arm can be restored to the
same position in which he was, by virtue of a pecuniary sward. See per Lord
Dunedin in The Valeria, A.C. 1922, at p. 248. The money cannot replace the
leg or arm. All that can be hoped is to estimcte 29 closely ay pessible what
the loss has been and then arbitrarily to fix a sum which appears to be just
compensation for the loss. The criterion is not and cannot be solely loss of
earnings. The majority of the claimants were boys when they enlisted and a
comparison between what they earned before the war with what they now earn,
would not be profitable in trying to reach conclusions If it were possible,
psvchologieally, to measure the precise diminution in a claimant’s earning power,
some measure of exactitude could be brought into the calculation, but the human
equation differs so greatly that it is idle to endeavour to find a positive factor
of measurement. Where the record discloses what may be regarded as maltreat-
ment and the claimant discharges the burden of showing that disability results
therefrom, he becomes cntitled to an award. What the amount of such award
chould be will depend upon the severity of the maltreaiment shown and the
degree of resultant disability. To assure uniformity of award, T consider that
the method of procedure shou!d be to fix an amount for what may be termed
simple maltreatment, with some resulting disability, and ratc the various cases
with reference to this basic f.gure. I have, therefore, adopted as such minimum
award, the sum of $500 and cach case has, accordingly, been judged with refer-

ence to this figure.
FERRROL M. RTCDOUGALIJ,
Commissioner.

Orrawa, January 13, 1932,
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OTrawa, Jantunry 11, 1932,

Error a. McDoueart, Esquire, K.C.,
Commissioner, Royal Commission for the Investigation of Illegal Warfare
Claims and for the Return of Sequestrated Property in Necessitous
Cases, Trafalgar Building, Ottawa.

Sir,—I have the honour to report the results of my survey of the medical
aspects of the claims made before the Reparations Commission by approximately
five hundred ex-prisoners of war.

My services were not available during the first session of the Commission,
but T had the privilege of attending the later sittings in 'Toronto, Ottawa and
Western Canada. During these sessions I heard the cases of every claimant
and examined so far as was possible the claimants, numbering about two hundred.
With the knowledge gained from personal examination of two-fifths of the total
number of applicants it has been possible, after careful review of each individual
file, to give a reasonably accurate opinion in the remaining three hundred cases.
Not only this, but I have been able from a medical point of view to draw certain
definite conclusions regarding the after-effects of imprisonment in the whole
group of ex-prisoners of war.

In arriving at these conclusions due allowance has been made for the fact
that thirteen to sixteen years have elapsed since the termination of imprison-
ment. It would be expected that after such a lengthy period the ordinary inci-
dence of accidents and discases in men now reaching the average age of forty
would bring forth its own {oll of disabilities, but comparison has been made
by using as a standard the average health of ex-service men, with which I am in
contact daily in Departmental work,

Although it was apparent thay the object of the majority of the claimants
was to bring to the attention of the Commission certain injuries, alleged to have
been sustained as prisoners of war, I was inclined to emphasize the impsairment
of health as result of general conditions rather than the direct or indirect results
of specific injuries, violence or abuse. In spite of the numerous claims, 1 was
particularly impressed with the type of men represented in the greup of claim-
ants. For the most part the claimants compared very favourably with the aver-
age returned soldier; in that on discharge from the army they quickly resumed
employment and have lived in a quiet, self-respecting manner since. I was
particularly imnressed with the spirit of independence as shown by the fact that
many preferred to seek medical advice on their own without appeal to the
Department of Pensions and National Health. This is probably explained by
the anticipation of rapid restoration to health with freedom, help of good food
and other comforts of life. I believe that in many cases this has been the for-
tunate result, but in the sclect group  whose cases have been heard before the
Commission there is reason tc believe that in some, this restoration to health
has been but partially realized.

It is very difficult to outline in a connccted clinieal deseription this impair-
ment in health. My impressions were gained, as much if not more, from the
authentic histories of individual cases as from the tangible results of examina-
tions made at the time of the Commission hearing; in other words many of
these men had the appearance of health, but the frequent occurrences of certain
symptoms and illnesses, as listed below in order of their frequency, persuaded
me to believe that this appearance was in some measure deceptive.

12
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1. DentanL CoNpiTIONS

With few exceptions no claimants were found to have reasonably perfeot
teeth corresponding to age. It might be pointed out here that the nverage age
of this group did not appear to be quite as high as the average of general C.E.I.
enlistments.  More than fifty per cent of the claimants were born in the 90's.
During the early hearings nearly every claimant attributed the absence of
teeth to the effects of injury, the results of being struck on the mouth by rifle
hutts, clubs, ete. When it was pointed out how infrequently the corresponding
lower teeth were involved, these claims of injury were seldom advanced in sub-
seqquent hearings.

About sixty per cent of the claimants were wearing artificial dentures, of
which the vast majority were uppers. Many of those wenring dentures, who
had remaining teeth exhibited pyorrhoea and dental earies of varving degree.
Of those who presented a minimum degiee of dental defects, inquiries revealed
that prophylaxis could be earried out during the period of imprisonment in Ger-
many. Therefore, it is reasonable to conclude some of the dental defects were
the result of unhygicnic habits or laziness. I was under the impression, how-
ever, that a large factor was a lowered resistance to dental infection and the
necessity to extract earious teeth, proper dental facilities not being available.

5. (GASTROINTESTINAL SYMPTOMS

The majority of claimants presented one or more of the following gastro-
intestinal symptoms listed below in order of frequency.

(a) Squeamishness; nausea in the morning, and lack of appetite for break-
le\st.. Quite frequently this symptom was associated with morning cough and
phlegm.

(b)_ The necessity to place certain restrictions on diet both as to quantity
and variety. Greasy foods and meats were particularly tabooed. On the other
hand milk was frequently preferred.

Indiscretions in diet gave rise to:

(¢) Pyrosis and belching after meais.

(d) Peculiar sencations in the abdomen, varying from discomfort and
heaviness to quivering sensation, less commonly definite pain and that not
always related to meals; most frequently on an empty stomach.

Other symptoms:

(e) Alternate diarrhoca and constipation. This symptom was compara-
tively mild and though usually present was infrequently stressed.

(f) Hacmorrhoids not very frequent.

(g) Rarely symptoms suggestive of definite gastric or duc lenal ulcers.

(h) Mucous colitis.

() Some cases suggest autonomic imbalance, chiefly of gastrointestinal
mechanism. N

(7) Constipation: This complaint was rarely volunteered. In most appli-
-cants it was elicited by question. _ ,

It seems important to draw attention here to the frequent use by the Ger-
mans of disciplinary restriction in diet (bread and water) and the very opposite
circumstance which affected all alike—that of being gorged after receipt of Red
?rogs p’{n'cels. As many of the claimants put it “It was either a feast or a
amine.

-3, CHRONIC PHARYNGITIS AND BRONCHITIS

... The vast majority complained of irritating cough, particularly on rising
in the morning. In others there was a history of recurring colds and difficulty
.in. shaking them off.



14 REPARATIONS, 1226-31

4. REpUcEn RESISTANCE TO INFECTION

The histories of a great majority of claimants revealed a story of recur-
ring infections during the periods of imprisonment in Germany. 7The most com-
mon infection was that of boils, but otlher low-grade infections were frequently
mentioned, including carbuncles, septic sores, tonsilitis, quiney, bronchitis and
suppurative otitis media. Those who worked in the salt mines seemet to have
been particularly vulnerable.

About 40 per cent of the claimants heard at the Toronto Session gave his-
tories of recurreices of one or more of these infections since discharge from the
army  Other but less frequent infections continuing into the post-discharge
per‘od are sinusitis, ischio-rectal abscesses, whitlows, cellulitis and erysipelas.
A few cases of stone in the kidney or gall bladder scemed to fit into this group
of reduced resistance to low-grade infections. A muost striking feature of this
apparent reduced resistance to infection came to my notice during the first
session that I atiended. In this session which was held in Torento, April, 1931,
1 noticed the apparent abscnee of susceptibility to chronic infection in those
who had been employed sinee discharge from the army at outside oceupations,
namely, farmers, policemen, cte.; whereas the real picture of reduced resistance
to infection was regularly obtained in those employed in factories.

Most convineing proof of the influence of induatrial and living circum-
stances in modifying the picture of reduced resistance to infection was obtained
during the Commission Scssion in Western Canada November, 1931. During
this session some 47 ex-soldier claimants were heard in Winnipeg, Calgary,
Vancouver and Edmonton. I made inquiries from all these claimants regarding
the symptoms which were most frequently observed in the Toronto District
cases. In not one of these 47 claimants was there obtained a history of post-
discharge susceptibility to chronic infection. Even those prisoners of war who
mentioned having had boils, septic sores, tonsilitis and other minor infections
while in Germany were strikingly free from continuance of these illnesses subse-
quently. The findings in the We=tern cases p.ermit a definite conclusion regard-
ing the vrobable factor in the clinical picture of susceptibility to low-grade
infection. In the W.ost farming is the common occupation and indoor employ-
ment is comparatively rave. It is my opinion, therefore, that there is one
common factor operating in this group to modify or eliminate the clinical picture
observed so frequently in the Toronto eases, namely, a high incidence of outdoor
aecupetion and outdoor recreational activities combined with the advantage of
having more available sunlight, except perhaps in certain parts of British
Columbia. Whatever difference exists in the case of British Columbia is more
than compensated for by the milder climate which permits outdoor occupation
during seasons which in the other Western provinces would interfere with these
activitics.

5. Nervous COMPLAINTS

In the majority of those who volunteered nervous complaints there was
exhibited an almost unique syndrome, not exactly recognizable as one of the
common psychoneuroses, although obviously belenging to that class. The
symptom which appeared most frequently was that of fatigue {owards the
end of the day. In a great many this fatigue was probably present at all
times and explains the frequent complaint of irritability and ]ack of initiative
and “ pep.” Annoyance with trifies, tendency to avoid company, or rather very
jovial or noisy company, were often mentioned. T questioned many of the
apolicants regarding hobbies or outside interests and the nmajority admitted
none, even those who had no financial excuse. Emotional instability was
noticed quite frequently. Two applicants while relating their experiences left
the room in tears but when no fuss was made over this they returned voluntarily
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within a few minutes and continued the discussion of their complaints without
further difficulty. In some others a similar type of emotionalism was thought to
be nct far from the surface. Other complaints were of dizziness, affected by
chang.s of posture, some minor phobias, such as fear of crowds and of heights;
jump'ness was a common symptom and occasionally sleep was disturbed because
of this tendency. Some of the applicants exhibited a certain degree of touchiness
and in two or three a resentful attitude was encountered, which attitude secemed
to be at vaviance with thie individual’s personality. Probably, therefore, it was
an expression of this irritability. A fairly frequent complaint was that of
insomnia, which, on inquiry, amounted merely to an abnormal wakefulness on
retiring. Rarely was sleep disturbed by dreams.

On account of the peculiar features of this symptom complex 1 was at first
inclined to place considerable stress on the frequent assoeiation of gastro-
intestinal complaints with the nervous symptoms, and therefore to regard the
latter as & form of rcurasthenia with visceral hyperscasitiveness, or on the
other hand as a sort of nutritional neurosis. The younger men exhibited this
syndrome more frequently than those of more mature years. My first conclusion
was that during imprisonment there was a gradual reduction of the store of
physieal energy, with sccondary demands on the store of nervous energy
occasioned by the necessity, under pressure of the strict discipline of internment
camps to put forth too great an cecupational effort considering the amount and
quality of the food available. It seemed natural that youthful individuals
having less physical stamina would be the first to succumb under such circum-
stances.

After learning more of the psychological peculiarities of the ex-prisoner of
war and after secing the same nervous syndrome in the Western cases w hich
presented no-such picture of nutritional defects, I began to appreciate and later
to emphasize the psychic element. The latter was brought very forcibly to my
attention by a remark of a formner prisoner of war who attended one session of
the Commission in another capacity than as a claimant. He more or less
accidentally made known the fact that he tiad been a prisoner in Germany during
the war.. Out of curiosity and because of his obvious excellent physical and
mental vigor, he was questioned regarding his experiences, which proved in
many ways to be identieal with or even more exacting than that of the average
claimant.  He was asked whv it was that he was not affected in the same way
as thrse wiiose complaints he had overheard. He replicd with a smile “{ got
even with them ” and explained in detail how this had comec about.

This. ex-prisoner’s deseription of the elaborate and persistently irritating
means adopted by the Germans to enforee discipline and to cow the spirit of
those who did not immediately conform to that discipline was exactly gimilar in
every detail to that submitted by many of the claimants; vet he had been enabled
to discharge his pent-up resentment by having an opportunity “to get even.”
This, in my opinion, is th¢ cssential point in the elimination of the neurosis
picture in his case.

There are numerous other factors to be considered in attempting to under-
stand the peculiar psychology of the ex-prisoner of war and in evaluating the
potential causes of the unique nervous manifestations exhibited in some of the
applicants; the chagrin and humiliation of being taken prisoner, the disillu-
sionment of existence as a prisoner, the absence of many offsetting factors which
made life bearable and even enjoyable on the Western Front. For instance,
pride in regimental achievements, comradeship in adventuie, regular corre-
spondence with relatives, leave, visits to estaminets, and perhaps more impor-
tant than all, an outlet in active interest in Battalion asxniations since dis-
charge from the army. I would not attempt o make comj-arison between ser-
vice on the Western Front and that as prizener »f war for similar periods.
The experiences were totally different, not ordy duiicg the war hut since. The



16 REPARATIONS, 1930-81

majority of ex-prisoners not having a similarity of interest in yeminiscences,
have lost contact with their former battalion comrades and have found it diffi-
enlt to attach themselves to organizations or associations. This seems to be
paralleled by similar contraction of interest in other social activities; as result
many of these men lead very quiet existences, very often with material benefit
to themselves. They are for the most part inclined to be serious minded and get
their enjoyment out of life in a much quieter way than other ex-servire men of
the same age and sociai status.

6. SKIN,

There were a few cases of recurring rash on the hands. In two of these
<imilar rash occurred elsewhere, on the sides of the tongue and on the back of
the neck. Two men who presented the rash on the hands before the Commis-
ston stated that it had begun a few weeks previously with small blisters, fairly
deep-scated but which slowly came to the surface and tended to coalesce in some
places.

On the hands the rash oecurred mostly on the backs of the fingers and ocea-
sionally between them. It was described as itching and burning. In my opinion
it resembled cheiropompholyz. A few cases of psoriasis were observed.

7. JOINTS,

It was not unusual to have complaints of arthritis submitted. T examined
the claimants and with the exception of one case of alleged traumatic synovitis,
no swelling or suspicion of former swelling was noticed; in fact the claimants
admitted that at no time were joints swollen, yet they Jistinctly referred their
pain to such locations. A few complained of neuritis and sciatica and attributed
this to exposure and dampness. 1 was under the impression, however, that the
probable factor may have been chronic foci of infection.

8. NEPHRITIS.

Two cases of nephritis were presented, both on pension, as the condition was
on record as having been contracted during service,

STERILITY

One comparatively frequent circumstance has been omitted from the group
of symptoms enumerated above. 1 do not know whether it has any significance
but at least it deserves mention. The majority of our applieants were married
<ince the war, shortly after discharge from the army and return to civil life.
Quite a large number of these have had no children, or at most onc or two. 1
questioned a great many of these outside of Commission hearing because of the
delicacy of the subject.

In only one was impotence admitted. Nearly all the others attributed the
apparent sterility to mere chance, but quite a few had accepted the view that
their wives were unable to have children for various reasons. I was inclined
to interpret this in another way, that some of these men possibly were sterile
themselves, but due allowance must be made in these days for the intentional
Jimitation of families because of economic necessity. :

Although 1 am convinced of the existence of a definite symptom complex
in many of the applicants, I do not think that it amounts to a very serious
disability, not over ten to fifteen per cent on the average, excepting those few
who have such highly disabling conditions, such as effects of wounds and pul-
monary tuberculosis. It is interesting to note that those who are in receipt of
pension and, therefore, specially provided for, present the above symptoms in
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very minor degree. This also applies to those who have generous incomes and
those whose occupations (farmers) are usually associated with good living con-
ditions—ogen air, sunlight and substantial food.

After making allowance for a certain degree of exaggeration of hardship,
abuse, etc., in individual cases and after consideration of the fact that much of
the evidence given in each case was published in the daily newspapers and was,
therefore, available to applicants and counsel, T am quite convinced that most
of the claimants who spent long periods as employed prisoners of war in Ger-
many, still exhibit some after-effects of this service, largely attributable to pro-
longed deprivation of certain foods, more particularly those foods on which
depends the preservation of good health in contradistinetion to those foods which
merely provide sustenance. The latter seem to have been available in sufficient
quantities, providing the men were not called upon to perform very laborious
tasks or to do over-time work, or to endure dietary punishment, of which many
complained.

I have the honour to be sir,

Your obedient servant,

(Sgd)) J. P. S. CATHCART, M.B,,
Chief Neuropsychiatrist.

414292
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SCHEDULE OF DECI3IONS

Case

No. Name of Claimant Decision
1362 {Louis Victor FLefebvre. .o ouuiu oo Disallowed
1845 Mohn W. R. Menear...... ... oo $600.00
1677 [Alexander B. Clarke............................ .. ... oo DisaHowed
1687 |William P. Badenoch.............. . ... .o i $1,000.00
1749 {George Royston... ... . .o i $1,500.00
17562 Al Todd. .. oo Disallowed
1758 WArthur M. Marland..... .. ... .. ... .. . 0 ot Disallowed
1766 {Hormee AcW. Collom.......oooovviuiinnn .} Disallowed
1802 [Christopher MacDonald. .. ... .. . ... ... .. .o Disallowed
1814 Mames A, Baird............ ... ... R Disallowed
1843 {Howard Marsden Brown........ ....... e $500.00
1844 [CGicorge Henry Peppor... ... ... oo oo $500.00
1845 Wm. H.Glenfield................. ... ... ... ... .. $500.00
1846 (Gordon Douglus Hunter............. ... ... ... .. . . ...l Disallowed
1847 {Robert Edmund Clubley B $800.00
1848 |Alexander MacAuley.... . ... ... ... ol £500.00
1840 Frank Lewis Austin........... o o $500.00
1853 {William Henry Fdwards. ... .. e R e Disallowed
1854 |William F. Lickers (now Walton Foster)........ .. ... .. . ..o £3.000.00
1856 1i.t.-Col. John B, L. Streight, MLCL L0 00 Disallowed
1866 fMnjor Clvde R.Scott...... . ... .. ... ... . $2,000.00
1867 Mohn Mcduley..... .. 0 Lol Disallowed
1868 iDonald Harry Laird........ ... .oooo oo oo Disallowed
1869 (leslic Perkins........... ... ... ... ... .. ... .. .. e Disallowed
1870 fArthur John Sloane.. ... ... .. . Disallowed
1874 {George Fruser MeAlister. .. ... ... o o 1,000.00
1872 {George Barlon............... . . £500.00
1873 [Frederick Webb Roadhouse........... ... .. . . oo, e e 700.00
1874 {Ernest William Horkins ......................................................... $1,000.00
1875 {Ernest Osborne Callighen,... ... ............ e $500.00
1876 |Mnjor Leonard Septimus Morrison............... e e e Disallowed
1877 tArthur William Cane... ... .. .. 0 o $500.00
1878 |Archibald Peter Campbell, ... ......0o. .. . £1,000.00
1879 fArchibald C. MeBride......... . ... . $700.00
1880 (Wrank Halew..... .. .0 . 0. . £500.00
1881 (Bertrwmn MeConnell ..., . .0 . . §600.C0
1882 Hilton Howard Howe................. ... A Disallowed
1883 Hohn MeGivern........... .. . ... .. Disallowed
1884 {Horace Pickering, ... ... .. ... . ... $500.00
1885 IWilliawn O. Vindede ..o 0 Disallowed
1886 ‘Thomas George Tuck.. ... o . .00
1887 Mohn Kennedy......... ... . oo ey Disatlowed
1888 |Eric R, Seamnn. ... ... $1,000.00
1889 {Charles Alexander Gordon, ... ... oo 0o o . $600.00
1890 Henry Ralph........ . . Disallowed
3801 \Harold Ashling......... ... 0 . $500.00
1392 [Daniel Douglas.. ............ .. . $800.00
1093 Williem Langford.. ... ... ... Disallowed
1804 Wames Black Farnell....... .. .. . . . . Disallowed
1805 ). G BRKer.. ... oo $500.00
1806 (ClitYord Ross Wilkings............ ... ... . . AP $1,000.00
1807 MArehibald Taylor.... ... ... ... ... . . Disallowed
1898 {William Walker.. . $700.00
1889 Mames Sullivan.......... ... . o Disallowed
1900 John Alfred MceCatlum.....................0 e . $600.00
19001 Herbert Frnks. ... 0. U Disallowed
1602 [Ramuel Porter.........oo. i Disallowed

1810 Frederick Bone. ... .. . e e Disallowed
1911 Wames Jackson Connolly............. ... .. .. . $700.00
1912 (George Henry Johnson. ... ... .........c.. .0 iooi. 0. e e Disallowed
1913 l(ulpﬁ n. \\'n{lnce ................................ e e Disallowed
T915  [GIeOrge BUeVens. ..o i . .00
1016 Charles Sinelair PArsons.............o .o Disallowed
1017 AWikidam Feaser. ... .o $600.00
1018 Cieorge Williaon Frost. .o o $1,600.00
1919 John Thompson Hoewitt ..o o0 Disatlowed
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SCHEDULE OF DECISIONS—Continued.
Case .
No. Name of Claimant Decision
1920 (Major Thomas Venables Scudnmore............... . oivineei i, . | Disallowed
1921 |Leonard JAINES StANWAY ... ...oveeerin i iiieir e, Disallowed
1022 Hoseph 8. McCulloch. ..o e $600.00
1923 |Arthur Gibbons. . .......................... ... Disallawed
1924 |Edward Henry Hyde..oooooooon o . $700.00
1025 |Gamet F. Gregory .o vuuee e on oo o e Diallowed
1026 Pames Hazlett................... e e Disallowed
1027 IDavid Patrick Quinn.......ooooi i .00
1028 1Cyrus Roy Hall oo o .| Disallowed
1020 (Colin Victor Earle..........ooo i P . , 500 00
1933 [Johm Alexander Page. oo Disallowed
1034 fFrameis MOrin. .. o $500.00
1835 IMerton Egbert Ellsworth Kittredge......... FR e Disallowed
1936 {J. GUf{ LT T Disaliswed
1938 1Carl Frederick Hamlin................. ... ... e e i Disatiowed
1046 [C.F. Davison................................. e e Disallowed
1047 jLorne Albert Higgs.............cooioi it e Disallowed
$H8  [Charles Scarfe. . ... e Disatlowed
1040 Hohn Curtis. ..o e e e ,000.
1052 Hohn Bratten Peters. ..o oot Disatlowed
1053 JLeonard L. Ling ..o oo .00
1054 {Robort Elmer Stownrt........... oo i e Disallowed
1955 fPercy R Whito. ... oo Disallowed
1950 [Frank 3. Munro. oo Disallowed
1957 (William May. ..o .00
1958 Pohn L. Davis.......o.oo oo e Disallowed
1059 [JamesWalls.................... . .. ... e Disallowed
1901 Yumes Cubert D'Aoust.......... ... .. .. ... . e Disallowed
1963 (Samuel Rameden. ... ..o $1,000.00
1964 |Arthur Stanley Herber........... e Disaltowed
1966 tohn David Livingstone. . ........... .. ... ........ ... .. P Dizallowed
1007 [George Alexander MeGee. ... .. . .. Disallowed
1970 Bames Morton Valentine. ........... . . ... .. . $1,000.00
1971 [Harry Thomas Tandy........... ... . . . $500.00
1972 Pohn G, Hadden......... .. ... . . £600.00
1974 |ThomasBow................. ... e Disallowed
1075 {George Scott Gibson........ ... .. Disaflowed
1976 MarvJoseph Bteeves........... .. S Disallowed
1977 1George D, Scobt......... oo $700.00
1983 Peter Herman Robinson. . ... . . e P $300.00
1084 {William H. Ashford. ... o .
1986 [Mfred Kendall ............... . . ... . .. ... ... ... e Disallewed
1087 JHerbert Spenceloy............. .00
1989 [William Dowland........ ... . 0 00 Disallowed
1092 {Robert Janies Randolph Russell. ... ... i, Disallowed
194 JArthur B, Wyllie......... o . $500.00
1995 |[Frank G. Pinder................. ... ... ... ... ... N Disallowed
1997 James Jose{)h Martin.. oo Disallowed
1988 1D'Arcy Albert Yatimer........... $500.00
1999 |William B. Mc('unig. S Disallowed
2000 T. B, Hartling (dec'd)..... . /1 /11 e Disallowed
2001 |Roduey George Kightley.......... ... .. .. . . . . s Disallowed
2002 Robert John Parkinson.. . ... Disallowed
2003 I8tephen O'Brien............... . $600.00
2004 (Stephen Leblanc............... .. ... e e Disallowed
2005 Bemard J, Brown. ..o . $500.00
2007 |William Alban Richanle........ ... ... .. ... . . . i Dizallowed
2008 jWilliam Ernest Colborne................. ... ... Disallowed
2000 [Charles A, SUMMENd........... .. .. ., Disallowed
2010 1Ferey GIndatone Htott... ... e $600.00
2011 (Fred James Shearman.... ..o e . $500.00
2012 'Dr, Walter Reuben Wigmore Haight........0..................................... Disallowed
2013 |Harry Joseph Deslaurier.........ooo o oo Disallowed
2015 (Frederick Victor Britt..... .. ... ... ... . . ... ... Disallowed
2016 [Robert William Bradloy...... ... .. ... . . Disallowed
2017 [Charles G. Partridge.......................... ... ... . ... $1,200.00
2018 [Charles Murdock. .. ... ... .. .. .. Disallowed
2020 {Albert Vietor Edward Allen. ... ... ... ... .. .. . . i, -..| Disallowed
2021 {Aillred William Beckett................... . ... ... ... ... B Disallowed
2022 (Sidney Wilfred Barrott......ooooono oo . $500.
2024 Pames Beatbie.........o.ooivii i Disallowed
20256 |Willlam Bertram...... ... . . Disallowed
28 (Richard Barclay ............. ... Disallowed

41439-~2}
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REPAIMTIONS, 1930-31
SCHEDULE OF DECISIONS—Continued.

Case
No. Name of Claimant Decision
2027 |Frederick W Bareett................................... . . . $1,200.00
2028 Nohn Ball Bailoy. ... 000000 $800.0¢
2029 |Frederick James Bridgman, 00010 T Disallowed
2030 [Alfred George Blske....... e £500.00
2081 JRobert Burley................ 00 L e Disallowed
2002 (Ernest Coming............. ... .. [ 1[I £500.00
2033 |Richard Eugene Codresco...... . L[ | 11111111 Disallowed
2085 {Albert Edward Cross........[[ 1T e e £500.00
2036  |Angus Campbelt.... .. .. e Disallowed
2037 |Vietor William Coucheo e o veiooooo o Disallawed
2038 Georfe Chappol.......... . ... o e $500.00
2039 Wosoph George Edward Crane... | 1111117 $500.00
2040 |Inos Cooper............ .. e e e £500.00
2041 Philip Sydnoy Conibear......... =~ T T $700.00
2042 Wohn Cody. ... 0T e e $500.00
2043 |Archibald Cooko. . .. .. D Disallowed
2045 George Sparks Day........ ... I £00.00
2047 |Albin Perey Dunbar, D.G/M.. L1000 1T Disallowed
2048 obert Davideon....... 711 I Disaltowed
2040 [Edward Kdwands....... . (00 e Disallowed
2050 [James Alexander Everott.. | .. 01T B Disalloveed
2051 JAlfred Flliott.............. .. 01 e fe e $500 W
2053 Wohn James Fellowes....... ... 0 0 [ 1T Disallowed
2054 {William John Grant........ 000000 1T Disallowed
2085 |Robert Henry Green........ .00 [ [/ /1 Disallowed
2056 |George Bell Gallagher, ./ .0 [ /1111 -Disallowed
2057 |Georgo Osborne Rich Greenhow. . | [/ [/ /11T Disallowed
2059\ Frederick Thomas House....... . .. .. /1| /11 . $500.00
2060 ohn Alfred Holdsworth... [ /|| [1 /111 Disallowesl
2061 \Perey T. Harrell....... 00 000000 (11 T Disallowed
2062 |Bernard William Hannan. B . $800.00
2083 |Herbert Seymour Hunt e Disallowed
2064 | Edward Patrick McQuade.. || [[7 /[ [ Disailowed
2006 [ Victor Albert Jefferies. ... | . ||| [l $600.00
2067 \Thomas dackson. ... [0 [0 1111 . $760.00
2088 1Robert Johnston, ..., .. 01 Tl Disallowed
2069 1Georgo Chris’opher Jeonings.... ... . ... Ll Disallowed
2070 losiah Alfrod Johnson. .. Disallowed
207t {Robert Josep™ King.. . . $500.00
2072 John Wyman Konsett Disallowed
2073 |Fred David Lorscl. . Disallowed
2074 |Alfred Lacey. .. .... Disallowed
2075 (Philip L'Abbe....... .00 0 011 Disallowed
2076 |Harry Clayton MacDonnell....... . ... .. ... . ... . e . .00
2077 |Frederick Jumes McMullen..... 1]/ 1T Disallowed
2078 Names Cleary MacNeill.... [/ /[T Disallowed
2080 Wames Milne........... 00001 . $600.00
2 |Robert Gordon McKay...... | [\ 11 1 Disallowed
2083 |Thomas James Noen..... [ T e
2085 Petor Comiston Nicolson........ [ [ [[1 |11 . $600.00
2086 Frank O'Donohwe. ......... . [/ e Disallowed
2087 George Homer Patterson.. . .| |/ |11 /i Disallowed
2088 IStanley Edward Parker.,.. .. [ T e e . $600.00
2089 |Emest Albert Pay....... [ [ (1111111 Disallowed
2080 William Parker,......... | [T $600.00
2091 JAlfred Walter Peagram ... 0. 0110 $1,000.00
2092 |Gordon James Price..... || [ |11l Dirallowed
2093 |Edward Rodgers,.... .. . [/ /[ Disallowed
2094 |William Russ....... e e e e Disallowed
2096 [Oliver Joseph Sherbourne...... . . ... . ol Ll £500.
2097 Mames William Sinclair,.,.... | (111 $800.00
2098 |Thomas William Spalding............ oo $600.00
2089 1Donald Sutherland........ . 1T . $500.00
2100 HJoseph Smith........ P Disallowed
2101 |Thomas Henry Shechan... . | | [ [ [ /i i mimirmrerrers e Disallowed
2102 {Roy Stamps............. .. 0. 1l Disallowed
2103 fAlred Gordon Saunders. .. | . 11111 Disallowed
2104 Harry Lewis Scott Stone,... ... . [ 1 1 1t .00
2105 |Melville Truoman........... . [ [ 1 Disallowed
2106 [Frank Willinwm Tilley...... . . 0 0 [/ . $700.00
2107 |Robert Francis Tunstead........... ... .. Disallowed
2108 Hohn Frederick Wilkins,. . . =~~~ i e . :00
2100 |Frnest Woymouth....... . e Disallowed
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SCHEDULE OF DECISIONS—Continued.
Care .
No. Name of Claimant Decision
2110 William Stephen Whyte.......o.ooo oo Dianllowed
2112 1Perey Francis Whale.......................... ... .o £500.00
213 [Thomas Warner. . ..............ocooioovann oo oo Disallowed
2114 [Frederick Theodore Wehster........... ..., .. .. Disallowed
2115 {Chatles Jackson Wolstenholm......... ... ... .. . 0 i Disallowed
216 Marry Windsor. ... . $500.00
217 samuel Wallwork.......ooooooo Disallowed
218 Pames Wilton................ ... Ll e Disallowed
2119 {Frank Woodcock (dee’d).................... . oo e R DNisallowed
2120 1Georgo West, ........iuveue i . $500.00
2121 fAlexander William Yetman. ... . ... e Disallowed
2122 |David John Evans........................... ..o Dirallowed
2123 \Robert Heary Rock.......................... ...l Dizallowed
2124 Henrf' Bertram Arnold.............. ... . .l Disallowed
2125 (Charles Edwin C. Longstaff................... ... .o £500.00
2126 Wiltred Hand,.................. . L Disallowed
2127 fThomns Langston........................o.oo LT 500 .00
2128 Hames McCabe.................. . .0 [l I Disallowed
2130 Alexander William MacLeod............... ... . .. L T $500.00
2131 {William Sullivan.............0... 00 LI Disallowed
2132 1Gay 8. Johnson. ... o Disallowed
2133 Minard Gerald Hill......... ... .. ... 000 [l ,200.
2134 Pevcy Winfield Ogilvy............... .. ... .0l ,200.00
2135 {James } OOML .. e e e Disallowed
2136 4A. G, Woodason. ... ... . ...l LT Disallowed
2137 1Durban Kirby Waite................ 00 00 1l .00
2138 [Harry Btewart Lowis......................... ... .00 U Disallowed
2139 Georgel’ound . $500.00
2140 |Samuel Charles McConaghy, MM ... .. e e Disallowed
23M2 John Gourlay....... ... 0.0 ... L0l Dicallowed
2144 |Henry William Page................ i, T Disallowed
2M48 Uohn Thomas Fellows............. ... ... 0 e Disallowed
2147 1 Rolfo Borrow Welch.............00.. il 1l Dizallowed
2M8 (George Heary Wallaco........... .00 ... . . [ [ 1l Disallowed
2149 [James Thomas Cox.................coo. . o L $300.00
2180 [Alired Thompson, ....................... . .0 Il Disallowed
2160 |Albert Thomas Mills............ .. D Disallowed
20161 Willred MOFTiSON. . .0uvvv o il Disallowed
2162 {George DIper......cvveensnene B $700.00
2163 IRobert Brown..................o. . oL Dirallowed
2164 [Harvey Wallaco.............oovonuoooan oo I Disallowed
2165 Peter Nelson........................ ... . . 0 0 e i e Disallowed
2186 fArthur Donovan Corker............................. 0Ll $1,000 00
2167 John Lomar...... Disallowed
2168 |Mrs. F. Croucher. Disallowed
2169 |Dominic Dolga. Disatlowed
2170 {Lyal Rea .. Disallowed
2171 |Cannan Livie Jac Disallowed
2173 Hohn McKinney... $:00.00
2176 |Georgoe Harvey... Dizsallowed
2177 {Captain Heskett St. John Biggs Disallowed
2178  |George Aithic. . Disallowed
2179 WRobert Simoms................00 0oLl $500.00
2181 1Robert Hammon (dec’d)............ ..o ... 0 0l Disallowed
2182 {Harry Mellowdew Mitton.................. .. 0 [ 1l $800.00
2154 1Cecil Hurst Bullock. ..............000 000000 0T Disallowed
2185 (Harry H. Howland......... 0000000000 00 0 . $500.00
2186 [Dudley Charles Durrant.................... . ... 00001 e $500.00
2187 |Campbell John Bell........... ... ... 0.0 0 [ $700.00
2188 Ct:}:-tain Victor Alexander MucLean................... .. ...l $1,000.00
2182 (William J. H. Woodward.............. ... 00 e Disallowed
2180 [Archibald J. V. Wallace............. ... 00 . . L £500.
2101 Walter Sugden..............0... 000 00 L LTI §600.00
2192 (Charles Ernest Davies.......,,.......................... ... e $500.00
2193 Walker Kilby.............. 0000 0000 0 0 Disallowed
2104 drew Ross Paton....ou.oueiiiv e .00
2185 (F.W. Breodon..................... ... ..l Disallowed
2196 Noseph Fortunat Villeneuve........................ ... ... 0000 e Dimllowed
2197 ARhUr DUROCROr. . ... s . .00
2198 |Charles Weston Sutherland. _.......... ... .. . . Disllowed
2199 Perey Albert Goseltine.......... ... .. 0 00 1l Disallowed
2200 Thomas E, Hogarth..........................o.. .. 0 ' Disallowed
2201 ICollingwood Sehreiber....,......... 0. .0 0 ! $500.00
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SCHEDULE OF DECISIONS—Concluded.

Caso
No. Name of Cleimant Decision
2202 {John Momtague CAIMBOW . .....ouut ottt e e e $500. 00
2203 {Alexander l\%‘May ...................................................... e £500.00
2204 Wames Hurst. ... . £500.00
2205 jAlbert Frederick Iendon. .......... ... .. .. o £500 .00
2200 Pohn O'Brien..... ..o oo Disallowed
2207 [Gilbort George SaWYer...... oo o i Disallowed
2209 Herbert Bradshaw......... ... Disallowed
2210 JAltred Allan Kingscott......... . . ... . Disallowed
2211 [Herbert Lillie. .. ... . N Disallowod
2212 |Carl John McCarthy....... e e Disallowed
2213 |Thomas Francis Meyers....................... . e Disallowed
2214 John Albert MeIndoo..................oo i e .00
2215 (Stewart Nethercott. ... . L Disallowed
2216 |RobertJohn O'Neill. .. .. . . .. Disallowed
2217 {Churles Tuylor........... . e e Disallowed
2218 |Peter Simpson Thornton........... .. ....... . .. .. ... e e 00
2219 Moseph McLean............ ... ... . ... " $3%0.00
2220 [Sidney Meakin. ..o oo Digallowed
2222 JEAwWard Gyde. ..o Disallowed
2223 |Harold Lawson Tyack. ... vttt i, Disallowed
22U William John Long. ..o oo $500.00
2225 [James Gibson. . ... i i e Disallowed
2228 |Thomas W. Willis.......... ... ... o e Disallowed
2227 (Wallace Robert Downing.. ... .. ... .. Disallowed
2228 lohn Gordon Leonard.........u vouueivi it e Disallowed
2234 {Vornon Albert Henry. ... Disallowed
2238 [Walter HAYB....oovvn i o Disallowed
2230 JArthur CoCleverley.. ... .. . . o oi i .00
2240 {William MeClary Reilly.. ... oo e e Disallowed
2241 JWilliam Georgo SInger.. oo L e Disallowed
2242 (Haeelton Clitinrd Moorc..... .. oo e, .00
2243 Harold E. M. Benneit. ... o i i i e e Disallowed
2246 JThomas Brama DM¥plock. ... . ..o e Disa.owed
2247 |Fred GordonCoburn........ ... ................. e, Disallowed
2248 Noln Edwin Aldous... ... i e $700.00
2250 [Licut. Robert C. Pitman. ..ot o i e Digallowed
2251 [John Charles Hines. ... i i e e Disallowed
2252 (William Murray Miller. .. ... ... Disallowed
2253 |Lieut. Arthur Clarence Loe.......oo oo T Disallowed
2255 (Percy Sedore............coiiii.. e e e $1,000.00
2256 INBthan RI00. . ... oiuitti i Disatlowed
2257 [Captain Darold Watson Davis. ... it e, Disallowed
2258 |Edmund John Hicka,.....o.oo i e $500.00
2259 Charlea Sheridan Cooke...... .. ... i e Disallowed
2260 (Thomas Smith. ... ... o i i e 1,000.00
2261 JJohn Harper. oo it e e e e Disallowed
2262 Haveloek Harford................. e e et e e, Disllowed
22063 |Thomas Henderson Mitchell......... .. . i i i e, Disallowed
2265 JAlexander Berry. ...t e $500.00
2260 [Robert Gray.. .ot e e e Disallowed
2267 JThomas AtKInSOn. couuuuiee it ettt it r e e e $700.00 -
2286 {Gordon Pirrie Fiddes, .........co. oot e Dieallowed
2203 [Samuel William Rbodes. ... o i i e Disallowed
2310 W AllEr Seo . it e e e e, Disallowed
2320 |Anthony B, PIummmer. oo ie i e e Disallowed
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CASE 1362—]

The claimant was a Private
24849. He cnlisted September 2
prisoner April 24, 1915, during ti
wound in the left leg and somc
January 6, 1919. He is not in
enlistment, he was working in his
sinee his discharge has been em
paper concerns at $80 per mond
sear.

He alleges that while a pris
which has resulted in pceuniar
trouble and indigesticn (gastric
while held prisoner of war.

This ease, as its docket nun
C'ominissioner. It was not dealt
to substantiate his claim.  He
Montreal.

An analysis of the evidence

After eapture, claimant was
attention for his wounds. He
thence to Uchtermon in Hanover
underfed, and that his health he
not complain of any particular ¢
his testimony with the stateme
results from his weakened state

The medieal evidence is ve
Dr. J. A. Corcoran (since deceast
claimant’s ailinents, Dr. Corcor
“ privation and starvation while
sheets bear the following notatic
period of internment in Germai
somewhat torpid but on return

In this state of the record 1
has suffered a disability due to
troubles are nutritional in origh
conditions prevailing in German
sideration by the Board of Pens
is concerned, the claim must be

Orrawa, December 7, 1931.

CASE 1645

The claimant was a Privat
He enlisted in August 1914 at ti
24, 1915, during the gas attack .
He was reieased December 26,
1919. He is in receipt of 30 pe
cczema, amounting to $22.50 )
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L.OUIS VICTOR LEFEBVRE

te in the 13th Battalion—Regimental number
23, 1914, at the age of 26 years. He wus taken
he sccond battle of Ypres, suffering from gunshot
ewhat gassed, He was repatriated to England
receipt of pension. He is unmarried. Prior to
s father’s oftice at a salary of $60 per month, and
wployed as a bush clerk with different pulp and
ith and board, working about cight months per

isoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
ry damage to him. IHe complains of nervous
 uleer) due to hard labour and insufficient food

mber will indieate, was filed before the previous
with for the reason that claimant did not appear
¢ appearcd hefore the present Commission at

e reveals:—
tnken to Roulers where he received some medical
was removed to Paderborn in Westphalia and
r. His complaint is that he was overworked and
s been permanently affected thereby. He does
acts of brutality whilst a prisoner and concludes
ent that hig present inability to earn a living
of health due to lack of proper food.
ery scant,. consisting merely of the certificate of
ed) dated December 22, 1921, Without detailing
ren attributes his condition as largely due to
¢ a prisoner in Germany "', The medieal history
ion ‘“ man still feels some weakness following his
inyv. He is still slightly depressed; digestion is
1 to more congenial conditions he shall be A1
~am unable to reach the conclusion that claimant
y maltreatment at the hands of the cnemy. His
in and must in my view be aseribed to gencral
ny. The ecase may, or may not, be onc for con-
sion Commissioners. As far as thi- Commission
e disallowed for lack of proof.

ERROI. M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner,

5—-JOHN W. R. MENEAR

te in the 7th Battalion,—Regimental No. 16925.
he age of 40 ycars. He was taken prisoner April
at St. Julien, unwounded but sufferine ‘rom gas.
, 1918, and repatriated to England, January 2,
er cent disability pension, based on neuritis and
per month. He is married and has a family.
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Prior to enlistment, from the year 1906 to 1914, he was employed as a fireman.on
various steamships sailing from Vancouver, at a wage of 55 per month and
board, and since his discharge he has been unable to do any steady work, due to
his disabilities, and his earnings have only averaged $12 per month.

He alleges that while held prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreat-
ment which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of the nature
of the work he was ealled upon to do, complains of heatings with rifle butts and
whips, exposure, starvation and general abuse,

An analysis of the evidenee reveals:—

Claimant is a veteran of the South African War. Taken to Giessen camp, he
remained there two vears. He was compelled during this entire period to do
work of a most revolting character, in charge of the latrines, without relief or
interruption. He was hit with rifle butts on teveral accasions for refusing to do
this work, but was compelled to resume it.  He does not appear to have sustained
any injury from these blows, hut complains that his eyesight has heen indirectly
affected.  He does ecomplain that the work he was compelled to do brought on
cczema, from which he still suffers.  Apart froi a blow from a whip across the
shoulders at a later camp, elaimant has no other particular complaint of mal-
treatment.

The medieal record indieates that elaimant suffers from cezema, neuritis
and dermatitis, with some impairment to his gight and hearing, His percentage
of disability is stated at 90%. Dr. D. W. Gray, Pension Medieal Examiner,
Vancouver, in a ictter, attributes elaimant’s eczema and neuritis to the conditions
under which he lived and the trestment he received while held a prisoner. It
Is quite evident that claimant is now unable to work.

I do nct know that it is possible directly to attribute eluimant's present, con-
dition to his treatment whilst a prisoner. 1 do consider, however, that the delib-
erate and foreible employment. of claimant, without relief, upon so filthy and
degrading Iabour may be classed as maltreatment, and that a part, at least, of
his present disability may be traced to this origin. 1 would accordingly, recom-
mend payment to elaimant of $600.00 with interest thereon, at the rate of 5 per
cent per annum, from January 10, 1920, to date of payment,

FRROL M. Mc¢DOUGALL,

Commissioner.
Orrawa, December 2, 1931.

CASE 1677—ALEXANDER B. CLARKFE,

The claimant was a Private in the 10th Battalion,—Regimental No. 20452.
He enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 22 vears, He was taken prisener April
24, 1915, during “he second battle of Ypres, suffering from multiple gunshot
wounds in the shoulder and both legs, He was repatriated to England August 8,
1016. He js in receipt of a 60 per cent disability pension, amounting to about
892 a month for himself and family, based on the amputation of his right leg and
arthritis. He is married and has four children. Prior to enlistment, he was
employed as a clerk with the Dominion Government, and after his discharge he
continued in the employ of the Government, until he was let out due to the
break up in the Department of the Interior. .

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in peeuniary damage to him. He complains that while being detained
as a prisoner in Germany for nine months, his wounded leg did not receive
adequate treatment, with the result that blood poisoning set in and the leg was

amputated without his consent in May, 1916. It was re-amputated on August 1,
'1916.
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An analysis of the evidence

Claimant confines his comp
medical attention in German hos
that his leg was amputated; and
consent. He complains of no pa
he received proper medical attent
that at Sennc-lager, in hospital,
wound to drain it, the surgenn rei
knowledge, 1t is only necessary
riation, to show that his treatme
ment”. He says “I had in all i
aged, I thought there was little
thought otherwise) and always
blood poisoning at Senne-lager,
to amputate the leg. I had never
as regards the treatment of the
one could see, being treated the s

It is unnecessary to proceed
maltreatment whilst a prisoner
claim must, accordingly, be disa

Or1Tawa, December 9, 1931,

CASE 1697—

The claimant was a Privat«
He enlisted in October, 1914, at
June 6, 1916, at Hooge. In his
was wounded, though the military
ated in England December 26, 1¢
return to Canada he has been
brother-in-law. Such employme:
mittent, due to his health, and .
Prior to enlistment he was empl
vulcanizing after the war, for wh
He does not state his income pri

He alleges that while a pris
which has resulted in pecuniary
brief prepared by his solicitors i
repeatedly, stabbed through the
solitary confinement and starved.
sister and brother-in-law. His |
disability but indicate scars on t

The record in this case is ps
light are of a most distressing cha
when captured, and after some h
he remained for the duration of |
in claim as filed, has been substs
as stated by counsel for elaims
stabbed with a bavonet. On tt
sent to work on a farm, Followi
ently home on leave, he was str
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> revenls:i—

plaint to two grounds; first, that lack of proper
spitals caused infection to set in, with the result
1 sccond, that the leg was amputated without his
wrticular acts of brutality, but contends that had
ition he would not have lost his leg. He. declares
, blood poisoning set in, and that in opening the
moved the leg below the knee without elaimant’s
' to quote from claimant’s statement upon repat-
ent in hoshital eannot be rezarded as “maltreat-
ive operations (as the ankle was so badly dam-
> chanee of saving it, but evidently the doctors
: under, anaesthetic.  However, as 1 contracted
where T was sent later, it was found necessary
1, in the eircumstances, any reason for complaint
e doctors and nurses, all nationalities, so far as
same.”’ :

| further with the case. Claimant has not shown
in Germany—quite the reverse in fact. His

allowed. :
LRROL M. McDOUGALIL,
Commussioner.

-WILLIAM F. RADENOCH

e in the 28th Battalion, Regimental No. 73761.
t the age of 25 years. He was taken prisoner
s Declaration he states that when captured he
v records state that he was not. He was repatri-
918. He is not in receipt of pension. Since his
1 more or less dependent upon his sister and
ent as he has been able to obtain has been inter-
only averages from 3 to 4 months per annum.
loyed as a harness maker and took a course in
hich his father paid, but was unable to carry on.
1or to enlistment.

isoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
y damage to him. His statement of claim and
i« very complete and shows that he was beaten
e arm with a bayonet, courtmartialled, served
I Affidavits as to his condition are made by his
medical history files, upon discharge, shows no
the head and limbs.

articularly voluminous and the facts brought to
aracter. Claimant declares that ke was woinded
10spitalization was-taken to Stendal camp, where
his captivity. The statement of fact, contained
antially proven. Briefly, the abuse in this case,
ant, consists in being beaten with a rifle and
he first occasion, in April, 1917, claimant was
ing an altercation with a German officer, appar-
ruck and knocked down, clubbed over the head




26 REPARATIONS, 1930-81

and back with rifles, He was admitted to hospital, where he remained for
several months.  For an attempted eseape, he received 14 days’ solitary con-
finement. In the fall of 1917, claimant was sent to a sugar [ictory at Walmir-
stedt, to work. He was apparently suspect by the guards because of the incident
with the German officer. There is some confusion as to precisely what oceurred
at the sugar factory. At all events it is clear that claimant, in defending himself
from an assault from a German sentry, closed with his assailant, who thereupon

drew his bayonet and ran claimant through the arm. The main facts of this -

incident are borne out by copy and translation of German court martial which
indicates insubordination on the part 6f the claimant and reasonable chastise-
ment by the German guard. It is bevond question that the means adopted by
the German guard to chastise claimant and quell the so-called mutiny, went
beyond all reasonable bounds. 1t was certainly unnecessary to wound claimant;
he should and could have been arrested, if the facts are as stated in the record
of the court martial. As a result of this experience, claimant was left in n
deplorable condition. There is an abundance of evidence to this cfieet furnished
by the atlidavits of fellow prisoners, and even by a French prisoner who was
present at the time, and underwent, with claimant, trial by the German Court
Martial, above referred to. Claimant, with this French prisoner, was condemned
to 60 days’ solitary confinement, which he served, under conditions which have
been declared by witnesses to be beyond deseription.  Claimant from this time
forward was quite unable to work. He spent some weeks in hospital, and, when
discharged, was in such a weakened condition that he could not attend to himself,
but was looked after by his comrades as best they could. It is unnecessary to
detail the various statements of witnesses who have spoken of the treatment
accorded to claimant. It will be sufficient to say that, whatever may have been
his at‘itude to his captors, he received punishment far in excess of his deserts,

The medical record indicates that claimant suffers from general nervous
debility, headaches, insomnia, pain and numbness in left forearm; that he tires
casily, and exhibits loss of mental acuity. His percentage of disability is stated
{in certificate) at from 20 per cent to 30 per cent, but the detailed statements
of the physicians who have filed statements would indicate it to be much higher.
Dr. Pelle has furnished a verv detailed summary of plaintiff’s condition and
placed the disability at from 80 per cent o 90 per cent, tlic ‘main trouble being
traumatic neurasthenia. Claimant’s condition is becoming worse and there scems
little hope of any improvement. He is dependent upon his relatives and has been
unable to work or to hold any employment due to his nervous condition. These
facts are clearly borne out by affidavits filed of record by employers and other
persons familiar with the efforts made by claimant to support himself.

The record clearly establishes, in my opinion, that as a result of the
treatment received by claimant his health has been seriously and permanently
impaired. I have no hesitation whatever in finding that claimant was subjected
to maltreatment at the hands of the enemy and is entitled to an award for the
resultant disability. With the evidence made before this Commission it would
seem to me that claimant should also submit his case to the Board of Pension
Commissioners. The question of assessing the damage to claimant is difficult,
but after very careful consideration, I consider, and it is my recommendation,
that claimant receive a sum of $1,500 with interest thereon, at the rate of 5 per
cent per annum, from January 10, 1920, to date of payment.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.

Orrawa, November 30, 1931,
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CASE 174

The claimant was a Corpo
fantry, Regimental No. 51406.
39 vears. He was taken prison
shot wounds in the head, righ
Switzerland in June, 1918, and
in reecipt of an 80 per cent di
month, based on the loss ot his |
shot wound in the right arm.
and since his discharge has bee
pension. '

He alleges that while a pr
which has resulted in pecuniary
while wounded, in the German

An analysis of the evidence

Claimant’s mental conditio
before the Commission. He wa
Officer of the Department of
presented a written statement
state from his knowledge of ¢
what the declarant would state
claim is based upon cruel and I
fear induced by threats of wh
marked mental instability and «
who attended him was fair, cla
him by his threats and brutalit
ment camp, Grossenweidermoo
marches imposed upon prisoner:
physical weakness. _

The medical record indies
His percentage of disability is
the condition of mental instab
reason to believe the story of
claimant’s mental condition cou
In addition to this evidence, vl
I quote from report of Dr. D. .

In my opinion patient is sufferi
maintained by his unstable emotior
into which there is injected certain
near upon three years, and there w
seem to have produced in him some

In these circumstances I cc
treatment while a prisoner of w
of a pension for his condition,
maltreatment to which he was
his prcfession of metallurgist.
payment to claimant of $1,500.
per annum, from January 10,

‘Orrawa, December 1, 1931.
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19 —GEORGE ROYSTON

oral in the Princess Patricia Canadian Light In-
He enlisted November 17, 1914, at the age of
ner May 8, 1915, ncar Ypres, suffering from gun-
ht shoulder and right arm. He was released to
1 repatriated to England March 25, 1918. He is
isability pension, amounting to about 875.00 per
left eye and disfigurement, neurasthenia, and gun-
Prior to enlistment claimant was a metallurgist,
en under medical care and subsists entirely on his

rizoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
v damage to him. He complains of his treatment,
“dressing stations and hospitals.
¢ reveals:—
on is such that he was unable to appear in person
as represented by Dr. A. P. Proctor, Chief Medical
Pensions and National Health, Vancouver, who
prepared by claimant. Dr. Proctor was able to
claimant, that such statement was substantially
e, under oath, were he competent to testify. The
harsh treatment in German hospitals, with intense
1at would be done to him, which has resulted in
confusion. While deelaring that the chief surgeon
aimant complains of his assistant who so terrified
ty, that he was in fear of his life. At the punish-
or, elaimant being unable to do the punishment
rs was compelled to stand, which brought on great

ates that claimant suffers from mental changes,
5 stated at 100 per cent. Dr. Proctor emphasizes
ility of claimant and declares that he has every
cruelty told by claimant. It is his opinion that
uld well have resulted from the treatment received.
laimant’s medical history files are quite complete.
A. Clark as follows:—

ing from a marked degree of Neurasthenia which is being
ns and his mental-precoccupation regarding his disabilities
a1 sexual complexes. He was a prisoner in Germany for

were certain developments in connection with that which
e disorder of his personality.

onsider that claimant has made out a case of mal-

rar with consequent disability. Although in receipt

. I do not regard claimant as compensa’xd for the

s subjected. He is quite incapable of carrying on
Viewing the case as a whole, I would recommend

.00, with interest thereon, at the rate of 5 per cent
1920, to date of payment.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commisstoner




28 REPARATIONS, 1330-31 —

CASE 1752—ALFRED TODD

The clnimant was a Private in the 7th Battalion,—Regimental No. 16369, He
enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 20 years. He was taken prisoner April
24, 1215, at Ypres, unwounded, but shightly gassed. He was repatriated to
England on November 29, 1918, He is not in receipt of pension, and, up to
the date of the hearing of his claim, had not made application therefor. He was
unmarried at the time of enlistment. Prior to enlistment, he was employed as an
electro-plater, and is now employed as an upholsterer. There is no evidence as to
his carnings in either occupation.

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him.  He alleges that he was struek in
the stomach with a rifle butt, causing permanent injury, that he was threatened
with shooting, was court-martinlied without reason and given two years imprison-
ment. He Lo elaims the svm of $500.00 for Joss of parcels of food, clothing, and
tobacco, which he alleges were withheld from him by the enemy,

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant. wus taken to Giessen camp and then sent to the Geisweid Iron
Works, where, for refusing to work upon munitions, he was beaten and in parti-
cular hit in the stomach with the butt of a rifle, as a result of which blow he
complains of injury. He was placed in solitary confinement, released, taken back
to Giessen and threatened with a firing squad for refusing to work. Confined for
28 days, claimant with 5 others, was eventually corrt-martialled and sentenced to
two years imprisonment, apparently for mutiny. He served 21 months of this
term at Butshach and the remainder at Cologne.  Part of this term was spent in
prison, with occasional periods in cells and part in barracks at Cologne,

There is no medical certifieate of record, nor did claimant bring forward
any medical evidence at the hearing. He complains that he suffers from head-
aches, nervousness, and a luifip at the point in his stomach where he was hit,
He considers this is a rupture. The medieal report issued upon discharge refers
only to “some fullness in the thyroid region but no symptoms of or obzerved.”

My attention has been directed to the case of Frederick Whittaker (No.
1363), who was a fellow prisoner with claimant, and who received an award from
the previous Commissioner of $2,500. This serves as corroboration of elaimant's
evidence, but does not establish any present disability in claimant “esulting from
maltreatment. 1 can only deal with the ease as it has been submitted to me
and I find that claimant has failed to discharge the burden of showing a
present disability resulting from maltreatment whilst a prisoner of war. The
medical evidence is entirely inadequate.  The claim for loss of food pareels,
tobareo, ete,, is not substantiated and is without merit, in any event. The
claim musi, accordingly, be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commussioner.
Orrawa, December 10, 1931,

CASE 1758—ARTHUR H. HARLAND

The claimant was a Private_in_the Third Battalion, Regimental number
9681. He enlisted September 23, 1914, at the age ~f 38 vears. He was taken
prisoner April 24, 1915, suffering from gunshot wound in the left upper arm and
lung, a bullet wound in the right forearm and gassed. He was repatriated to
Holland March 24, 1918, and then to England in October, 1818, He is in
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receipt of a disability pension of 65 per cent based on bronchitis and emphy-
sema, arteriosclerosis, deformed foot, lumbago and lumbar arthritis. He
receives about 365 per month as his pension. Marriec prior to the war, and
was a moulder and carpenter. He received considerak:: medical treatment at
Christie Street Hospital, was also employed in the Vetcraft shops.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

The claimant is an old soldier, having served in the Ashanti eampaign.
He was 38 years of age when he enlisted in the 3rd Battalion. At the time
of his eapture he was seriously ‘wounded in the arm and hing and had been
gassed. He also declares that his foot was badly injured. He was first taken
te Ohrdruf and, from his medical history files, would appear to have been
at Doberitz for three months, thence to Dyrotz for a few weeks and then to
Cottbus where he remained till July, 1917, when he was sent to Hesse. His
own statement of his experiences as a prisoner are most confused. Apart
from general statements of maltreatment, he seems unable or unwilling to
state specifieally what particular aets of brutality he was subjected to. e
cefers to an incident at Ohrdruf, when he was thrown to the ground from the
streteher upon which he was-being carried and ap attack by the civilian popu-
lation with stones and sticks. Again he refers to long periods of punishment,
standing to attention in the sun and complains generally of being hit and
knocked about. This punishmem was apparently .neted out for refusal to
waork.

As above pointed out, claimant suffers from a number of disabilitics and
the medical certificates indicate that there is little chance of any improve-
ment. He is in receipt of a pension of 65 per cent. His medical history files
show that, upon examination, there is nothing abnormal in his condition con-
sidering nis age. At the time of the examination, January 11, 1918, claimant
deelared himself perfeetly fit and had no complaints,

I am inclined to think that claimant’s present condition is largely, if not
wholly, due to service conditions, as to which, of course, this Comimssion has
no jurisdiction. With great reluctance, 1 am compelled to find that ~laimant
has not discharged the burden of showing that his maltreatment as a prisoner
of war has resulted in any pecuniary damage to him. In these circumstances,
the claim must be dizallowed.

ERROL M. MceDOUGALL.

(" mmissioner.
Orrawas, December 7, 1931,

CASE 1766—HORACE A. W. COLLOM

The claimant was a Private in the 7th Batalion, Regimental No. 16203.
He enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 23 venrs. He was talen prisoner
April 24, 1915, at the second hattle of Ypres, suffering from gunshot wounds
in the left shoulder and left hip, and from gas. He was released to Switzer-
land in 1917, and was repatriated to England March 25, 1918, He is in receipt
of a disability pension of about 30 per cent, amounting to $39 for himself,

‘his wife and two children, based on chronie bronehitis, sinucitis and neuras-

thenia. Neither the record nor the evidence appear to disclose what this
man’s occupation or income was either prior to enlistment or after the war.
His attestation paper shows that he was a * traveller.”

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resuited in pecuniary damage to him. The statement of elaim is quite

general as to the maltreatment suffered.
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An analysis of the cvidence reveals:—

Taken to a dressing station claimant received some medical attention for
his wounds—without an anaesthetic and was then sent on, through Cologne, to
Ohrdruf and eventually to Cassel. He complains of being compelled to work at
farm labour and, while so engaged, a farm house was destroyed by fire. He and
other prisoners were blamed for the burning though it was impossible for them
to have had anything to do with it. They were courtmartialled, and while the
: case was dis:rissed, were condemned to 28 days confinement. They were searched
for *obaceo and a sergeant-major struck the elaimant in the face and tie guards
beat him with rifles and bayonets about the head until he was uncenscious. His
cell was eramped and he had to sleep on a plank. He contracted dropsy, was
taken to the dociur and finally transferred to Switzerland. His complaint as to
maltreatment is confined to the blow received from the sergeant-major, which
“ he contends has left permanent injury.

: The medieal record indieates that elaimant iz suffering from neurasthenia,
! nephritis and bronchitis.  His pereentage of disability is stated at from 25 per
' cent to 30 per cent. No medical evidence was adduced before the Commission

but claimant’s overseas medical hoard report declares his condition as follows:
“ Evidence of wounds in left shoulder and left thigh, Has had persistent albu-
minuria. I: very nervous and debilitated, also has a slight coush, evidence of
bronchitis. Heart and lungs normal ”.
; I cannot find in the evidence submitted such maltreatment, with resultant
£ disability, as would entitle claimant to an award. 1 believe his case to be one
purely for the consideration of the Board of Pension Commissioners. The blow
: in the face from a German sergeant-major, to which he confines his complaint,
has not, as far as I can sce, rezulted in any disability. The claim must, accord-
ingly, be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALIL,
Commissioner.

Orraws, December 7, 1931,
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CASE 1802—CHRISTOPHER MACDONALD

The elaimant served az a Private with the Imperial Forces—2nd  Royal
Seot<=—Regimental No. 11199, He first came to Canada to reside, August 29,
1928, and has made no elaim on account of maltreatment to the British authori-
ties. The Department of National Defence of Canada has no file for this man,
and there are no military records available with which to check his testimony.
He is in reccipt of an Imperial pension amounting to 8 shillings per week, for
gunshot wounds in the back, and states that he was held prisoner for four years
and was transferred to Switzerland May 30, 1916, He states that he is married
and is now employed as groundsman with a golf course in Vincouver, salary
not stated. Does not state what his previous trade was.

He alleges that while held prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of having been
forced, at the point of bayonets, to work in the stables at Senne-lager where a
horse trampled on his foot causing great pain and resulting in his having a
“hammer toe ” on the right foot. It still pains him in wet weather. He states
that he asked for medical treatment but was laughed at, and was forced to
return to work with a bandaged toe. Had it been properly cared for, he says
there would have been no disability.
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Claimant was advised, at the hearing in Vancouver, that as an Imperial
soldier, who first came to Canada in 1928, his claimn was not eligible for con-
sideration by this Commission. Upon further consideration, this view is now
confirmed, for reasons expressed in my report. ‘ :

May I add also that the record reveals that the injury of which claimant
complaing would appear to have resulted from an accident, and is not ascrib-
able to maltreatment. The <laim must, accordingly, be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner,
Orrawa, December 4, 1931,

CASE 1814—JAMES A. BAIRD

The claimant was an Imperial soldier who came to Canada to reside in May,
1929. He was with the First Roval Welsh Fusiliers and was wounded and taken
prisoner, October 30, 1914, A Geeman N.C.0. struck him with the butt of a
vifle breaking his right shoulder. He was kicked into camp and upon complaint
to the commandant, was struck down again by the guard. He received no treat-
ment for his injury and is not in receipt of an Imperial pension. He is married
and has three children.  He appeared before me at Vancouver January 21.
1931, and upon hearing from him of the date of his arrival in Canada, several
vears after the close of the war, I advised him that he could not be considered as a
Canadian and that his only recourse would be to the British authorities.

As pointed out above, I do not consider that this Commission has jurisdiction
to entertain the claim. The date constitutive of jurisdiction, in civilian ecases,
has been fixed as January 10, 1920, date of the r-*ification of the Treaty of
Versailles. T would propose to adopt the same principle in dealing with cases of

- alleged maltreatment whilst a prisoner of war, Reserving to claimant all other

recourses and without deeiding the case upon its merits, I must, therefore, dis-
allow the elaim in 20 fan as this Commission is coneorned,

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner,
Orrawy, December 4, 1931,

CASE 1843—HOWARD MARSDEN BROWN

The claimant was Acting-Bombardier in the First Division Treneh Mortar—
Regimental number 300714.  He enlisted October 4th, 1915, at the age of 22 years.
He was taken prisoner June 2nd, 1916, unwounded. He was repatriated to
England November 29, 1918, He was at first in receipt of a 20 per cent
disability pension which was discontinued on November 1, 1921, and received
£:25.00 in all. He is unmarried. Prior to enlistment, he was a salesman with
Messrs, Gordon-MeKay of Toronto, at a salary of §20 per weck and since his
discharge has been with the Canadian Oil Company for four vears, and with the
Canadian Floor Machine Company for the pact three vears, but does not state
his salary.

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to rasltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of neavy lahour,
being made to stand to attention, beatings and denial of medical attention.
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An analysis of the evidence reveals,—

After capture, claimant was taken to Dulmen camp where he remained for
about two months. The only complaint heie is that he received no medienl
attention for dysentery, from which he was suffering, and that he was made to
work long hours and stand to attention atter work without food, when unfit. He
was removed to Oberhausen eamyp, vhere he complains of rough treatment, long
hours of work and poor food. He developed blood poisoning and was finally
aperated upon without anaesthetie.  On one oceasion when going to the rescuc
of a fellow prisoner (Clubley—Case 1847) who was being beaten by guards,
he also received a severe thrashing. While at work he fell and broke his arm and
complainz of brutal treatment by the guards wnd the physician who examined it.
He was sent to Friedrichsfeld camp for treatment and was sent back to work
within {wo weeks after the arm had been broken., Claimant attributes a
bronehial condition to the failure of the German authorities to give him treatient
for “flu ", from whieh he suffered, with others, in the epidemic of 1918. He com-
plains of being sent out to work before he had fully rceovered. In statement
made upor repatriation elaimant does not refer to any lack of medical attention
at. Dulmen eamp. Referring to his experiences at Oberhausen, he speaks of
breaking his arm and being sent to Friedrichsfeld hospital, where the trestment
was brutal.  He says that he was discharged in four weeks as fit for light work.
No reference is made to his treatment for blood poisoning, nor does he make
any mention of alleged lack of treatment for * fly °.

The medical record upon which claimant relies is contained in his pension
files, and indicates that he suffered from debility and bronchitis when discharged.
He has lost weight, and complains of nervousness,

Having regard to the general observations contained in the Opinion annexed
to the present report, I fiud that claimant, while a prisoner of war, was subjected
to maltreatment resulting in damage to him for which he is entitled to a pecuniary
award. While in some respeets incomplete, his statement upon repatriation is
consistent with his testimony before ihe Connnission, Viewing all the circum-
stances, I would recommend a pavment to claimant. of $500.00, with interest
thereon, at the rate of 5 per cent per annum, from January i0, 1920, to date
of pavment,

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commisstoner.
Orrawy, December 1, 1931,

CASE 1844—GEORGE HENRY PEPPER

The claimant was & Gunner in the 1st Canadian Trench Mortars, Regi-
mental number 304389. He enlisted November 8, 1915, at the age of 19 years,
He was taken prisoner June 2, 1916, at Zellibee, unwounded. He was repat-
riated to England November 29, 1918. He is not in receipt of a pension. He
was married September, 1921, and has two children. Prior to onlisnnont,.he was
an apprentice at optical business, at a salary of $10.00 per week, and since his
discharge was employed with Litho Print Limited, for three vears, at a salary
from 822.00 to $£36.00 weekly, and with the Canadian Germicide Co.,, on a
conmnission basis.

He alleges that while a prizoner of war he was ‘subjected to lllalt-reqt-xnent
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He comblains of having to
work immediately after inoculation and vaccination, being formed to carry large
pails of refuse to a farm two miles distant and spread it on the farm in the
blazing sun.  Was beaten on the way. Worked 12 houss daily, and was then
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forced to stand at attention for two hours. Was struck over shoulders and body

¢ with a rifle by the sentry. Then worked in the boiler works at heavy work. Was

beaten and was forced to work when suffering with flu and running a high
temperature. Also beaten for trying to save a comrade from further suffering.

. He contracted nephritis due to exposure, living conditions and abuses, and has a

heart condition which has impaired his carning power.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:——

Claimant was taken to Dulmen Camp. e was beaten by the guards for
respending too, slowly to the signal to arise and again for upsetting a cart into
n ditch. Later at Oberhausen Camp while carrying a heavy bar of iron with
another prisoner, through exhaustion, they allowed it to drop. Ile was severely
beaten and his morale badly shaken. Ile complains of the fear in which he
lived of being beaten, a fear which was frequently realized. Claimant suffered
constantly from boils for which he received no medieal attention.

The medical record diseloses that claimant suffers from nephritis and general
debility. Dr, Jas. S. Simpson appeared before the Commission and testified
that he had known and attended elaimant before and after the war. He had
been a strong and robust youth upon enlistment. His vitality is now seriously
impaired, being anacwmic and markedly depressed. Iis nervous condition is
not likely to improve.

There is no doubt that claimant has suffered some disability as a result of
his expericnces in Germany, and while it ie doubtful whether this can be ascribed
directly to maltreatment, I am inclined to think that s condition is partly,
if not wholly, due to this treatment as a prisoner of war. Viewing all the
circumstances of the case and having regard to the general observations con-
tained in the Opinion annexed to the present Report, T consider that claimant
has made out a case of disability resulting from maltreatment as a prisoner of
war. I would, accordingly, recommend a payment to him of the sum of $500,
with interest thereon, 2t the rate of 5 per cent per annum, from January 10,

1920, to date of pavment. ,
FRROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.
Otrawa, December 1, 1931,

CASE 1845—-\WM. H. GLENFIELD

The claimant was a gunner in the 34th Battery, Regimenta: number 304253.
He enlisted August 19, 1915, at the age of 20 years. He was taken prisoner
June 2, 1916, unwounded. He was repatriated to Iingland November 29,
1018. He is not in receipt of a pension. He is unmarried. Prior to enlistment,
he was employed as a tile setter by the T. Eaton Company and the Vokes Hard-
ware Company at a salary of from $12 to $15 per week, and since his discharge
has been employed as post office clerk at a salary of $1,740 per annum,

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatmen?
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of having been
repeatedly beaten with the butts of rifles with resultant and permanent damage
to his health.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was taken to Dulmen camp where he received a severe beating
for citting down while carrying pails from the barracks down to a farm where
he was working. He complains that his back still troubles him as a result of
this beating. He was sent to Oberhausen camp, where he worked 11 to 12 hours
a day in the Babcock & Wilcox plant. He received {wo heatings hero, on one
oceasion for failing to earry an iron girder which was too heavy for his strength.
Later, just before the Armistice, he was again beaten for sitting down through

414293
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exhaustion and pains in the back while unloading iron castings. He was in bed
for a week following this occurrence. His statements are corroborated by a
fellow prisoner, G. H. Pepper, also a clzimant (Case 1844), who was present
and received similar beatings.

The medical record indicates that claimant suffers from neuritis in the left
ghoulder and arm. He also complains of neurasthenia, insomnia and weakness.
Dr. W. G. McCormick appeared and gave testimony on behalf of claimant.
He has known him :ince boyhood and speaks of a constant neuritis in his left
arm, also a broncial condition and nervousness. Dr. MeCormick finds elaimant’s
health impaired, and while he cannot definitely <o state, attributes much of this
to his experiences while a prisoner in Germany.

Claimant is not in receipt of a pension.  Having regard te ‘he deeision in
the case of Pepper, ahove referred to, and the similarity of the treatment
accorded both prizoners, 1 think it is fair to say that claimant has suffered
some, if not all, the dizability elaimed, as a result of maltreatment as a prizoner
of war. T would, accordingly, recommend a payment to him of the sum of £500
with interezt thercon, at the rate of 5 per cent per annum. from January 10,

1920, to date of payment,
ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner.
Orrawa, December 1, 1931,

CASE 1846—GORDON DOUGLAS HUNTER

The claimant was a Lieutenant in the 124th Battfalion attached to the
Royal Flying Corps. He enlisted November 18, 1915, at the age of 19 years.
He was flying and crashed somewhere south of Valenciennes and was taken
prisoner near Dousi May 6, 1917, wounded in the left arm, bullet, and two
bullet wounds in the back. The wound in the arm wasg a flesh wound. He was
repatriated {o England January 15, 1918, e received 70 per cent disability
pension amounting to ab.out $80 per month for the loss of his left arm. At the
present tiime he receives w pension of £105.08 per month for self, wife and three
children.  Prior to enlistmuent he was a ledger-keeper with the Toronto General
Trusts Corporation at a salary of $2.600 per annum, and since his discharge
he was with the Toronto General Trusts Corporation for 12 years at a salary
of §2,600 per annum and with Cadillac Motors at 200 per month.

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
whicli has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. e eomplains of lack of medical
attention during the first week of his imprisonment which resulted in the ampu-
tation of his feft arm,

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—
Clatmant i= one of the few officers who have come before the Commission.
His complaint has to do with the first period of his captivity and is based upon
the loss of an arm through lack of proper medical attention. When captured
he was wounded in the left arm and back. He was given a field dressing imme-
diately and taken to a hut or lean-to at the airdrome. He lay on straw until the
following Friday morning (from Sunday) without any further medical attention.
During this period he was closely interrogated by German officers in regard to
the then new British triplanes, but refused to divulg: any information. He
tells an amazing story of being tortured to make him talk and cven intimates
that the famous German flying commander, Baron Manfred Von Richtofen,
lent himself to such practices. In his own language, he says:—
“ Latterly, the last day or so, a couple of chaps lost their temper
and grabbed my injured arm to force me to speak”.
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A little later he continues:

“Did Richtofen himself behave in this way to you?”
“Yes, he was the most crude . . .

Gangrene developed and when cfforts were finally made to dress his wounds it
was impossible to save the arm. It was amputated at Fechain hospital on May
21, 1917. There is no complaint as to tle treatment given him after reachin
hospital, but claimant contends vigorously that had he reecived prompt medica
attendon he would not have lost his arm. As above pointed out, claimant is in
receipt of a pension for the loss of his arm. There is no corroboration of his
statement that the arm might have been saved, nor, of course, is there anything
but his word to substantiate the charge of physical torture by German officers.
In a very full statement made by claimant, upon repatriation, dated January 22,
1918, e makes no reference o any tortute by German officers, his complaint
being confined to want of proper dressing to his wounded arm. This ease aroused
very widespread eomment in the Press. The German Consul General interested
himself in the matter and has forwarded to the Commission n report, under
instructions of his Government, which I consider should be quoted in full. It
reads:

I beg to refer to the case number 1846 in the matter of Gordon D. Hunter. Upon
instructions of my Government I have the honour to furnish you with the following informa-
tion:—

The compctent German authorities have made_inquiries, and it follows therefrom that
Lieutenant Hunter was not shot down by Cuptain Baron Manfred von Richthofen on May
6. 1917. The official records show the following facts:—

Captain Manfred von Richthofen was on leave of absence from May 1 to May 15, 1817,
His squadron was commanded by his brother Licutenant Lothar von Richthofen, who was
seriously wounded on May 13, 1917, On May 6, 1917 the squadron of Richthofen did not
shoot down any plane. Licutenant Lothar von Richtheien shot down. on the 7th, 10th and
11th of May, three plancs. The names of the surviving eccupants of those planes are given,
but Lieutenant Hunter is not included. 1 am alzo in possession of a list of all the planes
which have been shot down during the month of Mav, 1917 Ly the squadron mentioned
above. The vame of Licutenant Hunter is not to be found amcrg the surviving occupants
of those plancs.

You will sce from this official evidence that the statement of Licutenant Hunter. that
he had been shot down and taken prisoner by the von Richthofen squadron and that he
was, from Sunday until Friday, with that squadcon, is not correct. Through establishment of
these faets, the assertions of Lientenznt Huuter with regard to the Richthiofen squadion are
to be considered as untrue.

The inquirics up to this date have shown that Hunter was wounded on May 6/7, 1017
near Arras-Douai . Fechain and takan puigoner, and that on May 7 Le was transferred to
field hospital No. 255, which was taken over on Muay 15 by field hospital No. 505.  The inqui-
ries as to the unit by which Hunter was taken misoncr and us to the further treatment which
he has received are not yet terminated,

In this state of the reeocd, I cannot find that claimant was subjected to
maltreatment which has caused him permanent disability. It is quite possible
that he would have lost hiz arm in any event, and for this disability, which was
a service wound, he ig in reeeipt of a pension. Even had claimant established
the fact of physical torture to his wounded arm, which is not borne out by the
German report above quoted, I do not consider that I would be justified in
granting him an award. Any such decision would be a condemnation in vindic-
tive damages, which is not, in my view, contemplated by the reparation provisions
of the Treaty of Versailles, 1 am, therefore, compelled to disallow the claim.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.

Otrawa, December 4, 1931,

41429--3}
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CASE 1847—ROBERT EDMUND CLUBLEY

The elaimant was a Lance-Corporal with {he 4th C.M.R. Regimental num-
ber 113138. He enlisted January 8, 1915 at the age of 20 years. He was taken
prisoner June 2, 1916, unwounded. He was repatriated to England November
29, 1918. He received a pension of 5 per cent disability amounting to $3.00 per
month which was discontinued May 31, 1920. It was based on chest trouble.
He was married December 15, 1919, and has threc children. Prior to enlistment
he was engaged in farming, income not stated, and since his discharge has engaged
in trucking business for himself. Income not stated.

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
whieh resulted ih pecuniary damage to him. He complains of repeated beatings
at the hands of German sentries, with rifles, and blows in the face, He was
kicked in the stomach leaving a permanent injury and was forced to work in
coal mine for 6 months 11 or 12 hours per day.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

After capture claimant was taken to Dulmen camp, where he remained for
two months.  Apart from being made {0 stand to attention for several hours
after the day’s work, in common with the whole camp, as a punishment for
mocking a German General, there is no complaint of maltreatment. He was
sent to Oberhausen, where he remained for the duration of the war, except during
the time of an attempted escape. Conditions at this camp were very harsh and
claimant, who was a particularly strong and well built man, scems, perhaps for
that veason, to .have been subjected to rough usage. He complaing, as do the
others, of excessive work, and undernourishment, to which he aseribes his
impaired gastric condition Claimant was struck by guards and was given
solitary confinement on several oceasions, scemingly for trving o defend him-
gelf from the blows. On one oceasion, while working upon a machine with a
French prisoner, he attempted to assist this prisoner, who was being beaten by
the guard. He himeself then received a severe beating and was left in a semi-
canscious condition. This incident is corroborated by a fellow prisoner. A fight
appears to have cnsued and claimant was given 14 days solitary confinement,
which he served under the most unsanitary and brutal conditions. Claimant
attempted to eseape, was recaptured and brought back to camp. This attempt
carned him another very severe heating and an additional period of solitary
corfinement. When released from confinement he was sent to work in a “punish-
ment coal mine”, where for failing to do as much work as his guards required,
he was struck with a hammer across the nose and still bears the scar. He was
also struck on the chest and curries the scar of this blow. He speaks of prisoners
secking to avoid work by sclf inflicted injuries.

In addition to the Medical Certifieate of Dr. Mortimer Fleming, filed of
record, Drs. Campbeli and Fleming appeared before the Commission. Claimant
is suffering from chronic bronchitis, asthma, bronchiectasis, gastro-enteritis and
possibly an ulcerative condition of the stomach and duodenum, neurasthenia,
rheumatism of shoulders, a~ms and fingers. There is also a right inguinal
hernia.  These conditions ave declared to have resulted possibly from mal-
treatment, cxhaustion and emotional strain with long continued malnutrition.

There appears to be no doubt that claimant’s health has suffered per-
manent impairment, principally as to his bronchial condition, and this can be
traced to the treatment he received as a prisoner. Viewing all the circum-
stances I would recommmend a payvment to claimant of §800, with interest thercon,
at the rate of 5 per cent per annum, from January 10, 1920, to date of payment.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.
Orrawa, December 1, 1931,
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CASE 1848—ALEXANDER MacAULEY

The claimant was a Private in the 5th Canadian Mounted Rifles—Regi-
mental number 405635. He enlisted Junc 24, 1915, at the age of 24 years.

‘e was taken prisoner June 2, 1916, slightly wounded. He was. repatriated

“to England after the armistice, 1918. He is not in receipt of a pension. He was

-married April 28, 1920, and has two children. Prior to enlistment, he was

engaged as a gardener at a wage of $16 per week, and since his discharge has

~been employed with the Parks Department of the City of Toronto, at a wage
~of §32 per week.

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage {o him. He complains of insufficient
food, long hours, hard labour, physical abuse and unsanitary living conditjons.
e developed stomach dizorder and nervous condition which has continued.

An analvsiz of “he evidenee reveals:—

After capture, . aimant was first taken to Dulmen eamp, where he remained
about two months, Ile was beaten for some minor infraction of rules, but
sustained no permanent injury. Ie was removed to Oberhausen eamp, where
he appears to have remained for the duration of the war. At this camp con-
ditions are declared to have heen very harsh, and claimant came in for rough
treatment and voas made to work very long hours. A perusal of claimant’s
testimony creates the impression that much of his maltreatment resulted from
his refusal, rightly or wronely, to do the work assigned to him and a certain
truculence of manuner’ which provoked reprisals from his guards. His main
grievance has to do with the excessive and heavy work he had to do when he
was not fit. While working on boilers he collapsed, and when he refused to
continue was heaten.  An infected arm received brutal treatment from the
surgeon, but no permanent disability resulted therefrom. He was made to
stand at attention for long periods for refusing to work, and seemed to have
been n man marked for punishment. His statements are, to a certain extent,
corroborated by a fellow prisoner.

The medieal eertificate of Dr, J. A, Tuck, filed of record, was supplemented
by the testimony of the physician. Claimant suffers from gastritis and chronic
hronchitiz, with some nervous disturhbance. Dr. Tuck could not attribute his
present condition wholly to his internment a< a prisoner, and did not feel like
fixing the percentage of disability applicable to claimant. e says there is some
{)crn}:nmnt disability which may have resulted from shock and nervous appre-
1ension,

it is difficult in this case to trace the effect to the cause. Claimant did suffer
maltreatment, hut that it has resulted in permanent dizability to him is not so
clear.  Having regard to the general observations contained in the Opinion
annexed to the present report, I think claimant is entitled to the benefit of the

- doubt and I am inelined to find that he did suffer malireatment involving damage

to him, for which he is entitled to a pecuniary award. Viewing all the circum-

- stances, T wonld recommend a payment to eclaimant of 8500, with interest

thereon, at the rate of 5 per cent per annum, {rom January 10, 1920, to date of

* payment.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.

- Otrawy, December 1, 1931.
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CASE 1849—TRANK LEWIS AUSTIN

The claimant was a Private in the 4th CAML.R.—Regimental number 113066.
He enlisted April 26, 1915, at the age of 22 years. e was taken prisoner June
2, 1916, at Ypres, slightly gassed, with flesh wounds in the left leg, and was
unable to walk., ITe was repatriated to England January 2, 1919. He is in
receipt of a 20 per cent disability pension, which he siates is based on hronchitis,
and receives 20 per month for wife and self. He had been married on Sep-
tember 24, 1927, Prior to enlistment he was a printer with Harcourts Publish-
ing Company at a salary of $18.50 per week, and since his discharge has held
two positions at salaries of 826 per week and 833 per weck respectively. Was
ou* of work for one vear.

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjeeted to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He alleges that he was forced
o do heavy work at digging ditches on practically no food, t:nd suffered physical
abuse becausehe could not turn out enough work. He was made to work in - ~al
mit es, was beaten, given solitary confinement and subjected to general abuse.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:-— .

Claimant has no complaint as to the medical treatment for his wounds in the
two hospitals where he received attention. He is in receipt of a pension for
bronchitis which he attributes to general conditions in the prison camps, particu-
larly the salt mines where he spent one month, He was in Wittenberg, Quedlin-
burg and Stendal eamps. e was beaten for not doing all the work required
oi him and in the salt mines for not understanding the orders given him. None
of the beatings received appear to have left any disability, He finished his
captivity in a sugar factory where he got into a melee with a guard and was
severely beaten for wresting a rifle out of the hands of a sentry who had levelled
it at him.

The medical record discloses that elaimant’s disabilities are bronchitis and
cmphysema.  No other medical evidence has been made.

It is difficult to attribute elaimant’s present condition to any particular acts
of maltreatment by the enemy. That his chest condition constitutes a disability
is clear since he is in receipt of a pension therefor, Having regard to the general
observations contained in Opinion annexed to the present report, and particularly
bearing in mind that claimant was made to work in the salt mines, I concider
that I am justified in finding that a part, if not all, of his disability results from
maltreatment as a prisoner of war. I would, accordingly, recommend a payment
to him of §500 with interest thercon, at the rate of 5 per cent per annum, from
January 10, 1920, to date of payment.

FERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.
Orraws, December 3, 1931,

CASE 1853 =WILLIAM HHENRY EDWARDS

The claimant was a sergeant in the 14th Battalion—Regimental number
25668. IHc enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 17 years. Ic¢ was taken
prisoner April 24, 1915, at the sccond battle of Ypres, suffering from a bullet
wound in the right eye, which necessitated removal. e was repatriated to
England June 15, 1918, and is in receipt of a disability pension (60 per cent)
and receives §83 per month based on the loss of the right eve, left varieoeele,
left inguinal hernia and bronchitis. Tle is married and has three children. Prior
to enlistment his occupation was that of machinist and since discharge he has
been employed as a letter carrier with the Post Office Department at a salary
of $85 per month,
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"which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains that his eye was
- lost because of inadequate medical treatment; that he was beaten with rifle butt,
i placed in solitary confinement, kicked and subjected to harsh treatment generally.
‘ An analysis of the evidence reveals:—
: Claimant was taken to Roulers in Belgium where he received medical atten-
_tion. He was then sent to Munster, where he arrived April 29, 1916. He has no
- complaint as to the general conditions in the hospital at this camp. In state-
+ ment made upon repatriation he declares that his eye was not totally blind at
. this time bu. “ became worse and on May 10 T was operated on and my cye
“removed ”. In his testimony before the Commission he would appear to infer
- that he did not expect them to remove the eye, but thought he was to be operated
- on for cataract. Ile declares that when he discovered that the eye had been
removed he was “ dumbfounded ”. Tle details his experiences in Germany and
describes the various camps to which he was attached. He received beatings for
- attempting to escape and minor breaches of discipline but his claim is made
solely on the ground of improper medical attention to his cye. He contends that
© it was unnecessary to remove it and that the sight could have been saved had
he received proper attention. It is, of course, impossible for claimant to sub-
stantiate this statement, and in the absence of proof that the operation he under-
went was whally unnec ssary and was tantamount to deliberate intention to maim
- him, he cannot succeed on thic head of elaim. The medical record indicates that
claimant suffers from loss of right eye, chronic bronchitis, rheumatism and
nervous trouble. His percentage of disability is stated at 60 per cent. Dr. L.
Ernest Belanger, who certifies to the foregoing, did not appear before the
Commission,

Mere lack of judgment on the part of the attending physician, even if that
fact were proved, would not entitle claimant to recover on the ground of mal-
treatment. e ¢ in receipt of full pension allowance for the loss of his eye.
In these circumstances, T must find that claimant has failed to make out a case
of disability resulting from maltreatment as a prisoner of war. His claim must,

accordingly, be disallowed.
ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner.,
Orrawa, December 7, 1931,

CASE 1854~ -WILLIAM F. LICKERS (NOW WALTON TFOSTER)

The ¢ yiman. was a Private in the 15th Battalion—Regimental nu.aber
27220. He enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 25 years. He was taken
prisoner April 24, 1915, suffering from a slight shrapnel wound in the left leg.
He was released to H)lland June 13, 1918, and reached Tngland October 4, 1918,
He is in receipt of 100 per cent disability pensien, based on general debility,
which amounts to 8119.50 per month for self, wife and child. He was married
December 30, 1918,  Prior to enlistment, he was employed as shipper and receiver

~for the Consolidated Rubber Company, at Saskatoon, Sask., at a salary of
- approximately 8100 per month, and since his discharge he operates a fruit and
. vegetable farm at Grimsby, Ontario, with indifferent snuccess, and declares that
* he is in financial straits. The claimant is a full-blooded member of the Mohawk
- Indian nation.

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. }He complains of inhuman
treatment and severe beatings at the salt mines, that he was tied to posts as
punishment and brutalized, made to work when unfit, until he collapsed.

"He alleges. that while o prisoner of war he was subjested to maltreatment
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An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

This is a particularly distressing case. The claimant, a full-blooded Mohawk

Indian, upon enlistment was a strong powerful man. When captured, he had a
minor flesh wound in the leg. e is now a physical wreck and in receipt of
160 per cent pension. e appears to have aroused the special vindictiveness
of his captors by reason of his nationality. This fact is borne out by various
witnesses who were present when he was brutalized, ali of whom testify that
Lie was singled out and received harsher treatinent than other prisoners. Clahinant
was first taken to Cottingen camp where he was heaten, knocked down and
Licked, He was removed to Celle-lager. At this eamp for some minor breach of
diseipline he wus daily tied to a post for four days and while in this position
was hit over the fuce and mouth. A declaration of loyalty evidently provoked
this brutality. Ilc was even severely beaten by an officer. Although injured,
he reeerved no medieal treatment and waz then sent to the ill-famed Beienrode
salt mines for two years, Here, he received frequent beatings while at work,
and, even when in solitary confinement, was assanlted by his guards with a
rubber hose for no apparent :eason and left in an unconscious condition. He
was compelled to work, when able to stand, for as mueh as 12 to 16 hours per
day, in underground mines and was brutalized by the sentries by being kicked
and struck with fragments of rock salt and the butts of rifles. One of these blows
on the head, while in a stooping position, injured the back of his neck, which has
remained stiff cver since, and, as a result of these experiences, claimant has been
wholly incapacitated.  Ife walks with difficulty and can scarcely move his head
from side to side. .

According to the medical testimony elaimant suflers from chronic arthritis
and myalgia, most marked in his right hip. Dr. J. H. McMillan, who appeared
before the Commission, declares that there is no hope of any improvement and
that he suffers great pain, which can only be relicved at times by the administra-
tion of narcotics. Irom the history of the case as told by claimant, and dis-
closed in his medieal history files, it is proven that claimant’s present condition
is the direct result of his treatment whilst a prisoner of war. The numerous
witnesses who appeared in support of claimant’s case are unanimous in declaring
that elaimant was subjeeted to most deliberate and heartless cruelly, far in
excess of that reecived by other prisoners,

Claimant ix in receipt of a full pension, but T do not consider that this
payment precludes him from recourse before this Commission. Tt is not pre-
tended that the pen-ion award can compensate a man for the ruin of his life; it
i~ merely furnished ws o means of subsistenee to the vietim and his family.
Viewing all the circumstances of the ease, and having regard to the observations
containcd in the Opinion annexed to the present report, I cons’ ier that claimant
i« entitled to an award. 1 would, accordingly, recommend p.yment to him of
the sum of $3,000.00, with interest thereon, at the rate of 3 per eent per annum,
from January 10, 1920, to d.ite of payvment.

ERROIL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner,
Orraws, December 1, 1931,

CASE 1856—LT.-COL. JOHN L. L. STREIGHT, M.C.

The claimant was a Captain in the 3rd Battalion. He enlisted in August,
1914, at the age of 34 years. He was taken prisoner April 24, 1915, at the second
battle of Ypres, suffering from wounds in_the chest and gas. He was released
to Switzerland on November 28, 1917, and was repatriated to England, March
24, 1918. He is in receipt of a disability pension, which smounts to $150.00
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/ per year, based on ginusitis, atrophic rhinitis and pleurisy. Prior to war service

* the claimant was engaged in the lumbering business and was miking a net

- profit of from $5,000.00 to $12,000.00 per annum. Since discharge his best

" annual income has been $6,000.00, but had to give up business in 1921, and now
lias a small income.

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of having been
in different camps and that every means was taken to make life disagreeable.
In attempting to escape to Holland he wac captured, and, at the time of eapture,
received a blow in the face, smashing his forehead, breaking his nose and frac-
turing his jaw. e had to do four months solitary confinement as 2 reprisal
for German U Boat prisoners in England. In his medical history sheet his
disease is described as ozoena caused by infection pius unhygienie surroundings
in prison camp in Germany. :

An analyzis of the evidence reveals:

Claimant is one of the few officers to come before the Commission. With
other prisoners he was marched w Roulers, in Belgium, where he entrained for
Bischofswerda, in Saxony. e remained at this camp until March 20, 1917,
when he was ordered transferred, with other prisoncrs to Crefeld in Westphalia.
During the journey he jumped from the train and attempted to make his way
to Holland. Hc had reached the frontier, but was eaptured in endeavouring to
get through the barbed wire, was badly beaten, and elubbed with rifles into
unconsciousness. Taken to Crefeld, he was placed in cells. e again attempted
to escape by knocking down two guards, hoping to follow a truck through to
Holland and was hit with the butt of a rifle in the face in the skirmish which
ensued. There is some slight eonfusion between the statement made by claimant
upon repatriation and the aceount of his recapture as giveus in his testimony,
but the two stories are substantially identieal, Claimant was kept in solitary
confinement but was allowed to receive medical attention from an old eivilian
doctor who did his best for him. Later elaimant was sent to Strohen camp,
which was known as a veprisal camp. Mere he was again confined, being
regarded as a dangerous prisoner. Conditions were very severe, the commmand-
ants sceming to iake a particular delight in brutahzing British prisoners.
Claimant does not, however, complain particularly of any personal maltreatment
at this camp. He attributes an attack of pleurisy to the eamp and unsanitary
conditions prevailing in tie cells at Crefeld.

The medical record indicates that elaimant suffers from sinusitis, atrophic
rhinitis and pleurisy, but 1ater reports indicate marked improvement in these
conditions. No medical evidence was adduced at the hearing, and such infor-
ttl_llnt,ion as is available is taken from the medical history sheets on claimant’s
ile.

It will be abserved that the greater part of the brutal treatment received
by claimant was directly due to his commendable attempts to escape, and his
subsequent period of incareeration was undoubtedly made more difficult for him
because of the very vigorous methods he adopted in attempting to escape, He was
regarded as a prisoner who required to be closely confined and watched. From a
carcful consideration of the evidence and documents submitted, I have reached
the conclusion that the maltreatment sustained by claimant is not such as will
justify an award in his favour. The punishment meted out to him for his
attempt to eseape waa severe, but a captor cannot be held to employ no violence
‘n the recapture and eubjection of a prisoner who attempts to eseape. Claim-
ant’s recourse is clearly before the Board of Pension Commissioners. 1 must,

nccordingly, disallow the claim,
ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner.
Orrawa, December 7, 1931,
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CASE 1866 -MAJOR CLYDFE R. SCOTT

‘The elaimant, at the time of capture, was a Licutenant in the Second Bat-
talion. He cnlisted September 22, 1914, at the age _of_21 vears. e was taken
prisoner April 24, 1915, at St. Julien, and was suflering from wounds in both
hips, the left knce, and from shrapnel wound in the left eye at the time of
capture. He was released to Switzerland December 12, 1916, and was repatri-
ated to England September 8. 1917, He is in receipt of an 80 per cent disahility
pension amounting to $82.50 per month for himself and his wife, based on his
setive zervice wounds,  Prior to enlistment he was studying to qualify as an
electrical engineer and since the close of the war has been with the Department
of National Defence of Canada, and is at present the Assistant Director of
Reenrdz, .

He alleees that while a prisoner of war he was subjecte.d to maltreatment
which bas ezulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of neglect of his
wounds, amounting to maltreatment, and lack of competent medical attention,
although such was available, for 27 days after being wounded, resulting in a
permanent disability to the left knee which would not have developed had
medical attention heen afforded. TFive days after he was wounded the knee was
functioning normally but the long immobility produced by splinting the whole
leg was the sole cause of its present stifiness. He claime also for personal losses
caused by looting or theft of the German medical personnel of money and per-
sonal property, not military. The money stolen did not comprise any part of his
pay and allowances as a soldier, but consisted of private funds. He was, more-
over, wrongfully and exorbitantly charged for hospital accommodation and
ne cessities at Bruderhaus Hospital at Paderborn in Germany, and had to
expend money for treatment in Switzerland, These charges amounted to 2317.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:

Claimant’s case has been very ecarefully prepared and presented. It is
divided into three part=—1Ist, diability resulting from inadequate and improper
wedieal treatment; 2nd, los of personal property through looting while claimant
was in hospital, and 3rd, illegal charges for hospital accommodation whilst a
prisoner and money expended for treatinent.  Under the first head, claimant
confines his claim to the present condition of his knee, which has becone anky-
tsed, with serious impairment. of funetion. He makes no complaint as to the
rough treatment he received while wounded in the first days after his capture,
though the recital of his experiences, for which there is corroboration, forms a
~erious indictment of German methods and practices.  The complaint as to the
knee is that without reason it was kept in splints for fourteen months, when the
wound was purely superficial and non-penetrating. It may be said that such
treatmer? was necessary beeause of the hip injury for which claimant was being
treated, vhich vequired that the entire leg be incased in a plaster cast. 1 have
carefully considered this aspeet of the case and have sought medieal advice,
independently of the evidence of Colonel McCoy, C.A.M.C., presently to be
referred to. and have reached the conelusion that the trentment given claimant is
clearly imlefo;asib'y and is not such as may be ascribed to mere lack of judgment.
Heving regard tothe minor wound to the knee, care shoulld have been taken to
prevent the vers . ondition which was brought about by culpable carelessness
and negleet:  That elaimart suffers g disability as a result of this treatment
which he might not otherwise have sustained is, in my opinion, established by
the evidence.

Colonet McCoy examined the elaimant in England upon his return from
Germany in September, 1917, and found that “he was suffering from a com-
pletely ankylosed left hip, caused by a gun shot wound, that his left knee was
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‘partially ankylosed, although X-Ray showed it to hgegrfectly normal. 1In con-
“versation with Major Scott at this time, he related 01§ experiences to me, parti-
rcularly with regard to lack of treatment, and T recollect expressing the opinion
"that, had L2 received proper treatment at the time referred to, his left hip could
"have been set in a more normal position, also there was no apparent rearon for the
“ankylosed condition of the left knee.”

Cslonel McCoy examined the claimant in Canada in December, 1930, and

. found that-—

' There is no improvement in the left kneo since my first examination in 1917, although
proper treatment was continued, Major Scott informs e that his knee was in a plaster of
paris bandage, for fourteen months without being flexcd. I this is the ease, in my opinion, it
would appear to have been flagrantly neglected and the result has been to leave the kree

© permanently practically ankylosed, which condition, in view of the nature of the wound,
should not have been present had it received proper medical attention.

In his certificate, Colonel McCoy rates claimant’s disability in his own call-

ing at 80 per cent and in the general labour market at 100 per cent.  What pro-
- portion of such disability is to be ascribed to the knee condition, Dr. McCoy
" cannot, of course, say, but I am of opinion, that a part of the discomfort and
- disability from which claimant now suffers is due to the treatment deseribed.

As to claimant's second head of elaim—Iloss of personal property due to
looting, I must follow the principle Inid down in other ecases, that in the absence
of corroboration ns to the property lost and its value, the elaim is not made out.
On the third ground of claim, charges for hospital accommodation and money
expended for treatment T do not propose to make any specifie finding, but in the
gencral award to be made this circumstance will not be lost sight of.

Viewing all the circumstances of the case and having regard to the medical
evidence of record T am of opinion that claimant did suffer maltreatment whilst a
prisoner of war within the meaning of the relevant scetions of the Treaty of
Versailles, which has resulted in permanent disability to him. T would recom-
mend o payment to him of §2,000, with interest thercon, at the rate of 5 per
cent per annum, fron January 10, 1920, to date of payment.

FRROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.
Orrawa, October 5, 1931.

CASE 1867—J0HN McAULEY

The claimant was a Private in the 4th C.M.R., Regimental Number 405579.
e enlisted May 12, 19135, at the age of 24 years. He was taken prisoner June
© 2, 1916, suffering with a slight shrapnel wound. e was repatriated to England
December 8, 1018, He is not in receipt of a pension. IHe was married Sept-
ember 25, 1019, and has three children. Prior to enlistment he was employed
: with the Tovonto Structural Steel Company, carning approximately $18.00 per
week, and smnce bis discharge has been a machine operator with W, Neilson,
Toronto, at a wage of $30.00 per week.
. He alleges that.while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
¢+ which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of physical
abuse, and lack of medieal treatment to a broken finger with resultant present
_ disability, confinement and beatings.
; Analysis of the evidence reveals:
' Suffering from a slight shrapnel wound, elaimant was taken to Mannheim
and then to Dulmen camp. Iis only complaint here is that he was subjected to 4
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imoculations with resultant swelling and pain in the arm.  He was made to work
in the fields 17 to 12 hours a day with his arm in this condition, Food conditions
were verv had - From Dulimen he was sent to Engers, upon constrnetion work.
He was heaten on several oceasions for not doing all the work required of him,
but does not attribute any disability to these beatings. Tor attempting to
escape Be received, with other prisoners, a severe mauling, being struck and
knocked down with the flat of a sabre and kicked about the body and legs. Seven
days <olitary confinement was added to the punishment. IHe again attempted fo
escape the following vear, was reeaptured, and received anothor similar, though
not <o violent, heating. e complains that on one occasion, through an aceident,
in handling rails he broke a finger and reecived such poor medical attention that
his finger is permanently injured and so incapacitates him that he cannot elose his
hand.  He speaks of a ehronie condition of indigestion from which he suffers
severely,

The medical record indicates that elaimant sufiers from chronic indigestion
and severed tendon middle finger right hand with inability to use distal joint,
Dr. WXL Eby who testified on behalf of claimant. states it as his opinion that his
digestive condition has probably resulted from his period of underncurizhment
aud over work. ‘The tendon of the middle finger of the vight hand was apparently
cut through and not brought together. He states that had the finger been properly
treated, there would probably have been no disability, .

‘The injury to the finger was an accident, aud I eannot say, from the evidence
before me, that it is established that he was not properly treated, It is in
evidence that the finger was dressed by the eamp authorities, but T do not con-
sider that it can be said that error of judgment in the manner of treatment con-
stitutes maltreatment T do not find any deliberate intent to leave elaimant with
a disability which might have heen absent had he been better attended.  His
remaining disability is nutritional in origin and is insufficient to entitle claimant
}o u;} u\l\!'ur(l.' Viewing all the circumstances, I am of opinion that the claim must,
e disaliowed,

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commisstoner.
Orraws, December 9, 1931,

CASE 1868—DONALD HARRY LAIRD

The claimant was a Private in the 4th Canadian Mounted Rifles, Regimental
Number 112070, e enlisted January 14, 1915, ot the age of 21 vears. e was
taken prisoner June 2, 1916, severely wounded with shrapnel in the left log
and right hand. He was released to Switzerland in September, 1917, and reached
England September 11, 1917, He is now in receipt of a 30 per cent disability
pension, based on his wound, which amounts to $39.00 per month, Ie was
married in 1920 and has two children. Prior to enlisting he was engaged in
farming and since his discharge from the nrmy he has been endeavouring to
follow the same accupation. Ile does not state is income.,

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in peeuniary damage to him, He complains of negleet of his
wounds, with consequent infection, inadequate attention® in hospital, rough
handling, confincrient to dungeon for no reason, with resulting impairment to
his health.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:

When captured claimant. was seriously wounded with shrapnel in the ieft leg
and right arm. Ie received a field dressing from our own stretcher bearer and
Iny on the field about 6 hours before being picked up. He was taken to Menin
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‘Hospital but received no medical attention. He was removed by ambulance to

Iseghen Hospital, in Belgium, where he lay for six days without his wounds

“heing attended to. The wonnds became infected and finally an operation was
- performed, under partial anaesthetic. e remained at Iseghen about 10 days
;when he was taken by train to Ulich. His wounds were still bleeding and no
“adequate accommodation was furnished en route.  He then complains of roughness
"in the treatment given him, but was not subjected to any brutality or thrashings.
“After two weeks in bed and two weeks convalescence, claimant was sent to

Stendal camp, walking on crutches and supplied only with wooden shoes. He was

“in close confinement for 6 weeks and 1s unable to state for what reason. Lvent-
ually -.c was transferred to Switzerland as medically unfit. It will be scen that
- the maltreatment complained of is entirely confined to lack of proper medical
" treatment whilst a prizoner.

The nature and extent of claimant’s injuries are clearly shown in his medi-
cal record, and he is in receipt of a pension for the disability he sufiers. I do not
consider that claimant has established a case of deliberate maltreatment by
the enemy. That his treatment was delayed may have been due to stress of
work at the time, and claimant has not dumonatrated that had he received earlier
and better medical attention his disubility would have been less great. In these
circumstances, 1 am of opinion that the claim must fail. It is, accordingly, dis-
allowed.

ERROL M. MeDOUGALL,

Commussioner.
Orrawa, December 4, 1931,

CASE 1869--LESLIE PERKINS

The claimant was o Private {a the 4th Canadian Mounted Rifles, Regimental
number 109542. He enlisted in November, 1914, at the age of 19 years. He
was taken prisoner June 2, 1916, and from his military records was shell-shocked
at the time, although according to claimant, he oniv received slight shrapnel
wounds. He was repatrinted to England in December, 1918, He is not in reeeipt
of a pension. e was married in November, 1921, and has three children. Prior
to enlistment, he was at school and working with his father. He is now work-
ing as an order clerk with the White Fish Company, at a salary of $30 a week.

He alicges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of being oper-
ated upon without an anaesthetic and having to work in a boiler factory whilst
his hand was still wounded, solitary confinement, beatings, ete. He is now suifer-
ing from loss of hearing as the result of working in a boiler factory.

An analysis of the evidence reveals;

Claimant declares that he was slightly wounded in the hand and legs
when captured. His medical history sheet indicates that he had been shell-
shocked also, but claimsnt denies that such was the case. He was taken to

+ Dulmen camp. He cemplains generally of malreatment here and lack of

medical attention; also being compelled to work in a stone quarry when his

' wounded hand was stil troublin% him. He alleges that he was operated upon
|

s
N

and the shrapnel removed from his hand without anaesthetic. As a result of
this treatment, he sti!l suffers disablement in this hand. Before his wound
had completely healed hie was sent to work in a boiler factory. He complains
that he was not furnishied with proper ear stops to protect his ears from the
vibration and noise of this work and that, in consequence, his hearing has been
permanently impaired. This is the main grievance advanced by claimant.
As far as can be made out this occurred at Aplerbeck near Dortman in 1917,
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He deciaves categorieally that up till this time he had not suffered with his
ears, The prisoners went on strike hecause of_ food conditions, as a punishment
for vnich he was placed in a cellar, standing in water for 12 hours, wlngh con-
tinued for six davs till the prisoners went back to work. He declares his hand
wis well at this time. A further strik¢ took place and claimant got into an
altereation with an oflicer, who fell over a bench during the dispute. For this
claimant was badly beater. and left practically unconscious, and was -thrown
into a small cunboard where he was confined from 2 p.m. until 4 a.m, of the
following morning.  He was removed to Munster eamp, and, evidently as a result
of his trouble with the oflicer, was accused of mutiny and tried by Court
Martial, His account of the occurrence is very confused, but he declares that
he was told be was to be shot at Cologne on December 10, 1918, ‘This was
in Aucust or Scptember. 1 have the greatest difliculty in crediting this story
and elaimani has been unable to bring forward any corrohoration.

Although the medieal certifieate given by Dy, J. J. Matheson speaks only
of mmpaired hearing ws constituting elaimant’s  disability, claimant himself
complains of his nerves and stomach. Dr. Matheson, who appeared before
the Commission, speaks of the impaired hearing, also a nervous irritability.
He deelares that elaimant complained in 1919 of noises in his hoad. He thinks
this might have been eaused from working in a boiler factory ‘but agrees that
shell-shoek mov account for the trouble.

In view of the medieal record, 1 do not consider that claimant has made
ont a case of impaived hearing due to maltreatment.  This condition may have
resulted from zhell-shock; it may also have heen aggravated by the work
claimant was ealled upon to do. It would require much more specifie and econ-
vineing evidence than that given by elaimant to satisfy me that he was the
vietim of maltreatment which has resulted in measurable disability. The
claim must, secordingly, be disallowed.

ERROL M. MeDOUGALL,

Comnussioner.
Otrawa, December 9, 1931,

CASE 1870—ARTHUR JOHN SLOANE

The claimant was a Corporal in <he T'hird Battalion—Regimental number
9832, He eunlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 21 vears. He was taken
prisoner April 24, 1915, at the second battle of Ypres, suffering from shell con-
cussion, superficial wounds in the head and leg. He was repatriated to England
in January, 1919. e is single and in receipt of a persior of $22.60 per month,
for injury to hearing and sight. Prior to enlistment, he was a elerk with Keen's
Manufacturing Company at a salary of 214 per week, and since his dischnrge
he has been steadily employed with different concerns, his salary ranging i.om
$30 to 235 per week,

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in peeuniary damage to him. He complains of being placed
in a hut on the moors, stripped of most of his clothing and left there for five
days without food as punishment for giving cvidence in connecction with the
death of a prisoner,—also with being beaten with a bayonet until in a state of
collapse, and being forced to work in a condition of weakness and exhaustion.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

When captured, claimant was suffering from wounds in the neck, right side,
side and right side of forchead. He was also suffering from concussion, which
caused injury to his eye and ear, in respeet of which disabilities he is in receipt
of a pension. He was first taken to Qiessen camp where he requested medical
attention for his eyes and ears, from which he was suffering greatly. He received
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. no treatment whatever and complains that this omission has greatly aggravated
< his condition. Iie¢ was also beaten over the head with a pitch fork by a farmer,
- for whom he was working, and his injuries thereby further intensified. He was
~sent to Saltau, thence to Lichtenherst, thence to Langemoor, where he received
. the usual rough treatment. At the latter camp for giving evidence against a
* gergeant, at a court martial into the death from bayonctting of a British prisoner,
. he was privately removed to a hut out on the moors in March weather, badly
¢ heaten and left there for five days in the cold without proper clothing or food.
. He also received punishment for at{empting to escape and alleges that he was
 “tied up by the thumos for two hours u day.” This went cn for two weeks.
. His eomplaint, however, is confined to the injury to his eyes and ears through
* lack of medical treutment after capture.
, The medical record indicates conclusively that claimant’s disability from
- this latter source is permanert. ‘The percentage under his pension awnrd amounts
to 30 per cent. Dr. Herbert R. Iolmes, who appeared before the Comumission,
places the percontage of disability at 75 per cent in the general labour market
and 50 per cent in elaimant’s calling. He atiributes the origin of both troubles
to concussion which, from the history of the case, arose at or previous to capture.
He does say that had claimant received treatment immediately after the injury
his condition “ might not have been as bad.” Apparently the concussion veferred
to preceded claimant's capfure by some few days, and he received no treatment
therefor within our own lines.

In these circumstances, I have reached the conclusion that claimant has
failed to discharge the burden of showing that the disabilities from which he
suffers have resulted from maltreatment whilst a prisoner of war. The medical

" evidence does not sustain a finding that claimant’s impaired vision became
aggravated through lack of medical attention. His ease has been dealt with by
the Board of Pension Commissioners, and I do not consider that he is entitled
to an award from this Commission. The claim is, accordingly, disallowe.

ERROL M. McDOUGALIL,

Commissioner.
Orrawa, Drcember 10, 1031,

CASE 1871—GEORGE FRASER McALISTER

The claimant was a Corporal in the 15th Battalion—Regimental number
- 27510.. He enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 27 years. Ile was taken
. prisoner April 24, 1915, at the second battle of Ypres, unwounded, but slightly
- gassed.  He was repatriated to England October 18, 1918. He is not in receipt
_of pension. He was married in February, 1919, and has two children. Prior
to enlistment, he was employed with the Canadian Northern Transfer Company
of Toronto, at a salary of $75 per month, and since his discharge he worked one
mouth with his former employers at $95 per month, but was unable to carry
on and had to leave. Since then he has been head messenger with the National

. Trust Company, at a salary of $2,000 per annum,

He alleges thet while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him, He complains of having been
. struck on the head with a rifle, struck with a club on the right wrist, kicked
: and badly beaten, causing internal trouble; suffered from lack of food due to
. parcels being withheld as a punishment; placed in solitary confinement for assist-
¢ Ing others to escape. As a result of the above injuries the claimant asserts that
* his earning power has been seriously impaired.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

. . Yor refusing to give information desired by his captors the claimant was
* hit on the head and attributes a present impairment of vision to this incident.

PR D
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With others, he also veceived o severe beating at this time, a_pparcntly: for
declarving he was * Scottish ™ when it was ascertained he was with the Cana-
dinns. e was taken to Gottingen camp, thence to Munster, but has no com-
plaint as to his treatment at either of these camps. Transferrcd to Crefeld
camp, he was employed as orderly to some British officers. As a punishment
for his activities in assisting to build a tunnel for the escape cf prisoners,
claimant was sent to Celle-lager No. 2, where he served 14 days in solitary
continement on bread and water.  Ile escaped from a farm, at which he had
been sent to work, und got an additional 14 days on reeapture. Apart from the
usual rough treatment, which does not appear to have affeeted him seriously,
clainant has no complaints. - After a short time at Cutersloh cump, he returned
to Creield camp. He was beaten here, with others, as being implicated in an
attempted escape by oflicers. Schwarmstedt eamp, as a punishment was claim-
ant’s next experience. e deseribes this as “hell on earth.”  He was badly
peaten bere, evidently having acquired an unenviable reputation from his con-
neetion with several attempts to eseape by oflicers. Claimant is particularly
bitter in regard to the officer in charge, one Niemeyer, who went out of his way
to brutalize priconers at Holzminden.  Claimant assisted in a very daring
eseape of oflicers which wus suecesstul, During a beating he received here, in
attempting to proteet his head, he was heavily struck on the wrist.  For his
exploits on this oceasion he received the D.C.M., and several letters have been
filed from his commanding oflicer, Lt.-Col. Osborn, and other oflicers, testify-
ing to the high qualities of courage and devotion displayed by claimant. It is
only fair to mention that following the liearings in Toronto, quite unsolicited,
a letter was received from an oflicer who was present at the time. He discounts
the story told by cluimant, us it appeared in the Press, and hints that elaimant
was not telling the trath. In the face of the testimony of his own commanding
oflicer, and other officers, T am convineed that claimant told a straightforward
story of the part he played in the ineident in question. T was impressed with
the claimant him=elf and the manner in which his testimony was given. 1
~hould think aiso that the award of the D.C.M. bears testimony to claimant’s
meritorious service and entitles his statement to favourable consideration,

The medieal record indieates that elaimant has lost two-thirds sight of
right cve, partial tabout 1) loss power right hand, stomach trouble. Dr. L. B.
Clouse, who testified on hehalf of elaimant, doe:r not consider the stomach
trouble of traumatic origin, but is probablv the resalt of nervous strain. The
Impairment of vision is establizhed, and in Dr. Clouse's opinion could very
well have resulted from the blow on the head spoken of by claimant. Even
upon claimant’s admission of some pre-war weakness in the right eye, I feel
that the evidence justifies the finding that this condition beeame nggravated a:
the result of the blow on the head referred to. The weakness in the right wrist
1= also aseribed to a blow and  diminishes almost completely complainant’s
working ability for manual labour. Claimant is fortunate in his present situ-
ation as chief messenger for the National Trust Company, a position which he
seems capable of holding to the cntire satisfaction of hig employers.

Viewing all the cireumstances of this case I have reached the conclusion
that claimant was the vietim of maltreatment while a prisoner which has
vesulted in disability to him, chiefly as to his vision and his right arm. Quite
apart from any consideration which his case may receive at the hands of the
Board of Pension Commissioners, 1 am of opinion that he is entitled te an
award for maltreatment as a prisoner of war. 1 would, accordingly, recom-
mend a payment to elaimant of the sum of $1,000.00, with interest thereon, at
the rate of & per eent per annum, from January 10, 1920, to date of payment.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

OIIA\ Ny I'D‘CI‘lb(I aEI 1231'
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k CASE 1872—GEORGE BARTON

5 The claimant was a Private in the 3rd Batialion,—Regimental Numb-or
0872. He enlisted September 22, 1914, at the age of 35 years. He was tak:n
‘prisoner April 24, 1915, unwounded but slightly gassed. He wes repatriated to
.Iingland Dccember 31, 1918. He is in receipt of disability pension, based upen
‘bronchitis, amounting to §11.25 per month. He is unmarricd. Prior to enlist-
‘ment, he was a miner, ship’s stoker and steel worker and his last salary prior
'to enlistment was $10.00 per week, and since his discharge he has been unable
‘to get steady work. At first he was employed as elevator man at $20 per week,
‘but, at the time of the hearing, he was peddling eggs and some weeks he earned
as much as $7.00.

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of beatings
from guards while working in quarries and had breast-bone and ribs fractured,
injury to his left wrist and one finger on the left hand stiff.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was taken to Giessen camp, whe-e for refusing to work in a nickel
mine, with other prisoners, he was beaten. There is evidence that elaimant was
“suffering from trench feet before capture. He was made to stand to attention
for long periods but has no particular complaint as to Giessen camp. Under
court martial, he was placed in cells for a month and beaten by the sergeant in
“charge. In 1917 he was sent to the stone quarries at Rubiland and was badly
beaten for failing to do as much and as heavy work as required. An attempt
to escape, earned claimant a very serious beating. He and a fellow prisoner
“were set upon by o number of guards with sticks, bults of rifles and rubber
hose. His left arm was injured and he also complains that his chest was frac-
tured or buckled by a blow, which rendered him unconscious. Claimant is in
receipt of pension for his bronehial condition, and is quite frank in declaring that
he does not knov, whethier this condition resulted from his service or his treatment
as a prisoner. A statement made upon repatriation corresponds closely to the
story told by claimant hefore the Commission.

The medical record indicates that claimant suffers from neuritis, lumbago,
_seiatica, chronic bronchitis, haemorrhoids, varicose veins aund chronic gastritis.
With the exception of the bronchial condition, the Pension authorities found that
“the remaining disabilities were of a post war nature. Dr. Mortimer Fleming,
who testified before the Commission, spoke of the chest condition and deelared
that there was every indication of a heavy blow wnich had caused permanent
disability. There is a distortion of the whole of the chest wall. His pereentage
of disability is declared by Dr. Fleming to be about 30 per cent.

In these circumstances I consider that claimant has made out a case of
present disability attributable to his treatment as a prisoner of war. His story
~wag told with great frankness and T sce no reason to doubt its accuracy. The
§ Funishment meted out to him for his attempted eseape went beyond reasonable
“ bounds and eausz.a him permanent injury. Having regard to the general observa-
. tions contained in Opinion annexed to the present report, I would, accordingly,
- recommend a payment to claimant of 8500 with interest thercon, at the rate of
" five per cent per annum, from January 10, 1920, to date of payment.

ERROIL M. McDOUGALI,

\ Commissioner.
Otrawa, December 2, 1931,

414294
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CASE 1873—FREDERICK WEBB ROADHOUSE

The claimant was a Private in the 4th C.MLR.—Regimental No. 109569,
He enlisted April 7. 1915, at the age of 20 vears. He was taken prisoner June
-2, 1016, during the battle of Mount Sorrel. He was neither wounded nor gassed
during this engagement, but had a shrapnel wound in the leg, apparently from
some previous engagement.  He was repatrinted to England December 18, 1918,
He is not in receipt of pension. He was married at the time of cnlistment and
has one child.  Prior to enlistinent he was cmploved as a shect-metal worker at
a wage of $17.60 per week, and sinee his discharge has had various occupations,
chiefly painting, at whieh he carns 85 per day when working, bhut it is not
steady, and averages about £20 per week.

He alleges that while a prisoner of war e was subjected to maltreatment,
which has resulted in pecunizry damage to him. He complains of having had
to work in the coul mines for about two vears and suffered phyzical abuse. Made
four attempt< to eseape, snd was <o severely beaten after the last attempt he
was sent to the hospital for six weeks, 1ad to stand at attention from 17 to 18
hours daily without food or water: was thrown in a dark ccll for 28 days at a
time, four sepurate times, and suffered beatings with a hose, rifle butts and
bayuncts. Ilis car i< searred as g result of being struek with a bavenet. Ile
suffers from a heart condition as a result of Lis treatiment and cannot follow his
trade at sheet-metal roof work as he cannot ascend ladders,

An analysis of the evidenee reveals:

Claimant docs not give in detail the prison camps to which he was sent.
He appears to have made commendable hut unsuecessful efforts to escape on four
accasions and received severe thrashings upon recapture. From his military
record sheets, it would appear that these attempts were made from “Kommando
47" Westphalian conl mines.  On his third attempt he was treated with parti-
cular violence and beeame unconscious from the blows reecived, his ear was
almost torn from his head, and he was in hospital for six weeks as a result. He
suffered greatly also with hi= knee which had been injured on the same oceasion.
Four times he received solitary confinement of 28 duvs each. His statement as
to the beating yeeeived upon his third attempt to eeape is corroborated by a
fellow priconer, G, IV, Gregory, who accompanied elaimant on the acension in
question.  Claimant complains generally of his condition, weakness and impair-
ment to his health.

There is no medical evidenee of record—nof cven the usual certificate corti-
fying to elaimant’s condition and pureentage of disability.  The only reference
to his condition is contained in his military discharge record which declares that
the last medieal board from the CLELF finds “all systems normal ™

Were it not for the fact that claimant spent two years in the coal mines,
where the conditions wer» notoriously harsh and In utal, T would be unable to
reach a find ng in his favour, beeause of the absence of medical evidence
establishing cisability. In the circumstance, however, I am resolving the doubt
in claimant’s favour and I wonld recommend a payment to him of $700.00 with
interest thercon, at the rate of 5 per cent per annum, from Jannary 10, 1920, to
date of payment. . :

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioncr.
OrTawa, December 7, 1931,
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CASE 1874—ERNEST WILLIAM HOPKINS

The claimant was a Private in the 15th Battalion—Regimental Number
27487. He enlisted 'in August, 1714, at the age of 22 years. He was taken
prisoner April 24, 1915, unwoundeu. He is not in receipt of a pension. He had
been married in 1921 and has three children. Prior to enlistment he was employed
ae a clerk in a shoe store at $12.00 per week, and since his discharge from the
Army he has been with the Miner Rubber Company ag a <alesman at a salary of
£2,000.00 per yvear.

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complrins of having to work
in the salt mines for three vears and eight months from 12 to 16 hours per day, and
having been beaten with rifles and wire bound hose and kicked and placed in soli-
tary confinement, all of which resulted iv ill health and impaired earning power.

An analysis of the evidenee reveals:

Claimant was first taken to Gottingen eamp, where he remained for about
two months,  He complains generally of rough treatment, but does not attribute
any disability to the beatings he received.  Ile was then sent to the salt mines,
attached to Saltau camp. Tt is abundently elear that prisoners received particu-
Iarly harsh and brutal treatiment in the salt mines (See Case 1875). The worst
charges of maltreatiment come from men who were there interned.  The living
conditions are declared to have been atrocious, the working hours prolonged
beyond all reason and the food rations of the very worst. Men were beaten
beeause of inability to work from undernourishment, and the treatment meted
out in the mines, below ground, has been deseribed as inhuman.  In common with
other prisoners, claimant was subjeeted to this treatment, in varying degrees of
intensity, during the entire time of his imprisonment—three years and ecight
months.  Ilis worst case of maltreatment arose out of inability to work through
wenakness. He was struck on the head with a rock thrown at him by the German
guard, and his hearing has since been permanently impaired.  Other incidents
of beatings are related by claimant, but the blow ahove referred to is the
outstanding act of which he complains. He complains of gastrie trouble, that
he ix unable to eat meat, which condition he attributes to the poor food conditions
prevailing in the camp. His nervous condition is also the subjeet of complaint
and frequently causes him to lose time in his employment.  Claimant is fortunate
in having found a sympathetic employer, by whom allowance is made for his
condition and he loses no remuneration by reason of his absences through illness.

The medieal certificate discloses that claimant suffers from  bronchitis,
rheumatism of left wrm, neurasthenia and  symptoms of a  beginning  of
exopthalmie goitre.  His pereentage of dizability in the general labour market is
declared to be 50 per cent. The deerease in hearing in the left ear is also said
to amount to 50 per cent. ‘This documentary cvidence is confirmed by the
testimony of Dr, W, O, Simpson, who appeared before the Commissgion, and who
declares, from the history of the case given him, that in his opinion the disability
could result from the experiences related.

In this state of the record, 1 find, having regard to the general observations
contained in the Opinion annexed to the present report, particularly as to
conditions in the salt mines, that claimant, while a prisoner of war, was subjected
to maltreatment resulting in permanent damage to him, for which he is entitled
to a pecuniary award.

_Viewing all the eirenmstances, T would recommend a pavment to elaimant
of £1,000.00, with interest thercon, at the rate of 5 per cent per annium, from
January 10, 1920, to date of payinent.
ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
OtTAwa, December 7, 1931, Commissioner,
244
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CASE. 1875—ERNEST OSBORNE CALLIGHEN

The elaimant was a Private in the 15th Battalion, Regimental Number
27453. He enlisted m Aupust, 1914, at the age of 20 years. He was taken
prisoner April 24, 1915, at the second battle of Ypres, unwounded. He was
repatriated to England on December 24, 1918. He was in receipt of a pension
of 15 per cent amounting to $12.00 per month for about a period of § months—
now discontinued. He was married on April 6, 1921, and had three children at
the time of the hearing with another expected. Prior to enlistment, he was
with the T. Eaton Company, of Toronto, as an aceountant, earning $16.00 per
week and sinee his discharge has held various positions, at salaries ranging from
$25.00 per week to $200.00 per week, and at present is with the Cities Service
Oil Company. at $80.00 per month.

He alleges that while n prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of having been
forced to work in the salt mines, of heing beaten with rifle butts and wire bound
hose, kicked and generally abused.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:

This claimant furnishes a comprehensive and vivid picture of camp life
at Beienrode salt mines. It is a poignant story of savage cruelty and almost
inhuman brutality practiced upon the unfortunate prisoners who spent & part
or the whole of their captivity in this camp. The picture might scem over-
drawn-—so jueredible are many of the incidents recounted—but evidence is not
Incking to substantiate the story told, not only by other elaimants who under-
went the same treatment, but. also by the official report of Lord Younger upon
“Lmployment. in Coal and Salt Mines of the British Prisoners of War in
Germany,” presented to Par'iament in November, 1918. (See Opinion annexed
to the present report) That many men were able to withstand the treatment
meted out,—many did not—and come out alive is amazing and a wonderful
vindieation of the physieal strength and moral fortitude of those who did sur-
vive,

The present claimant was one of those who emerged from this punishment
camp with little to show for his period of inearceration. Apart from the loss
of part of a finger. aceidentally injured, and which was removed without
anacsthetie, he presents a healthy and fairly robust appearanee.  After eapture,
suffering from dveentery, he was taken to Gottingen camp, where no attention
was paid to his malady,  He was put to work in a stone quarry and was beaten
for being unable to do the work ealled for, In hospital for o week, he was
returned to work but was soon transferred to Celle-lager, thence to Beienrode
salt mines (parent camp Hameln). Put to work underground, half clad and
undernourished, for as much as 12 hours a day, claimant, with others, developed
salt sores or abscesses, which on oceasions were treated by being lanced and
filled with iodine. The treatment then consisted of being driven back to work
in the mines at once. Below ground, elaimant reecived beatings with bayonets
or hammers for not doing enough work. It <hould he borne in mind that the
prisoners were let out to civilian contractors with guards supposedly furnished
by the German authorities. Evidently these guards were bribed by the contractor
to force as much work out of the unfortunate prisoners as was possible. It
was a profitable venture for the contractor. It i< hardlv necessary to detail
the beatings and abuse which was heaped upon the claimant, It is almost
sufficient to entitle him to an award that he establi<h that he was in the salt
mines.  This fact he has clearly proven. He spent 3 years and 8 months at
Beienrode. ’
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The medical record indicates that claimant has lost the terminal portion
of the middle finger of the right hand, suffers from a marked nervous condition
which reacts upon his general health. His percentage of disability is stuted at
35 per cent. While claimant does not present the appearance of great nervous-
ness or impaired health, his family physiean, Dr. W. O, Simpson, who has known
him fromn boyhood, describes him as being a nervous wreck upon his return
from overseas, with twitching hands and spasms of the arms and face. He has
no difficulty in attributing this condition to claimant’s experiences as a prisoner
of war. Questioned as to the possibility that this condition might have vesulted
from service conditions, Dr. Simpson points out that clnimant had only been
about four months at the front when captured and was in perfect physical
condition upon enlistment, so that the inference is almost irresistible that his
experiences as a prisoner are the direct eause of his condition.

With this opinion I agree, and, having vegard to the fact that claimant
spent over 3 years in the salt mines under the conditions deseribed, 1 consider
that he is entitied to an awavd for damage to his health due to maltreatment
as n prisoner of war. 1 would, accordingly, recommend a payment to ¢’aimant
of $800.00, with interest thercon, at the rate of 5 per cent per annum, from

January 10, 1€20, to date of panyment.
ERROIL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner.
Otrawa, December 1, 1931,

CASE 1876—MAJOR LEONARD SEPTIMUS MORRISON

The claimant was a Major in the 3rd Battalion. He enlisted in August,
1014, at the age of 30 years. He was taken prisoner April 24, 1915, at the
second battle of Ypres, suffering with gunshot wounds in both legs, compound
fracture of the right and « flesh wound in the left leg. Ie was repatriated to
England June 14, 1918. He commuted his pension on September 1, 1930, receiv-
ing o lump sun of $300.00; He is not married. Prior to enlistment he was
engaged with his father in the Jomes Morrison Brass Mig. Co. Ltd. at a
salary of §3,000.00 per annum, and gince his discharge he resumed his employ-
ment, from 1920 to 1928, in the Brass Company, earning £€3.900.00 per annum,
and from 1926 to 1930, was with the Sun Life Company, on commission,
estimated roughly at about $3,000.00 per annum,.

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of lack of
medieal attention, man-handling while being moved to different hospitals,
kicked by German soldier while lying on a stretcher, expesure inducing ear
trouble and the loss of several teeth through lack of treatment.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:

Claimant is one of the few officers to come before the Commission. Taken
to Roulers, in Belgium, and later to Ghent, he received some medical attention.
At Crefeld Camp, to which he was removed, he complains of lack of medical
attention for an car trouble which had developed from catching cold through
exposure—standing in the rain for periods of an hour with inadequate clothing.
He does not complain of any particular brutal treatment and confincs his state-
ment of disability to ear trouble, which he ascribes to the causes above noted.
It appears that he had already suffered with his right ear in the trenches, and
his left ear has been faulty since childhood.

The medical record indicates that claimant’s incapaocity is due to weakness
of both legs and to defective hearing.
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From a earceful examination of the record 1 have reached the conelusion
that claimant’s disabilities must hé regarded as resulting from service. I do
not find any evigenee-=upporting id plea that maltreatment contributed to
claimant’s present disabled condition. In those circumstances, the elaim must

be disallowed. .
ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
OrtAawa, December 7, 1931, Commissioner.

CASE 1877—ARTHUR WILLIAM CANE

The claimant was a Private in the 19th Battalion—Regimental Number
766144, Te enlisted November 22, 1915, at the age of 20 vears. He was taken
orisoner June 21, 1918, badly wounded,— gunshot wounds in the chest, which
‘ouched the edge of the lung. He was rveleased on November 22, 1918, and
‘ound his way back to the British lines. e was at first in receipt of a total
dizability pension, receiving £60.00 per month, and is now receiving a pension
of $11.50 per month.  He had been married on September 6, 1926, and has
one child.  Prior to enlistment he worked in the shipping room of the Dominion
Paper Box Co. at a salary of 812.00 per week, and since his dizcharge has been
compelled to do outside work, driving a bread wagon, for which he carns an
average of $25.00 per week,

He alleges that whilst a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment,
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of lnck of medieal
attention, arduous work, under shell fire, close to the lines, starvation, kicks and
beatings,

An analysis of the evidence reveals:

The claimant was n prisoner for about five months, He was kept behind
the lines and received some medical treatment for his chest wounsds, He complains
that his wounds were dressed only every third, or fourth day and that paper
bandages were used.  He was three months in hospital and was then made to
work on railroad and eanal work, and was under shell fire from advancing
British troops.  His maiu cemplaints on the head of maltreatment are that there
was a shortage of fond and that he was compelled to sleep in the open in cold
weather. He did not reccive any particularly bruta) treatment, exeept the usual
rough handling while at work.  As a result he contends that a chest or lung
condition has developed which impairs his health. He moreover nscribes a
gastric and nervous condition to his experiences whilst g prisoner. The latter
18 said to have resulted from being compelled to work under shell fire,

The medical record is very meagre. A certificate of Dr. G. W. Carleton,
dated November 2, 1930, is produced  indieating an impaired chest condition
and some stomach trouble. Claimant is unable to do inside work, and is com-
pelled to work out of doors.

(,‘luinmnt_lms not made out a very zirong case. and were it not that we
have other evidence as to the inhumanity and eruelty of the treatinent given
prisoners who were compelled to work immediately behind the unes, I would be
disposed to .disnllqw the claim.  We know, hevever, that the conditions of work
and starvation, with frequent beatings from e.agperated guards, were such that
prisoners were in pitinble condition when they arrived at prison camps in Germany,
following their experiences working behind the lines, In these circumstances,
weak as the case is, I consider that elaimant je entitled to an award for impaired
hpalth due to malh_*enttpent. I would, accordingly, recommend a payment to
him -of $500.00,-with interest thercon, .t the rate of 3% per annum, from
January 10, 1920, to date of payment,

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Otrawa, December 7, 1931, Commissioner
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CASE 1878 —ARCHIBALD PETER CAMPRELL

The claimant was a Private in the 15th Battalion—Regimental Number
27454. He cnlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 32 ycars. He was taken
prisoner April 24, 1915, at the second battle of Ypres, slightly wounded and gassed.
He was repatriated on January 1, 1919. He is not in receipt of a . ension and is
unmarried. Prior to enlistment, he wus a shect metal worker, at a vage of $15.00
per week, and since his discharge has been employed with the Neville Cooper
Sheet Metal Works, at a wage ranging from $1,200 to $1,500 per year.

He alleges that while a priconer of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary “damage to him. He complains of having to
work three and one-half years in the salt mines with very poor food, suffers fron
nervous condition and a kick in the testicles which worries him and preys on
his mind to such an extent that he will not marry. Loses about three months work
per year on account of ill-health.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:

Claimant was taken to Gottingen camp, thence to Celle-lager. e has no
«omplaints as to these camps. At Beienrode salt mines, where he was sent and
remained for 3% years, he speaks of the conditions as very bad. In this he
corroborates the statements of other claimants who were held at this camp.
While working in the salt mines he was frequently beaten. 1In particular, and
this is the basig of his complaint, he was kicked in the testicles by a goard and has
sustained permanent injury, He was also struck on the hend on the same
oceasion and rendered unconscious. He was in bed for a few days but was
compelled to return to work. It is established by his employer, Edward Neville,
that claimant loses considerable time from his work by reason of his condition, for
which through old friendship, allowance is made. Tt is entirely probable that he
would not be kept on by any disinterested employer.

The medieal record indieates a number of ailments, including chronic
bronchitis, chronic gastro-interitis, high blood pressure and recurrent bilious
attacks, apart from the injury to the testicles. His percentage of disability is
rated at 30% in his own occupation and at from 25% to 309% in the general
labour market. His disability is said to manifest itself in a lack of ability to
concentrate and advanced absent-mindedness.  Dr. Mortimer Fleming, who
testificd on behalf of claimant, believes the testiele condition to be permanent
and declares that the repereussions of this injury upon his mental condition are
very marked. He worries over his condition and fears sexual ineapacity, though,
in fact, Dr, Fleming thinks his fears are groundless in this regard.

Evidence of maltreatment coupled with resultant disability is clear in this
ease. I have no hesitation in declaring that cleimant is entitled to an award
for maltreatment ss prisoner of war. The conditions and treatment at Beien-
rode salt mines ' ave been commented upon in the general opinion annexed to
this report and have also been discussed in other cases relating to this camp
(Sce Case 1875). 1 would, accordingly, recommend a payment to claimant of
$1,000.00 with interest thereon, at the rate of 5% per annum, from January 10,
1020, to date of payment.

ERROI M. McDOUGALL,
y Commisstoner.
Orrawa, December 2, 1931,
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CASE 1879—;ARCHIBALD C. McBRIDE

The elaimant was a Private in the Fifteenth Battalion, Regimental Number
27513. 1lle enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 21 years. He was taken
prisoner April 24, 1915, at the scecond battle of Ypres, sufferivg from gas. He
was repatriated to England in December, 1918, He has recently made applica-
tion for a pension. He was married in June, 1921, and haz one child. Prior to
enlistment, he was a clerk in the T, Eaton Company, at a salary of §14.00 per
week. e is at present employed as a clerk with Hydro Electriec Commission,
at a sulary of $§240.00 per month,

He alleges that while a prizoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which haz restlted in pecuniury damage te him. He eomplains that he was com-
pelled to work in ='t mines for three and one-half yvears with improper food
and when physically unfit.  He developed salt poisening and sustained a broken
noze by a blow from the 1=t »f @ Gorman under-officer. As a result of this
treatment he is suffering from neurasthenia and rheumatism, ete.

An analyvsis of the evidence reveals: '

Cluimant was slightly gassed when eaptured. He was taken to Gottingen
‘amp where, for failing to salute a German under-officer, he was struck in the
face and bis nose broken. He still bears the marks of this blow. Claimant was
then sent to Celle-iager and then had the misfortune to be transferred to the
ill-famed salt mines at Beicnrode where he remained for three vears and cight
months, working underground and being subjected to the grossest forms of
brutality and cruelty. As in the case of other prisoners in this particular camp,
he suffered intensely with salt sores o boils for which he received practically
no medical attenticn.  On two oceasio s he was severely beaten. Tn the summeor
of 1916 he was caught trying to get ‘nto the bread-line twice. e was brought
before the feldwebel, knocked down and badly kicked. On  another occasion,
at the time of the vizit of a high German official, the quality of the soup being

- particularly good that day. elaimant ventured to comment {hat, while the food

was better that day. it would probably be worse on the following and succceding
days.  As a result of volunteering this information he was later kicked out of
bed and all the way to the mine. placed in the deepest eave in the mine—about
& mile and a half from the shaft—and put at the heaviest work and kept there
for two or three hours after the other prisoners had been taken up.  As a result
of these experience he compiains generally of the condition of his nerves and his
stomach.

The medical record indicates that claimant suffers from neurasthenia, weak-
ened digestive system an' hacmorrhoids, and his nose shows evidence of having
been broken. Dr. Mortii r Fleming, who appeared before the Commission in
support. of claimant, declares that neurastheria is his main t:ouble. He has
rheumatism and several minor disabilitics. Dr. Fleming places the percentage
of disability at fitty per cent and speaks also of a nervous irritability of the
heart. The nerve cells are permanently damaged and no improvement can be
expecied.

While the evidence of permanent disability duc to direct maltreatment is
not strong in this ease, I have come to the conclusion, as in the cases of other
prisoners who had the misfortune to be sent to the salt mines, that claimant is
entitled to an award (Seec Case 1875). Viewing all the circumstances of the
case, and, having regard to the general observations contained in Opinion
annexed to tl3e present report, I would recommend payment to him of the sum
of $700.00, with interest thercon, at the rate of 3% per annum, from the 10th of
January, 1920, to the date of payment. -

: ERROL M. McD
Otrrawa, December 2, 1931, %2gﬁ,£;£?one,,
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CASE '1880--FRANK HALEY

The claimant was a Privite in the 15th Battalion, Regimental Number 27488,
He enlisted September 22, 1914, at the age of 21 years. He was taken prisoner
April 24, 1915, unwounded, but suffering from gas. He was repatriated to
England December 31, 1918, He is not in receipt of a pension. He was married
September 9, 1920, and has three children. Prior to enlistment, he earned about
£12.00 per week with the Riverdale Lumber Company of Toronto, and since his
discharge has been with the Dunlop Tire Company, of Toronto, at a salary
averaging from $18.00 to $26.00 weekly. '

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of having had
to work long hours in the =alt mines for three and a half years. Reccived a
gevere beating by four civilinug armed with clubs, so that he was he was unable
to move for threc weeks. He developed salt sores all over his hody-one of which,
in his hand, required an operation without anacsthetic. As a result of hix harsh
treatment he suffers from rheumatism, has stomach and heart trouble and a
nervous condition.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:

Suffering from gas when eaptured, claimant was taken to Gottingen camp,
where he remained for about a month. Ile was beaten here for saluting a
German officer with the wrong hand. e was removed to Celle-lager for a
short period and transferred to the salt mines at Beienrode for the remainder of
his period of captivity. As in the case of other prisoners, sent to salt mines, the
treatment he received was brutal. He was badly beaten on several occasions
for no apparent reason, but admits that he showed fight when attacked, which
probably gave occasion for excessive punishment. Claimant’s testimony bears
sut the allegations of his statement of claim. While unfit to work he was
compelled t< labour long hours underground under conditions of dampness and
lack of sanitation, resulting in rheumatiem and salt sores, and was operated
upon for the latter without anaesthetic.

The medical evidence indicates that claimant’s most serious disability at
the present time consists of rheumatism in the ankles and feet which causes him
to lose from two to two and one half months per annum. Dr, Mortimer Fleming,
who gave testimony in support of claimant, attributes this condition to his period
of internment in the salt mines. As to claimant’s other complaint§, chronic
bronchit’s, stomach and heart trouble, these may have resulted from the gas
from which he was suffering when captured. Claimant’s percentage of dis-
ability is stated at 20 per cent.

Having regard to the general observations contained in the Opinion annexed
to the present report relating to treatment in the salt mines, I find that claimant,
while a prisoner of war, was subjected to maltreatment resulting in disability,
for which he is entitled to & pecuniary award (See Case 1875.) Viewing all the
circumstances I would recommend a payment to claimant of $800.00, with
interest thereon, at the rate of 5 per cent per annum, from January 10, 1920, to
date of payment.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.

Orrawa, December 2, 1931.
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CASE 1881 -BERTRAM McCONNELL

The clmimant was a Private in the Third Battalion—Regimental Number
9806. He enlisted in August, 1014, at the age of 17 years.  He was taken prisoner
April 24, 1915, at the =ccond battle of Ypres, suffering from gas and had been
huried by a shell. e was repatriated to England in December, 1918, He was
in rm-vi];t of @ pension of £22.00 per month which he commuted and he l_ms
applied to be reinstated. He was marvied in July, 1924, and has one child.
Prior to enlistment, he was apprenticed to the eleetrieal trade. Has been em-
ployed fairly steadily as an eleetrician but is not employed at the present time.

He alleges that while a prizsoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of suffering
from the effeets of solitary conlinement, starvation, severe beatings and having
to work for 1} veubs digging trenches, standing in water to his knees, and that
he was finally sent to the zalt mines.  He iy now suffering from nervous condi-
tion and cezema, '

An analysis of the evidence reveals:

Claimant was taken to Gicssen camp and sent to work in a munition plant.
He refused to work and was put in cells for three weeks and beaten daily.
He was sent to Hakenmoor where hie was compelled to work in water up to his
hips and as a result he developed rheumatizm from which he still suffers. From
this camp he esezped, but was recaptured and received severe punishment. He
was tied to a post 4 hours in the morning and 4 hours in the afternoon, for 18
days, exposed to the sun. He also served 62 days in dark cells underground at
Celle-lager. He was then taken to Beienrorle salt_mines where he completed
his period of eaptivity. Ite complains here, ns do other ciaimants, of the harsh
and brutal treatment and of being beaten beeause, through weakness, he was
unable to do the work assigned to him. His testimony as to his treatment
before reaching the salt mines is corroborated by a fellow prisoner (Hyde, No.
1924).

The medical record indicates that claimant is suffering from chronic eczema
and neurasthenia,  His pereentage of disability is stated at 50 per cent in his
own calling and at 20 per cent in the general labour market. Dr. F. S. Park,
who testified on behalf of claimunt, was also a prisoner of war in Germany.
Dr. Park deseribes the condition of cczema compluained of and refers to it as
starvation adema, which was very prevalent with our prisoners of war. It is
evidently a disease due to a lack of fat in diet. Claimant’s medical history files
make no mention of eczema upon dizcharge. The condition of neurasthenia is
quite definitely present in elaimant, and Dr. Park has no hesitation in attributing
it to the conditions and treatment imposed upon claimant as a prisoner of war.

In these circumstances, having regard to the evidence of distinet disability
and the fact that claimant served a part of his period of captivity in the ill
famed Beicnrode salt mines, (Sce Case 1875) 1 consider it established that he
was subjected to maltreatment whilst a prisoncer, which entitles him to an award.
1 would, accordingly, recommend payment to claimant of the sum of $600.00
with interest thercon, at the rute of 5 per cent per ant uw, from Jonuary, 10,
1920, to date of payment.

: ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

_ Commuisstoner.
Orrawa, December 2, 1931,




K Ee gl o a e

MALTREATMENT OF PRISONERS OF WAR 59

CASE 1882—HILTON HOWARD HOWE

The Claimant was an Acting-Sergeant in the 4th C.M.R., Regimental
Number 113307. He enlisted July 19, 1915, at the age of 17 years. He was
taken prisoner June 2, 1916, suffering from a slight wound. He was released to
Holland Dceember 8, 1918, and reached England December 18, 1918. He is in
receipt of 15 per cent disability pension amounting to $17.25 per month for
self, wife and child, based on sinusitis, otitis media and Yronchitis. He was
married October 22, 1922, and has vne child. Prior to enlistment he was em-
ployed as a tool maker with Tudhope Motors of Orillia, Ontario, at a wage of
81850 per week and since his discharge is an Assistant-Superintendent at the
Toronto Transportation Connnission at a salary of $2,100.00 per annum.

He alleges that, while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
whieh has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of solitary
confinement, long hours at hard labour, beatings with bayonets, scabbards and
gun butts, deliberate destruetion of food parcels and lack of medical attention
which has resulted in permanent disability.

An analysis of the evidence reveals;

Slightly wounded wien captured, claimant was taken to Dulmen camp,
where he was in hospital five weeks. He has no complaint of his treatment
here, except as to tic food. He was then sent to Essen in the Rhur Valley,
where he remained till the Armistice, except during the periods of four attempted
escapes. He was the only Canadian or Imperial in the camp and seems to have
incurred special disfavour of the corporal in charge, one Fischer. This may
possibly have been bccause of his attempts to escape, particularly his last
attempt. He declares that he had very little trouble until he attempted to
escape. As a punishment, not only did he serve several sentences in solitary .
confinement, but he was unmercifully beaten by Corporal Fischer-and the guards
when he was recaptured, and several teeth were knocked out with the butts of
rifles. On another oceasion he was tied to a post and beaten. His wounded leg
was kicked with the result thdt the wound reopened. He complains that during
the flu epidemic in 1918 he received no attenticn for suppurating ear and has
sustained permanent injury. One particular feature, of which he complains

“bitterly, is the wanton and deliberate destruction of food parcels by the guards.

The contents of the parcels were thrown together and mixed in such a way as
to render them inadible and this at a time when the camp rations were entirely
inadequate. ’

The medical record indicates that clnimant is a strong, powerful man, some-
what under par. Dr. Cooper Cole appearced before the Commissicn on behalf
of claimant. It is his opinion that the imjury to claimant’s ear may have resulted
from lack of treatment as urged. In general, Dr. Cole considers that mal-
nutrition possibly hus reduced, to some extent, claimani’s vitality, but he only
places at five per cent the percentage of reduction in earning ability in ‘he
general labour market. '

Viewing all the circumstances of the case, and particularly the slight dis-
ability shown by claimant, and having regard to the general observation con-
tained in opinion annexed to the present report, I do not consider tha: claimant
has made out a case entitling him to an award for disability resulting from
maltreatment as a prisoner of war. The claim is, accordingly, disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

: Commissioner.
Orrawa, December 9, 1931,
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CASE 1883—JOHN McGIVERN

The claimant was a Private in the 3rd Battalion, Regimental Number
0472, He enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 44 years. He was taken prisoner
Ajpril 24, 1015, at the second battle of Ypres, sullering from a gunshot wound,
right buttock, slight wounds to the head and foot, and gas. Ile Was repatriated
to England in November, 1018, Ile was in receipt of a pension of 5 pes cent
which lie commuted. He hus 2n application pending for reinstatéments He is
unmarried. Prior to enlistment claimant was a bricklayer and glyeerine purifier,
carning around 827 per week. He s now employved as a janifor in the Civil
Service, at a salary of $1,120 per annumn.

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatinent
which has_resulted in peenniary damage to him, e complains of having to
work long hours, ill-treatment, exposure and solitary confinement, and perman-
ent injury a= the result of a kick.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:

Claimant was taken to Celle-lager No. 3 where he was in hospital for 3 or
4 maonths. For refusing to work he was given 7 days close confinement. e
wis transferred to Cettingen camp where he remained until May, 1916, As an
alleged measure of reprisal for tréatment of Cerman prisoncrs, claimant was
sent with a party to & camp in Poland—Libau-~where he was set to-work build-
ing a raised road.  For refusal to work he was punished by being made to stand
to attention in the sun and tied up to trees. Tle was beaten and particularly
complains of a kick in the left hip which fractured the bones and left him
unconscious for several hours. e received medienl attention but still suffers
considerable incapacity from this hip. He was laid up with it for several
months. For further refusal to work elaimant was_again heaten and confined,
and then returned to Germany to Dulmen camp. On his statement, of the
2,000 prisoners sent to Libau, only 600 survived to return to Germany with
claimant. At Dulmen elaimant has no particular complaints of maltreatment,
but when made to work later in coal mines he complains bitterly of the treat-
ment.  He, with others, was made to stand in front of the coke ovens for an
hour at a time for failure to complete the allotted tasks. As to his condition he
complains chiefly of his heart, nerves and asthme,

The medical record indicates that elaimant suffers from asthma, nerves,
disordered heart, poor digestion, hernia, constipation, haemorrhoids, sacral
ankylosis, chronie brights, seiatien, slow mentality and poor concentration. Dr.
W. R. Newman, who testified on behalf of claimant, nas furnished a very full
report. He emphasizes chiefly the asthmatie condition and the injured hip and
back, declaring the case tg be practically incurable. The former condition might
have resulted from the cffects of gas. The hip and back indicate a drawing
together of the bones. the hip bone, the sacrum and spine, which, he declares, is
clearly traumatic in origin. The healing of the fractured bones is in bad posi-
tion, evidencing lack of proper treatment. Dr. Newman attributes snme of
claimant’s disability to service conditions, but considers his treatment as a
prisoner as contributing considerably thereto. The medical history files, record-
ing an examination made on May 8, 1919, shows that claimant has no haemor-
rhmds_, no hernia, no \'nricocol_e,_mul it is probable that these ailments, set up
by claimant, are of post war origin. From an examination of claimant’s pension
ﬁ}es and a complete report by Dr. D. E. Robertson, confirmed by independent
X-ray of the Toronto General Hospital, it appears that claimant’s disabilities
have not been established as of traumatic origin; the statement has been made
that they are congenital.  In these circumstances, 1 cannot agree with the
medical evidence before this Commission., .
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In this state of the record claimant has failed to show that his present
disabilities result from maltreatment whilst a prisoner of war. The claim,
accordingly, fails, and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.
Orrawa, November 30, 1931.

CASE 1884—HORACE PICKERING

The claimant was a Private in the 3rd Battalion, Regimental Number
9859. He enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 20 years. He was taken prisoner
April 24, 1915, at the second battle of Ypres, slightly wounded in the knee and
suffering from a slight touch of gas. e was released to Holland in March,
1918, and reached England Nevember 18 of that year. He was in receipt of
a 10 per cent disability pension but commuted it in 1919. He was married in
July, 1921, and has two children. Prior to enlistinent, he was a clerk with the
Canadian Pacific Express, at a salary of 865 per month. He is now an agent
of the same Company, receiving $190 per month,

He alleges that while a prisorer of war he was subjected to maltreaiment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of having been
compelled to work in a stone quany, and for refusing to work was placed in
solitary confinement and compelled to sit at attention for 14 hours a day for
30 days—being subjected to kicks and abuse, and given insufficient food, which
treatment necessitated two operations for mastoids and left him in a highly
nervous condition.

An analysis of the evidence re. eals:—

Claimant was first taken to, Roulers, in Belgium, thence to Giessen Camp,
where he was punished for not working—30 days confinement in punishment
barracks. He was struck with rifle butts but without permanent injury. After
a short period in hospital, with kidney trouble, he was sent to work at the Iron
Works. He refused to do the work assigned and was beaten by the guards.
During this beating he was hit in the mouth with the butt of a rifie and several
teeth were loosened. Iventually he lost three of them. For feigning illness he
was placed in solidary confinement for 5 days without food. From Giessen Camp
lie was sent to Saltau, thenee to Lichtenhorst, and later to Hestenmoor. As to
the two former Camps he has no complaint. At Hestenmoor he speaks of
general rough treatment and lack of medical attention for an attack of pleurisy.
His next camp was Hameln. His condition was so enfeebled that he declares
he had 109 boils at one time. Claimant’s statement as to the loss of teeth
resulting from a blow is corroborated by one of his fellow prisoners (A.C.
Claverley, Case 2239). ‘

The medical record indicates that claimant suffers from ncurasthenia,
bronehitis, and loss of teeth. Dr. J. H. Speers, who testified on behalf of claimant,
declares that he has treated him for nervous and cardinc troubles, but is inclined
to regard most of claimant’s ailment- ns resulting from malnutrition. He speaks
of a bronchial condition, which, however, he thinks would probably result from
gas. Dr. Speers considers that the sriginal pension allowance of 10 per cent was
low and thinks that 25 per cent would be fairer. As to the condition of claimant's
mouth, the certificate of Dr. G. S. Paul is filed, indicating the absence of 9 teeth,
It became necessary to remove the remaining teeth. Claimant’s medieal files,
under examination made in 1919, contain the notation: “looks as if he Las come
through very strenuous times.......... e e former trade or occupation
cannot be resumed. ..., oL N :
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In this state of the record T have reached the conclusion that clr_limqn_t was
the vietim of maltreatment. whilst a prisoner of war, resu'ting in disability to
him. | would rezard ¢ mouth condition as divectly rezulting thcrcfrpm.
Viewing all the eirewnstances, and having regard to the general observations
contained in Opinton annexed to the present Report, T would recommend a
payment to eleimant of $500.00 with interest thercon, at the rate of 5 per cent
per annum, from Janiuary 10, 1920, to date of pavment.

TRROL M. McDOUGALL
Commissioner.
Orrawa, Docember 2, 1931,

CASE 1885—WILLIAM O. TINDALE

The elaimant was a Private in the Third Battalion—Regimental Number
0840. IHe enlisted in August 1914 at the age of 20 vears. He was taken prisoner
April 24, 1815 at the secoud battle of Ypres, unwounded but suffering from the
effects of gas. He was repatriated to Fngland in December 1918, He has made
application for pension. e was married in May 1921 and has two children.
Prior to enlistment, he was a mechanie with the Russell Motor Car Company,
at a salary of 820.00 per month. He is now working for himself, as a Customs
Broker, at an average =alary of $35 per week.

He allegez that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of being beaten
with rifles, Kicked with heavy boots, soiitary confinement and being forced to
work when physieally unfit, also permanent injury to back.

An analyvsis of the evidenee reveals:—

Clymant was taken to Roulers in Belginm and then to Giessen camp. He
was in hospital for 2 months with swollen lecs, contracted in camp. Taken ill
with searlet fever he spent a short period in hospital and was then sent out to
work at Oberlanstein on the Rhine. The work was too heavy in his weakened
condition and he was beaten for not performing the task assigned him. He was
hit on the back and still eomplaine of soreness and stiffness as a result of this

“treatment, - On another oecasion his thumb was badly injured by a-door-glamming-

upon it, which claimant is inclined to believe was done deliberately by the civilian
with whom he was working, At all events, theueh roughlv treated, no permanent
dizability has appeared to result from this incident. Claimant was later sent
to Bingen on the Rhine and complains that he contracted a severe cold from
being compelled to work in zero weather without adequate clothing, He dates
his bronehial trouble from this time. He was retnrned to Giessen and was pit
in punishment barracks for six weeks, He concluded his experiences in Germany
at Hakenbush on a farm. but hias no complaints as to his treatment there.

The medical 1ecord indicates that claimant suffers from marked limitation
of the movement of the spine due to elronie mmsenlar spasm, neurasthenia and
chronie bronchitis. His percentage of disability is stated at 35 per cent in his
own calling and at 106 per eent in Mie sencral dhour marked. D, Roy J. Spenee,
who testified on behalf of elaimant, declares that the X-ray docs not show
anything in the bone and attributes elaimant’s condition to possible on-coming
rheumatie and arthritic affection. e is inclined to think that this was not
traumatic in origin but probably resulted from under-nourishment, and over-
strain, particularly having regard to the possible cffects of searlet fever from
which elaimant suffered. e does not think his condition will interfere with his
present occupation as a customs broker.  The bronchial condition may have
resulted from the. ~ffacts of gas. ’
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Viewing all the circumstances of the ease I cannot reach the conclusion that
claimant’s present disabilities are the result of maitreatment while a prisoner of
war. e has failed to discharge the burden of establishing such a sequence of
cause and effect as will entitle him to an award. Ilis claim must, accordingly,

be disallowed.
ERROL M. McDOUGALIL
Commissioner.
Ortawa, December 10, 1931.

CASE 1886—THOMAS GEORGE TUCK

The claimant was a Private in the 15th Battalion—Regimental number
27508. - He enlisted in August, 1914 at the age of 24 years. Ile was taken
prisoner April 24, 1915, at the second battle of Ypres, unwounded but suffering
from the effects of gas. He was repatriated to Ingland in Decomber 1918, His
application for pension is now pending. He was married in 1920 and has two
-children.  Prior to enlistment he was a labourer earning $18.00 per week, and
since his discharge he has been employed by the Toronto Transportation Com-
pany as an Inspector, and is now in receipt of a salary of £35.00 per week.

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of being badly
beaten, being compelled to work in a metal mine for two months; being punished
hy having to stand to attention eight hours a day without food or water, and
also solitary confinement.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was taken to Giessen, and served at other camps, ineluding Saltau,
Lichtenhorst, Bohinte and on a farm. Me was al:o sent to work in a metal
mine at Holzappel near Frankfurt. He was in this mine for 4 months and his
complaint as to maltreatment is confined to a blow he received from a guard
who hit him with a miner’s lamp on the back of the head and neck. This was
for refusing to work upon what claimant regarded as munitions labour. He
now carries a sear on his head indicating that the blow inflicted a severe wound.
Sinee that time he has suffered from constant pains in the head and stiffness,
“which inicapacitates hitm. ~Claimant also suffers fromgall stones and-had-bron= -
chical trouble. While his other experiences as a prisoner were rough, he has no
particular complaint of maltreatment, other than periods of econfinement for
minor breaches of diseipline, poor food and bad living conditions.

The medical vecord indicates that claimant suffers from injury to his head
resulting in pains in head and neck, gall stones and hepatie colie.  His per-
centage of disability is deelaved to be 5096 in his own ecalling and 20¢% in the
general labour market. Dr. Thomas Kerr, who testifiecd on heball of elaimant,
considers that the pains in head and neck constitute elaimant’s chief disability.
The sear at the back of the head is marked and the condition observed may well
Lave resulted from a blow as deseribed by elaimant. Dr. Kerr does not anticipate
any improvement in elaimant’s condition.

In these circumstances I have reached the conelusion that elaimant suffers
some present dizability from the blow on the head which he received whilst a
prizoner of war, and that he is thereby entitled to an award on the ground of
maltreatment. 1 would, accordingly, recommend a payment to claimant of
$500.00, with interest thereon, at the rate of 5% per annum from January 10,

1920, to date of payment.
ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
- . Commizsioner.
Orrawa, December 2, 1931.
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CASE 1887—JOHN KENNEDY

The claimant was a Private in the 3rd Battalion—Regimental number 9683.
He enlisted September 22, 1914 at the age of 21 years, He was taken prisoner
April 24, 1915, unwounded, but zns_scd. He was repatrinted to England
December 27, 1918, e is not in receipt of a pension. He was married Mm‘_ch
10. 1921 and has two children.  Prior to enlistment, he was c_mploye(l as a silk
calesman, at a salary of 8§75.00 per month, :1'n‘d since ln.s (hs‘chargg !ms been
employed as a book-keeper with the Torento Transportation Commission, at a
salury of $2,000 per annum. ‘

He alleges that while a prizoner of war hc‘ was subjected to nmltrcntm_ent
which has resulted in peeuniary damage to him. Ie complains of physn.cal
abuse, insnfficient food, insanitary living conditions and exposure resulting
in impaired health,

An analvsis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant spent three weeks in hospital at Giessen and some further time
in camp where he has no complaints of his treatment. At Saltau, where he
was then sent, he complains only of being compelled to wear wooden clogs. He
was sent to Bohinte and made to work on the canals, and for parading sick, he
was beaten by the guards. Trom Bohinte, he was returned to Saltau and then
sent to Grossenweidenmoor.  Claimant complains of excessive parading, so
severe that he collapsed on one aceasion.  For refusing to work at salt mines he
was given 28 days solitary confinement on limited rations. Later while em-
ploved on a farm he was assaulted by the farmer. As far as the evidence goes
claimant does not appear to have suffered any disability as a result of his
treatment. .

The medieal record indicates that claimant is suffering from laryngitis,
bronchitis and neurasthenia.  Dr. Alexander Henderson, who was heard, rates
his dizability at about 357¢. He speaks alto of a right flat foot and deficient
teeth,

1 have heen unable to reach the conelusion that -claimant’s present con-

—-—dition results-from—any—particular acts of maltreatment at the hands of the
enemy. In common with all other prisoners, he must have and did suffer from
poor food conditions which, as explained in Opinion annexed to the present
report, was general and perhaps unaveidable in Germany. Claimant may or
may not be entitled to receive an award from the Board of Pension Com-
missioners.  Insofar a: hiz elaim for reparations before this Commission is
concerned, T am unable te grant him an award.  His elaimm must, accordingly,

be disallowed.
M‘/—-ERILO{M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.

Orrawa, Decomber W=1Ta1.

CASE 1888—ERIC R. SEAMAN

This elaimant was a Private in the 3rd Battalion—Regimental Number
9825. He enlisted 8th August, 1914, at the nge of 22 years. Claimant was
taken prisoner April 24, 1915, at the second battle of Ypres, unwounded, but
slightly gassed. Tle was repatriated to England December 27, 1918. He is
not in reeeipt of a pension.  He i= married und has two children. Prior to enlist-
ment. he was a elerk with the T. Eaton Company, earning $16.00 per weck.
Te is now employed as a translator with the International Stock Food Com-
{J):m_v, Toronto, at a salary of $35.00 per week and (apparently) oceasional

onu=es,
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He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him., In particular complains of
being made to work in a silver-lead mine, of numerous beatings, poor food, con-
finement to cells and general abuse.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:

Claimant was taken first to Giessen camp where the treatment was rough
but unacecompanied by any particular violence. Sent to a supposed farm, with
others, it was found to be a silver-lead mine at Holtzappel. For refusing to go
down the shaft, claimant was beaten and, eventually, without knowing just
how, found himself down in the—mine. ‘He was beaten by a guard and for
striking back was sent back to Giessen and three weeks solitary confinement.
Poor food and repeated beatings severely afiected claimant's mind. As a
student of languages, he was made an interpreter but still seemed to arouse the
antipathy of his guards, particularly upon an attempted escape from Vehnemoor.
Upon recapture, claimant was badly beaten with rifle butts, seabbards, ete.

The medical record indicates that elaimant, suffers from neurasthenia and
chronic gastro-enteritis. His percentage of disability is declared at 50 per cent
in his own calling and 75 per cent in the general labour market. Dr. Mortimer
Fleming, who testified on behalf of claimant, laid emphasis upon the neura:thenic
condition as reducing his ability to make a living. It is to be observed that
olaimant had a flair for languages and had hoped to become a teacher of French.
Due to his condition he has had to abandon this ambition.

Claimant is not in receipt of pension and was apparently discharged, “all
systems nermal”. It would appear to me that claimant’s ailment has been
progressive and that he now suffers a real disability, which may be attributed to
his experiences whilst a prisoner of war. His medical history files contain a
notation of gencral nervousness and debility with origin France and Germany.
In these circumstances, I have reached the conclusion that claimant was sub-
jected to maltreatment, whilst a prisoner of war, which resulted in disability,
[ would, accordingly, recommend a payment to claimant of $1,000.00, with inter-
est thercon, at the rate of 5 per cent per annum, from January 10, 1920, to date

of payment.
ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
T s T Comssioner, T

OrTAWA, December 2, 1931,

CASE 1889—CHARLES ALEXANDER GORDON

The claimant was a Private in the 19th Battalion-—Regimental Number
862958. He enlisted March 8, 1916, at the age of 24 years, e was taken
prisoner May 9, 1917, suffering from gunshot wounds in the left arm and the
left thigh. He was repatriated to England, January 1, 1919. He is not in
receipt of pension although he has had two appeals, both rejected. He was
married September 7, 1922, and has two children. Prior to enlistment, he was
employed as a Postal Clerk, at a salary of from $800 to $900 per annum, and
since his discharge, has resumed his position, with « present salary of $1,740.00
per annum.

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which resulted in peeuniary damace to him. He complains of lack of and
improper medical treatment oi ins wounds, improper food, having to work in
the salt mines where the conditions affected his hearing and cyesight.

An eaalysis of the evidence reveals:

Claimant was suffering from gunshot wounds in the left arm and thigh when
captured. He remained on the field of battle for-two days, before he was picked
up and taken to a dressing station, where he was inoculated. Removed to

14293
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hospital, his arm was operated upon, without anaesthetie. The bone in his leg
was also scraped to remove shrapnel, This was at Douai, where claimant
remained @ month. Ie was taken to Mons Hospital and underwent a further
operation to his arm.  An anacsthetic was used but it was not effective. He
complains of rough treatment during dressings, the use of paper bandages, and
infers that had he had better treatment his arm would have made a complete
recovery. He was next removed to Dulmen camp where he received further harsh
treatment in hospital.  He complains of deliberaie cruelty on the part of the
surgeon in charge.  Apparently he was receiving medical attention, however,
hecause he speaks of a drain te the wound in his arm. When convalescent he
was sent to Hameln camp, where he was sent to work on a farm.  His arm was
then “not o bad but still weak™: hix hip gave him no trouble. Here he attempted
to eseape, was reeaptured and sent to a mine at Eima. Exhibiting reluctance to
go down the shaft, elaimant was hit on the jaw, loosening three teeth. His com-
plaint is that the unhealthy conditions in the mine, intense heat, dust and pers-
piration in the eves has permanently impaired his vision., He received several
beatings in the mine, but they left no dizability that elaimant can remember.

The medical reeord indicates that elaimant suffers from chronic opthalmitis,
chironie tonsilitis, nose trouble and general debility.  His pereentage of inecapa-
ity is stated at from 20 per cent to 25 per cent in his own calling and at 50 per
cent in the general labour market.  Dr. Carlisle who certifies to the foregoing
appearcd before the Commission.  Te refers to a nervous trouble as the chief
trouble, witn the eve. nose and throat condition as secondary., He thinks these
conditions could have resulted from the history of the case as reported to him,
and attributes the impairment to elaimant’s health to exposure and mulnutri-
tion, but he does not consider elaimant as incapacitated in the work he is doing.
There is also filed a certificate of Dr. . D. Dickson, who does not find claim-
ant's disability as high ax does Dr, Carlisle,

Having regard to the general observations contained in Opinion annexed
to the present report, particularly as to the treatment accorded prisoners in the
salt mines, I am of opinion that elaimant hax made out a case of maltreatment
resulting in ome disability to him. 1 do not think that he has been successful
in showing improper medical attention, but viewing the case as a whole I con-
sider that he is entitled to succeed. 1 would. accordingly, recommend a payment
to claimant of $600.00 with interest thereon, at the rate of 5 per cent, from
January 10, 1920, to date of payment.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner.
Orrawy, December 7, 1931

CASE 1890—-HENRY RALPH

The cliimant was a fergeant in the 15th Battalion—Regimental ‘number
27660. e enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 28 vears. He was taken prisoner
April 24, 1915, at the scecond battle of Ypres, unwounded but suffering quite
badly from the effects of gas. e was released to Holland March, 1918, and
reached England January 15, 1919, He is not in reeeipt of pension. He was
married at the time of enlistment and had two children and has had two since.
Prior to enlistment, claimant was in the retail tobueco business in Toronto,
armng an average income of §30.00 per week, and since his discharge has been
employed as messenger with a Bond firm, at a salary of $1,300.00 per annum.

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of brutal treat-
ment consisting of beatings with rifles and being kicked with heavy boots,
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subjected to torture, being compelled to stand at attention for hours in the hot
sun, which resulted in the development of a very nervous condition, with stomach
and heart trouble.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant stopped briefly at Roulers then was taken to Giessen camp. He
received no medical attention for his condition. He speaks of maltreatment
at two camps, Overlandstein and Grossenweidenmoor. At the former, for refusing
to work upon munitions, he was badly beaten with rifle butts, hit in the jaw and
had a bridge broken off his tecth. As a sergeant, he appears to have received
treatment rougher than that accorded to the other prisoners. At the latter camp
for refusing to do the required work, claimant, with others, was declared to
have mutinied, and advised that they were liable to be shot. They were, in
fact, lined up hefore a firing squad and placed in great fear of the order being
carried out. As further punishment they were stood to attention, facing the
sun, from 7.30 a.m. until 6 p.m. with one-half hour for lunch. Claimant com-
plains chiefly of the condition of his stomach, as a result of these experiences,
with a minor complaint as to his heart.

The medical record indicates that claimant has a gall bladder condition
and suffer from an nortie systolic murmur. Dr. Jas. H. Tandy, who testified
on behalf of claimant, finds some digestive disturbance probably due to the gall
bladder, or an ulcerated condition, which may have resulted from “some serious
error in his diet”. He is unable to fix a percentage of disability, though his
certificate places the figure at 30 per cent. Claimant appears to be very fit
and is only incapacitated upon recurrence of the stomach condition. Dr. Tandy
is of opinion that the heart condition referred to may well have resuited from
the effects of gas which claimant suffered.

Claimant, who is a strong powerful man, appears to have come through
his period of captivity with comparatively little disability. I do not consider
that it has been established that his stomach condition is the result of maltreat-
ment at the hands of the cnemy, i the sense of the reparations provisions of
the Treaty of Versailles. Having regard to the general observation contained
in opinion annexed to the present report, it should be borne in mind that this
Commission has no mission to award vindictive damages and unless a claimant
establishes an impairment to his health attributable to maltreatment, he cannot
suceeed.  In the present case T am of opinion that claimant has failed to dis-
charge this burden. His elaim must accordingly, be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commaissioner.
Otrawa, December 10, 1931.

CASE 1891 —HAROLD ASHLING

The claimant was a Sergeant in the 15th Battalion—Regimental number
27420. He enlisted in August 1914 at the age of 29 years. I was taken
vrisoner April 24, 1915, during the Second Battle of Ypres, unwounded but
suffering slightly from gas. He was released to Holland in February, 1918, and
reached Englund November 18, 1918.  He is not in receipt of pension, Prior to
enlistment, he was employed as a carpenter, at the then prevailing union wage
of 45 cents an hour, for an eight hour day, and since his discharge has been
following the same trade, at the now union rate of $1.10 per hour,

He alleges that while a prisoncr he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of starvation, abuse
and unsanitary conditions. He was struck in the back and on the head with

1423-8)
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a stick and still carries the scar on his head. In fleeing from this attack he fell
down six steps and sprained his wrist, which still functions improperly. He
was obliged to work for three weeks in a canal, in water to the knees, as a
punishment for refusal to volunteer for work and had to stand at attention
daily for two weeks from 6 a.m. till 7 pm. e now suffers from chest, stomach
and nerve disorders.

An analvsis of the evidence reveals:—

The claimant spent his period of eaptivity in the following camps: Got-
tingen, Cassel, Saltau, Langenlager, Bohinte, Muzzenburgmoor and Hameln.
The ill-treatment alleged in the foregoing smmmary of his statement of claim
is borne out by his verbal testimony, particularly in regard to the circumstances
of the injury to his wrist, which constitutes a disability in his calling of car-
penter.  He relates the instance of having had to stand to attention and the
working in water which oceurred at Bohinte.

The medieal record indicates that claimant suffers from neurasthenia,
chronic gastro-enteritis, general weakness and limitation of movement of the
right wrist. Iis percentage of disability 1s leclared at 50 per cent. Dr. Mortimer
Fleming, who testified on behalf elaimant, emphasizes the nervous and gastric
conditions, which lie attributes to insufficient and improper food.

Having regard to the general observations contained in opinion annexed
to the present report, I have reached the coneiasion that the injury to claimant’s
wrist, which still continues to disable him, in part may be ascribed to maltrcat-
ment whilst a prisoner of war. His other ailments, which are general, do not,
I consider come within the purview of the present enquiry. They may or may
not entiv.e claimant to consideration from the Board of Pension Commissioners.
On the w! le, T would recommend a payment to claimant of $500 with interest
thereon, at the rate of 5 per cent per annum, from January 10, i22v, w date of

payment,
ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.
Orrawa, Yovember 30, 1931,

CASE 1892—DANIEL DOUGLAS

The claimant was a Private in the 15th Battalion—Regimental number
28017. He enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 24 years. He was taken
prisoner April 24, 1915, at the battle of St. Julien. suffering from gunshot wound
in the right leg and was gassed. He was released January 1, 1919, and reached
Englund the 13th of that month. He is in reeeipt of a 50 per cent disability
pension, amounting to $57.50 per month, based on heart trouble. It is noted
that his medical history sheet discloses that he had cardiac trouble in infancy
but outgrew it. He was married August 25, 1920, and has one child. Prior to
cnlistment, he was employed as a clerk in the Mail Order Department of the
Robert Simpson Co. Limited of Toronto, at a salary of $10 per week, and since
his discharge ke worked as a street car conductar in Toronto at a wage of 60c.
an hour, averaging $70 cvery two weeks. He was laid off on account of ill-
health, and was unemployed at the time of the hearing.

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreat nent
which resulted in pecuniary damage to him, He complains of the usual ill-
treatment, blows from fists and rifle butts, heavy labour, solitary confinement
and being made to work when unfit. ’

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was wounded in the right leg and suffering from the effects of
gas when capturcd. He declares the only medical treatment was the administra-
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tion of a pill. He was taken to Saltau camp, where he complains of being kicked
in the spine, and suffered from this injury for some time, but was compelled to
continue working dragging heavy waggons. He was eight months at this work.
Still suffering from the effects of gas he was kicked and beaten. Giessen was
the next camp to which claimant was sent. Here for refusing to work upon
munitions he was placed in solitary confinement for six months, and generally
beaten about with rifles. He was then transferred to Frankfort-on-Main, where
he was beaten about the legs with a lash till the flesh was cut, because of failure
to work through exhaustion. Claimant was then sent to Stadorf in Hanover
where he was cut with a bayonet, and stabbed in the side for similar refusal to
work. At Slopenstead where claimant was then sent, he was beaten and his
clothes torn off him by eivilians and soldiers for refusing to work. He was
kicked down stairs with a blow in the face from a guard and broke his arm and
was compelled to go to work before the bones had mended. He declares his
heart condition, of which he chiefly complaing, first hecame evident about one
vear after he was in Germany. The continued hard work nggravated the con-
dition. He has lost time from his work and is now unemployed, having to
relinquish his post with the Toronto Transportation Commission through ill-
health. ;

The medieal record indicates a condition of angina pectoris and myocar-
ditis. His percentage of disability is stated at 50 per cent in hig own calling
and at 75 per cent in the general labour market. His penzion record would
appear to establish that eclaimant’s condition is progressively deteriorating.
FFrom 20 per cent in 1921, he was rated at 30 per cent in 1923, and at 50 per
cent in 1930. Dr. Mortimer Fleming, who testified on behalf of claimant, speaks
of this heart condition as of a very serious and advanced nature—which may
carry him off at any moment. It is ascribed to worry, physieal and emotional
strain, which may very well have resulted, in part at least, from his experience
while & prisoner of war. Gas may also be o contributing factor.

Claimant is undoubtedly disabled, and I have reached the conclusion from -
a study of the case that some, at least, of this disability may be traced to his
treatment whilst n prisoner of war. Having regard to the general observations
contained in the Opinion annexed to the present report, and the pension which
claimant now receives, I would recommend payment to him of $800.00 with
interest thereon, at the vate of 5 per eent per annum from January 10, 1920, to
date of payment.

ERROL M. MeDOUGALL,
Commissioner.
Orrrawa, November 30, 1931,

CASE 1893—WILLIAM LANGFORD

The claimant was a Private in the 3vd Battalion—Regimental number
9220. He enlisted in August 1914 at the age of 23 vears, He was taken prisoner
April 24, 1915, during the battle of St. Julien, unwounded, but suffering slightly
from gas. He was repatriated to England January 13, 1919. He is not in
receipt of pension. He was married September 6, 1921, and has two children.
Prior to enlistment, he was employed as a street ear motorman in Toronto,
averaging about 840.00 every two weeks, and since his discharge has been with
the Winnipeg street railway, at 50 cents an hour, the Toronto street railway at
65 cents an hour, and recently, driving a truck, at $20.00 per week.

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complaing of having had
to work” approximately three vears digging ditches, standing in water most of
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the time. Was struck in the baek with a ritle butt and had his leg broken during
a cave-in while working in the quarry. He received no medieal attention and
the leg was sct by hiz chums. |t appears to be well now. e then had to
andergo solitary confinemient for 14 davs, as punizhment for refusal to work
while unable. e then did 28 days confinement immediateiy after, As a result
of this treatment, he states he has nervous trouble snd stomuch_dizorders, which
impar Liis carning power, .

An analysis of the evidenee reveals;—

Claimant was taken to Gicssen, where he reecived a blow from the butt of
a rifle which injured him temporarily, but which left no ill effects, At a stone
quarry, where elaimant was sent to work, he broke his leg. as the result of a
rave-in, and reeeived no medieal attention.  The leg waz set by his comrades
aned he declares no disability has resulted from this accident. For refusing to
work, he was given 28 day= solitary confinement, and was compelled to sit on a
stool for hours at a time, with his legs wired to the stool. Claimant was then
sent to Vehnemoor and Os<tenholzenmoor. remaining at the latter camp for 24
yvears and was compelled to work in water, luyving pipe. for long hours. As a
result-of-these expmriom'os.—cluimant-wumpinins_oLnorvuusmnrl_-gast.xtic-troublcs
whieh impair his working capaeity,

The medieal record i< not very definite in this case, It indicates that
claimant suffers from chronie gastro enteritis, wsthms His percentage of dis-
ability is stated at 50 per cent. Dr. Mortimer Fleming, who testified on behalf
of elaimant, was unable to add mueh to the general statement of claimant’s
condition.  He speaks of a nervous condition and declares that the patient is
under par, but admits there is no direet evidence of stomach trouble, but what
there i might very well have been due to the cffects of gas, from which claimant
was suffering when eaptured, ‘

In these circumstances, 1 am compelled to find that claimant has not made
out a case of impairwent to his health due to maltreatment whilst a prisoner of
war.  Such disability as may exist is, at most, axcribable to general conditions
of camp life in Germany. The elaim. in my opinion, if disability can be shown,
is one for the consideration of the Board of Pension Commissioners. 1t must,
accordingly, be disallowed. )

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commts:loner.
Orrawy, December 10, 1931,

CASE 1894—JAMES BLACK FARNELL

The elaimant was a Private in the Thind Battalion --Regimental number
9193.  He enlisted in August 1014, at the age of 20 years. He was taken prisoner
April 24, 1915, unwounded but suffering slightly from gas.  He was released
November 15, 1918, and repatriated to England on November 27. At first he
wis in receipt of a 10 per cent disability pension which he commuted in 1920
for $400.00. It appears to be now remstated, Class 19, based on myalgia
arthritis. He was married May 24, 1920, and has two children, Prior to enlist-
ment he was emploved as a freight cheeker with Canada Steamship Lines Ltd.
at a salary of $60.00 per month, and since his discharge has been floor foreman
for the Canadian Carbop Company, at a salary of $190.00 per month.,

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment,
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of injury to his
right knee and lip when a dump car was pushed against him by a German civilian,
‘knacking him down an cmbankment. Also suffered bad beatings when ill, and

was forced to work while medically unfit. Complains also of permanent injury
to his back.
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An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was takon to Dedeseim camp, where he worked upon railway con-
struction.  While so engaged he complaing that a-German civihan-pushed-a ear—
towards him, and in the effort to escape having his legs run over he swung to
nne side, falling down a three or four foot embankment. As.a result his knee ws
damaged and he sustained injury 16 his back, from both of which injuries hestiil
suffers.  Claimant very frankly admits in his evidenee that this incident may
have been an accident, althougl: in his sworn statement it is asceribed to deliberate
intent on the part of the guard. Claimant's main complaint is that he did not
receive proper medical attention for these injuries, with the result that permanent
disability has remained. He speaks of beatings received when he asked for
treatment. Later also he alleges beatings at Geisweid Iron Works, but apparently
the gravamen of the charge against his eaptors is for lack of medical treatment
to his injured knee and back. .

The medical record indicates permanent injury to the knee and pain over the
region of the right lumbar dorsal. In addition to his affidavit, Dr. D. C. Bastow
appeared before the Commission but was unable to ascribe claimant’s present

_conditijon to kis experiences as a prigoner. He declares there is nothing outstand-

|

ing in the case, that claimant could not do hard manual Tabour but is guite abilc
to carry on with hig then employment, which consisted of supervising as floor
foreman in the plant of the Canadian Carbon Company. In he general labour
market his percentage of disability is rated at from 256% to 35%.

I regard this case as one for the Board of Pension Commissioners, The
injuries of which claimant complains were probably the result of an accident
and have not been shown to have been caused by any particular maltreatment.
The beatings alleged have left no impairment to claimant's general health. On
the whole, therefore, having regard to the general observations contained in the
Opinion annexed to the present report, I must disallow the claim.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commuisstoner.
O1tAwA, December 7, 1931.

CASE 1895—J. G. BAKER

The claimant was a Corporal in the 3rd Battalion—-Regimental number 9159.
He enlisted September 22, 1914, at the age of 16 and was taken prisoner Apiil 24,
1915, at the second battle of Ypres, suffering from shrapnel wounds. He is not in
receipt of pension. He was released March 19, 1918, on an exchange of nun-
commissioned officers. He was married in 1922 and has three children. Prior to
enlistment, he was attending High School and since his discharge has been doing
customs work for the Canadian General Electrie, at a salary of $195 per month,
and a monthly allowance of $30 on his car.

He alieges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of bronchial
trouble due to exposure, stomach trouble from insufficient food, fallen arches
from wearing wooden clogs and a general nervous condition. He was beaten on
several occasions.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:— ,

Claimant was taken to Giessen camp.. He complains of lack of medical
ireatment for his wound during four days but declares that when he was attended
the trentment was good. Before he was fit to do so, he was sent to Dedeseim on
canal work, where, for refusing the assigned task he was beaten and clubbed with
rifles.  As a non-ccinmissioned officer, he was not compelled to work, but for
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failing to volunteer to do so, he, with others, was punished by being made to wear
wouden clogs parading around the prison enclosure for six and cight hours « day.
To this treatment he uttributes fallen arches from which he ucw suffers. He was
beaten for sitting down to yest during one of these parades. He was badly beaten,
when recaptured, after an attempt to escape.  He was returned to Giessen camp
and served time in solitary confinement.  He was lafer sent to Saltau and to
Bohinte, which he deseribes as the worst camp he was in, Ie was repeatedly
beaten here and made to stand on parade Jor long hours. The parcels werc
denied to prisoners and he was nracti rally starved  He complains of the condition
of his nerves, a bronehial condivon and tat feet, as a result of these experiences.

The medical record discloses that claimant hag lost weight and in addition
to the ailments above mentioned, has some kidney trouble. Dr. L. A. Pequenat,
who appeared before the Commission, was very frank in declaring that a large
part of claimant’s disability is of post-war origin. He cannot distinguish between
disabilities resulting from serviee and imprisonment but considers that claimant’s
general physical condition is impaired, possibly to the extent of 40% in the general
labour market and 20% in his own work, which is clerical in nature,

Claimant was quite young when captured and there can be r.o question that
he hias suffered from under-nourishment and excessive work, I o not think that
the particular acts of maltreatment to which he alludes have, in themselves, left
any very great physical disability. but 1 do think that his general health was
affeeted by the strain and continual fear of punishment. LFor the veasons stated
in Opinion annexed to the present report, T find that claimant has established
some disability resulting from maltreatment. Viewing all the circumstances of
the ease. 1 would accordingly, recommend payment to claimant of the sum of
$500. with interest thereon. at the rate of 5% per annum, from January 10, 1920,
to date of payment.

ERROL M. MeDOUGALL,

Conmmissioner.
Otraws, Decembor 2. 1931,

CASE 1896—CLIFFORD ROSS WILKING:

The claimant was o Private in the 15th Battalion—Regimental number
27136.  He enlisted in August 1914 at the age of 19 years. He was taken
prisoner April 24, 1915, at the second battle of Ypres, unwounded but suffering
from the effeets of gas. He was repatriated to Englond in December 1918. In
1922 he was in receipt of 100 per cent disability pension for a lung eondition,
but at present he is receiving 25 per cent. vielding 23500 a month for wife and
family. He was married in 1921, and has three children. Prior to enlistment,
he was in receipt of £15.00 per week, working for a Contractor at Centre Island,
At the present time he is a seasong! eaiplovee with the City of Toronto, 'em'ning
for 8 months of the year $32.40 a woek: ior the remaining 4 months he is without
employment.

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. e complains of lack of
medical attention, heavy lahour, repeated blows and being sent to work in the
salt mines for 3% vears,  This treatment, he alleges, has resulted in il health and
impaired earning power.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:——

Claimant was taken to Gottingen Camp, where he receive
drawing a mattress from stores, which, apparently he was not
After a short time at Celle-lager, he

d a beating for
. supposed to have.
was sent to the ill famed salt, mines at
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Beienrode (parent camp Hameln). In 1915 he was beaten over the head for
refusing to accept pay for the work he had been doing. His hearing has never
been the same as a result of this blow. He was also tied to a post exposed to the
sun in the morning and again in the afternoon and sent to work at night on a
12 hour shift. This was for failing to give information as to 2 Russian prisoners
who had eseaped. While suffering from pneumonia, not only did he receive no
medical attention, but he was driven to work. He fainted and was put in
confinement and when able to move was again put to work moving iron and other
heuvy material. He spenks generally of the rough and brutal treatment in the
snlt mines, as to which there is a wealth of corroborative evidence in the evidence
of other prisoners at this mine. (See Case 1875). He testifies that he spent 2
vears and 8 months in the salt mincs, which is not the period stated in his original
claim, 34 years, but his presence there for a lengthy period is clearly established.

The medical record indicates that claimant suffers from chronic bronchitis,
general debility, deafness, rapid heart action and an arrested pulmona.y condition.
His pereentage of disability is stated at 75 per cent. Dr. Roy 1. Manion, who
testified on behalf of claimant, speaks alsc of a neurasthenic condition. The
deafness, of which claimant complains, appears to he progressive and Dr. Manion
does not think there can be anv improvement. He expresses the opinion that
claimant’s condition has resulted from his experiences as 2 prisoner and attributes
the pulmonary condition to overwork, malnutrition and poor living conditions,
but admits that the offects of gas may be a contributing factor. He expeets no
improvement in this condition.

In this state of the record, it is elear that claimant has made out a case of
disability rcsulting from: maltreatment whilst a prisoner of war, for which,
independently of the pension he receives, I consider that he iz entitled to sn
award. As stated in other cases, those claimants who had to endure the brutal
treatment of the salt mines, have aimost all come out impaired in health.
Claimant. is no exception. [ would, accordingly, recommend a payment to
claimant, of $1,000.00, with iuterest thereon, at the rate of 5 per cent per annum,
from January 10, 1920, to date of payvment. :

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
. Commissioner.
Ortawa, December 2, 1931,

CASE 1897—ARCHIBALD TAYLOR

The claimant was a Private in the 3rd Battalion—Regimental number 9837.
He enlisted in August 1914 at the age of 24 years. He was taken prisoner April
24, 1915 at the sccond battle of Ypres, suffering from a gunshot wound in the
back just above the right hip. He was repatriated to England December 12,
1928. He is in receipt of . 40 per cent disability pension, amounting to $30.00
per month based on defective hearing, loss of part of the middle and ring fingers
of the right hand and the gunshot wound in the back. He is unmarried. Prior
to enlistmment, he was employed with the T. Eaton Company of Toronto, at a
salary of $12.00 per week, and sinee his discharge has resumed work with his
former employers as parcel inspector, at $22.00 per week.

He alleges that, while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of having had
to work 14 or 15 hours daily as a bricklayer and had two fingers on his right
hand badly crushed and amputated. Lack of medical attention wnile suffering
from wounds develuped a cold which, due to neglect, resulted in deafness.
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An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant deelares that he lay on the field of battle for 36 hours, and, when
picked up, had a very heavy cold for which he was refused treatment. He was
taken to Celle-lager and sent out as a labourer. While working upon a brick
making machine two fingers of his right hand were badly smashed and mangled,
necessitating their amputation two davs later. He complains that he (h.d not,
receive prompt medical attention for this wound.  Claimant has no particular
complaint, as to bratality or violence and confines his grievances to lack af
treatment for his cars and fingers. In addition he deelares that the hours of
work were o long. A« to the impairment to his hearing, e'aimant admits that
thi= may have had its origin throngh the econcussion of shell explosions. He
declares also that he attributes this condition to the long hours standing at work.
He insists that this trouble first became evident in the German hospital, but his
medical history file indicates quite clearly that trouble with his ears was-noted
prior to capture, viz, in March 1915; the place of origin being stated as “France”
and the cause “infection”; following a severe cold. The loss of claimant’s fingers
was the resuit of an aceident and there is nothing in the record to establish
maltreatment, either as to origin or treatment, for the injury.

The medical record indicates that elaimant suffers from neurasthenia and has
lost the third and fourth fingers of the right hand. His percentage of disability
is stated at 50 per cent.  Dr. Mortimer Fleming, who testified on behalf of
claimant, merely spoke generally as to his nervous condition, noted the loss of
two fingers, confirmed the defective hearing and was of opinion claimant’s
condition would not improve.

As will appear from the foregoing, elaimant has quite failed to establish that
his impaired hearing results from maltreatment whilst a prisoner of war. The
condition of his hand was the result of an accident, I am of opinion that the
claim is one properly for the Board of Pension Commissioners, They have dealt
with the case and T cannot find that claimant is entitled to an award from this
Commission. The claim is, accordingly, disallowed,

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Orrawa, December 7, 1931, Commissioner.

CASE 1898—WILLIAM WALKER

The claimant was a Private in the Princess Patricia Canadian Light
Infantry—Regimental Number 100. He enlisted on the 24th August, 1914, at
the age of 32. He was taken prisoner 8th May, 1915, wounded in the rignt
side with a l)_nyonet: He was repatriated to England on the 5th December,
1918. He is in receipt of a 30 per cent disability pension, amounting to $39
per month, based upon “Pulmonary T.B. and Sinusitis’. He is married and Las
two children.  Prior to enlistment, he was a carpenter and hardwood floor
finisher, at the then prevailing rate of pay of 50 cents per hour. He is now
cmplnyc.d as a messenger with a Trust Company, at 2160 per month.

Claim:nt alleges that whilst a prisoner of war he was subjected to mal-
treatment which has reeulted in pecuniary damage to himi. He states that
whilst ill h> was forced to £o to work and complains of the long hours, heavy

lubour, be:}tipgs and general abuse. For an attempted escape he was beaten
and had his jaw smashed,

An anclysis of the cvidence reveals:—

Claimant was taken to Giessen camp, where he received medical attention
for his wounds. He was then sent out to a working party at the Geisweid Iron
Mines. He attempted to eseape, was recaptured and brutally beaten by guards,
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his jaw broken and several teeth knocked out. He was rendered unconscious.

This occurrence is borne out by the testimony of a fellow prisoner. He then
underwent a Court Martial at Giessen and was given 14 days solitary confine-
ment, without any medical eare for his injured mouth, Later at Neiderwollief,
for striking a guard he was again beaten, court martialled and sentenced to 3
months, which he spent in prison at Cologne, in solitary confinement. He

attributes a lung conditicn from which he suffers to the damp and cold of this -

confinement. He was later operated upon for his mouth and antrum condition,
without anaesthetic.

The medical record indicates that claimant shows evidence of tubercular
infection of the left lung, suffers from chronie infection of left antrum and
genersl physical debility.  His percentage of disability is stated at 40 per cent.
The medical history files confirm the pulmonary condition which is stated as
the reason for pension, together with sinusitis, Dr. 0. J. 8. Little, who testified
on heha)f claimant, considers claimant capable only of light sedentary work.

While claimant is in receipt of pension for the lung and sinus conditions,
the record indicates that the “infected antrum” had its origin in Germany in
1917 and it is a fair assumption that. it was brought about by the beating he
received upon recapture after his attempt to escape. I regard the punishment
meted out as entirely beyond reasonable bounds and constituting maltreatment
in the sense of the reparation provisions of the Treaty of Versailles, Having
cstablished maltreatment with resulting disability, clairaant is entitled to an
award. I would, accordingly, recommend payment to him of $700 with interest
thereon, at the rate of 5 per cent per annum, from January 10, 1920, to date

of payment.
ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.
(Orrrawa, December 9, 1931,

CASE 1899—-JAMES SULLIVAN

The claimant was a Private in the Third Battalion—Regimental number
9962. He cnlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 29 years. He was taken
© prisoner April 24, 1915, at the second battle of Ypres, unwounded but suffering
from the effects of gas. He was repatriated to England in December, 1918, He
hias made application for a pension. He was married in 1921 and has three
children. Prior to enlistment, he was employed with the Toronto Fire Depart-
ment, at a salary. of $13 per week, and since his discharge, has been engaged
as :i\n elevator operator with the T. Eaton Co,, his present salary being $24 a
Week. .

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he wes subjected to maltreatment,
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of numerous
beatings at different camps and solitary confinement after being sentenced to
be shot, being struck with the butt of a rifie which affected his eyesight, work-
ing in an iron mine for one year affecting his lungs and heart.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was first taken to Giessen Cam». He was badly beaten by the
guards because he could not understand the orders given him in German. As
a result of this beating he was laid up for two weeks. He was transferred to
Limburg Camp, where he was invited and exhorted to join the “Casement
Battalion”, which was being recruited amongst the Irieh Catholic prisoners. For
refusing to accede to this irvi¢ation, he was badly beaten and thrown into cells
after a so called trial for ir. - rdination. Claimant did not understand the
proceedings but found himse: in solitary confinement for 28 days. He was
then sent to work on a farm at Naoma where he was again badly beaten because
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he had, in his ignorance of their employment, broken some tools. In barracks
he was further beaten for failing to clean the rooms to the satisfaction of the
muards. He was also lined up to he shot by the guards and then placed in cells
or seven davs. Doubtiul of elaimant’s sanity, he was transferred to Luneberg,
where, upon a working party, under the pretext that he was inciting his fellow
prisoners to mutiny, he was badly battered and aseribes his present, poor vision
to the effects of this beating. He received further ill treatment at an Iron
Works where he was compelled to work for long hours upon insuflicient food.
He conteneted the “flu”, with other prisoners, and was denied medica) attention,
and made to work before he had recovered. even after the date of the Armistice.
He aseribes his lung and heart condition to these incidents.

The medical record indicates that elaimant suffers from a dry pleuritic
condition at the base of the left lung, eyve trouble, and some deafness, Dr, J.
M. Dalrymple. who testified on behalf of claimant, cannot speak as to the eye
condition. It appears from claimant’s medien] history files that he was dis-
charged as fit, “all systems normal and eye condition same as on enlistment.”
Dr. Dalrymple attributes the chest and heart. condition to the attack of “flu”
from which claimant suficred, with possibly the effects of gus us a contributing
factor. His chest condition is declared to be the more serious. His potential
disability i rated at 50 per eent.,

On the whole, having regard to the nature of claimant’s disabilities, T
cannot find that these are wholly or in part the result of maltreatment at the
hands of the enemy. He has failed to establish the connexity between his
present condition and the maltreatment complained of. His chest condition is
probably the result of flu and the offects of gas.  His eve sight has not deter-
jorated due to imprisonment. Tt s ae it was on enlistment. I must, accordingly,
disallow the claim.

FRROL M. MeDOUGALL,

Cominissioner.
Orrawas, December 10, 1931,

CASE 1900—JOHN ALFRED McCALLUM

The elaimant was a Private in the 2nd Battalion —Redimental number 8469,
He enlisted in August 1914 at the age of 26 vears. He was taken prisoner April
24. 1915, during the second battle of Ypres, wounded in the right arm and
suffering from gas. He was repatrinted to iSngland January 1, 1919, He is in
receipt of an 1877 disability pension, amounting to $21.00 per month, based on
neurosis and gunshot wound in the right arm.  He was married June 27, 1919,
and has three children.  Prior to enlistment, he was employed as a barber at n
wage of 82500 per week, und sinece his dizcharge has resumed his trade, with the
T. Eaton Ca, Toronto, at £25.00 per week,

He alleges that while « prisoner of war he wus subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in beeuntary damage to him.  He complains of heing heaten,
made to work when unfit, exposure and starvation and finally that he was com-
pelled to work for two years in the salt mine< under conditions of the greatest
hardship. '

An analysis of the evidenee reveals—

Claimant was taken to Giessen camp, was beaten for not doing cnough work
but has no serions ¢ mplaint as to his treatment in this camp.  Removed to
Celle-lnger, he was transicrred to Ostenholzenmoor and set to work in January
weathier in the water, upon ditches.  He was hit and rendered unconscious for an
hour for not working satisfactorily, and spent three weeks in hospital as a result
of this treatment. 'This staterent is carroborated by a feliow prisoner. Sent to
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a farm, claimant escaped, was recaptured, taken-to Celle-lager, where his punish-
ment consisted in being tied to posts for 8 hours a day and beaten while so-tied.
This lasted for 18 days when he was placed in close confinement for 60 days.
He was then sent to the ill Tamed Beienrode salt mines where he remained for
two years and sustained the unusually cruel and brutal treatment spoken of by
other prisoners (sce Case. 1875). He was beaten and on one oceasion broke his

arm as the result of an accident in the mines. He received no medical treatment
~for the arm and still suffers from it. He complains of his eyes, his stomach and
a nervous condition which impairs his earning ability.

The medieal record indicates that claimant suffers from neurasthenia, chronic
gastro-enteritis and disability of the right arm. His percentage of dizability is
placed at 50 per cent.  Dr. Mortimer Fleming, who testified on behalf of claimani,
declares that his nervous condition has been very unstable and unsatisfactory,
that claimant suffers from come deafness and is incapacitated in his employment.

Having regard to the observations contained in Opinion annexed to the
present report, and taking into consideration the fact that claimant spent two
vears in the notorious Betenrode salt mines, T have reached the conclusion that
a part at Jeast of hiz present disability may be traced to maltreatment. whilst a
prisoner of war. Very few, if any, prisoners withstood the rigours of the salt
mines without some resultant disability. [ would, accordingly, recommend a
payment to claimant of $600 with interest thereon, at the rate of 5 per cent per
annum, from January 10, 1920, to date of payment.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner.
Orraws, December 2, 1931.

CASE 1901 -HERBERT FRANKS

The claimant was a Private in the 3rd Battalion——Regimental number 9674.
He enlisted in August 1914 at the age of 28 yvears. He was taken prisoner April
24, 1915, at the battle of St. Julien, slightly wounded and gassed. - He was
released December 8, 1918, and reached England on the 10th of that month.
He is not in receipt of pension and is unmarried. Prior to enlistment, he was
employed as a fireman on the Grand Trunk Railroad, at a wage of $60 per
month, and since his discharge has been employed as night cleaner at. the new
union station in Toronto, at a wage of $21.50 per week.

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of having had
to work long hours daily (12 hours) in the stone quarries for three and a half
years. Had his nose broken by a guard with a rifle, causing a serious impedi-
ment in his speech. He also suffers from nerves and stomach trouble.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Slightly wounded and gassed when captured, claimant was taken to Giessen
camp, where he remained about a month and was then sent to a stone quarry at
Huesten. Here he remained for the duration of his captivity. He is quite frank
in stating that violence and brutality could be avoided. In his own words:
“1 did not look for trouble. I saw enough of it.” Apparently, with one excep-
tion, he was successful. He was struck on the nose with the butt end of a rifle
for not doing what he was told. His nose was broken and it is suggested that
the result of this injury has been to impair his speech. Claimant worked long
hours, upon poor food and in unhealthy conditions. He complains chiefly of his
nerves and also suffers from his digestion.
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The medical record indicates that elaimant is suffering from neurasthenia,
asthenin and general debility.  His percentage of dizability is declared at 100
per cent in his calling and 50 per cent in the general labour market. Dr.
Mortimer Fleming, who testified on behalf of claimant, attributes the impedi-
ment in speech to neurasthenia and h' generally m}pmrogl honlth‘m the copd:_
tions which have been reported to iy to have existed in the German prison
eamps.  Claimant's prognosis is unfavourable, but it cannot be said definitely
that any particular maltreatment has been the cause.

[n these cirenmstances, having regard to the general observations contained in
Opinion annexed to this report, it ie difficult to establish the connexity between
maltreatment suffered at the hands of the enemy and claimant’s present condition.
I consider that elaimant has failed to make out a case, and his_claim mr -, accord-

ingly, be disallowed.
e e O ERROL M. MeDOUGALL,
Commissioner.

Otraws, December 10, 1931,

CASE 1902—SAMUEL PORTER

The claimant was a Private in the 3rd Battalion—Regimental number 10065.
He enlisted in August. 1914, at the age of 18 years. He was taken prisoner on April
24,1815, at the sceond battle of Ypres, unwounded but suffering from gas. He
wis rapatriated to England January, 1919, He is not in receipt of pension. He
was married in Mareh, 1919, and has no children.  Prior to enlistment, he was
working as a truckman at the T. Faton Co., at a salary of $10.00 per week. He is
at present employed in the Torort: Fire Department, at a salary of $1,950.00 per
annum,

He alleges that while « prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. e complains of eve trouble,
which is apparently a pre-war disability, fractur~d ribs, an appendix condition, 4
teeth knacked out by a sentry and a bayonet wound in the right hip, also caused
by a sentry,

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was first {aken to Roulers and thenee to Roback and put to work in
a foondry. For an attempt to eseape claimant was hit over the head with the butt
end of a rifle and a gash opened over the right eve, rendering him unconscious.
He ulso got 7 or 14 days in cells as a punishmenf. He was removed to a stone
quarty and then to a farm. At the latter place a fight seems to have arisen
between the prisoners und the civilian guards. The military sentries were called
m and in the skirmish which ensued. ela’ vant received a kick in the mouth which
knocked out four teeth and was struck on the hip with a bavonet. This bayonet
wound incapacitated him for 6 months, but has left no disability. As further
punishment elaimant and other prisoners were made to stand to attention for 4
hours at a time. He was next sent to the salt mines at Gretham for 11 months,
but dees not complain of any particular maltreatment here. He had boils which
received very seant attention. but no dizability has been shown to flow therefrom.
Claimant was next sent to Krupps Munition plant, where for refusing to work. he
was beaten. His next eamp was Saltau where he was given solitarv confinement
for 25 days. He developed flu and received no treatment. So harsh was the treat-
ment that claimant attempted to injure himself in order to eseape work, by
dropping a stone on his foot. He speaks of receiving glasses heve for the first time.
They were sent hitn by his mother. He attributes the weakness in his eyes to the
effects of gas, aggravated by poor food and Lard work. He also complains of his
stomach, but declares that “the only thing worrying me is my eves.”
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The medical record indicates that claimant is suffering from hypermetropic
astigmatism, chronic appendicitis, old fractured ribs causing pain, and loss of 4
front tecth. Dr. Frank Park, who testified on behalf of claimant, declares that
claimant’s prircipal disability results from a chronic appendix, which, however, is
operative. He speaks of the scar on claimant's head over the eye, but is of opinion
this carries no disability. The fractured ribs produce some but little disability,
being sensitive. There is a scar on the right hip, indicative of a stab wound, but
this causes no disability. In speaking of claimant’s eye condition, Dr. Park says
this is not the result of service, but was s pre-existing condition, which may
become aggravated by service. In Dr. Park’s words “ he has always had that.”
This statement is borne out by claimant’s medical history files.

In this state of the record, I have reached the conclusion that claimant,
though roughly treated as a prisoner of war, has suffered no disability which
would entitle him to an award under the relevant sections of the Treaty of Ver-
sailles. The eye condition was pre-existing, the loss of teeth was due to a
scuffle with guards who were entitled to subdue what must have appeared to have
been a riot, and the appendix condition is not shown to have resulted from
maltreatment. On the whole therefore, I must disallow the claim.

ERROL M. Mc¢DOUGALL,
Commissioner.
Orrawa, December 7, 1931,

CASE 1910—FREDERICK BONE

The eclaimant was a Private in the 15th Battalion—Regimental number
27174. He enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 21. He is married and has
four children. He was taken prizsoner at Ypres, April 24, 1915, unwounded.
He was repatriated to England December 3, 1918, Prior to enlistment, he was
a locomotive wiper on the C.P.R. at wages of 16 cents per hour. He is now a
machine operator with the Canada Wire Cloth Company, at 45 cents per hour.
He was originally in receipt of a pension of $11.50 per month, which he com-
muted in 1921, He came back on pension in October, 1930, at $30.00 per month,
The records disclose that this pension was granted by reason of neurosis.

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has result in pecuniary damage to him. in particular he complains of
loss of health, a nervous condition and stomach trouble induced by insufficient
and bad food whilst in prison comp.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant: spent practically the whole period of his captivity attached to
Giessen camp, but was sent upon working parties in the vicinity. He complains
chicfly of the bad and inadequate food, and has no particular complaint as to
brutality and violence at the hands of the guards. At a sawmill, where he
worked in 1918, abscesses broke out on his thigh. Applying for medical treat-
ment he was locked up for three days, given water but no food and then marched
back to Giessen, a distance of several miles. He suffered greatly from boils,
which he attributes to undernourishment.

The medical record indicates that claimant suffers from nervous exhaustion,
insomnia, depression, soreness in stomach and abdomen, shaking of the head and
is startled by noises. His percentage of disability is stated at 20 per cent. Dr. A.
M. Bell, who testified on behalf of claimant, describes him as a nervous wreck and
speaks of a stomach condition. Claimant does not appear to lose much time
from his work. In Dr. Bell’s opinion, claimant’s conditions could result from the
history he gives of his experiences.
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This is elearly one of those difficult cases in which malnutrition and hard
work combined have impaired claimant’s health. Having regard to the general
observations contained in Opinion annexed to the present report, I do not con-
sider that claimant has shown that his disability results from maltreatment.
He was compelled to submit to conditions which were general throughout
Germany and, if his health has been impaired as a result, I regard that condition
as purely pensionable.  The elaim must, accordingly, be dizallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL, o
Orrawa, December 10. 1931. Commissioner.

CASE 1911-—JAMES JACKSON CONNOLLY

The elaimant was a private in the 15th Battalion—Regimental number
27181. He enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 18, He was taken prisoner a\
Ypres, April 24, 1915, slightly wounded ar 1 gassed. He was repatriated to
England i December, 1918, He was married in June, 1921, and has one child.
Prior to enlistment. he was apprenticed to the Taylor & Works, Toronto, at
the rate of §12.00 per weeh. He is now permanently employed by the Post Office
at $85.00 per month. He is in receipt of a pension of $23.00 per month, based
upon bronehitis and nephritis,

He alleges that while a prizoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him.  In particular he complains that
he was compelled to work in a stone quarry, that he was unjustifiably struck in
the mouth, resulting in the loss of teeth, that he was subjected to exposure,
starvation and general abuse, aficeting his health.

An analvsis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was taken to Gottingen eamp, to which he remained attached for
the duration of his captivity, except for occasions when he went out on working
parties. He complains that on the way to Gottingen, he was struck in the mouth
by a guard and had several-teeth knocked out for picking up a cigarette butt
and, as a result, later. in the salt mines, his teeth beeame badly infected and he
has lost most of them. At a stone quarry near Gottingen he, with other prisoners,
was compelled to remain out in the rain, unclothed, for a full day and, as a result,
contracted a heavy cold which remained with him. For refusing to work at a
munitions plant, he, with other prisoners, was beaten and sent to the salt mines
at Sarstedt, where he apparently spent three vears and six months, working
underground under conditions of great hardship and brutality. Claimant ascribes
his present kidney affection to poisoning while working in the =alt mines. He
speaks of an incident of a drunken guard who came back to the barracks,
aroused the prisoners and smashed them with his fist as they passed him.
Claimant, in particular, was knocked downstairs and injured his toe. In Com-
mon with other prisoners who were in the salt mines, claimant declares that he
was covered with salt sores or boils for which he received no medical attention.

The medical record indicates that claimant is suffering from chronic
bronchitis, neurasthenia, nephritis, defective teeth and injured large toe joint.
His percentage of disability is stated at 50 per cent in his own calling and at
30 per cent in the general labour market. No medical evidence was adduced
before the Commission apart from the affidavit of Dr. R. P. Turner. The medical
history files indicate, as above stated, that claimant is in receipt of a pension for
bronchitis and nephritis.

In this state of the record, the medical evidence, establishing a disability
which may_be traced to maltreatment while a prisoner of war, is not very
complete. Having regard, however, to the general observations contained in the
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Opinion annexed to thig report and, in particular, the fact that claimant spent ™~

three years and eight months of his captivity in the salt mines, I am of opinion
that he has suffered disability which may be ascribed to maltreatment whilst a
prisoner of war. I would, accordingly, recommend payment to claimant of
$700.00, with interest thereon, at the rate of § per cent per annum, from January
10, 1920 to date of pavment. -

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

"Commissioner.’

Otrawa, December 3, 1931,

CASE 1912—GEOPGE HENRY JOHNSON

The claimant was a Private (Suniper) in the 3rd Battalion—Regimental
number 10044. He enlisted in August, 1914, 1t the age of 27 years. He was
taken prisoner April 24, 1915, at the second battle of Ypres. When captured he
was wounded by shrapnel in the chest, ankle, and back of the head, also gassed.
He was repatriated to England December 15, 1918. He was awarded a pension,
but the amount thereof was not known at the date of the hearing. Prior to
enlistment, he was engaged as Sales Manager. In his questionnaire he gives his
salary at $300.00 per menth, but in his evidence as $200.00 per month. Since
his dischaige he has held several positions, but at the date of the hearing of his
claim, he was unemployed. : ‘

Claimant alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreat-
ment whick has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He states that nine teeth
were knocked out, one ear-drum is ruptured, a bone in his nose is broken, and
his vision has become defective. He also states that whilst in pricon camp he had
an attack of Spanish Grippe, and that this, by reason of inattention on the part
of the German authorities, has reacted unfavourably upon his health.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant, though wounded when captured, was subjected to rough treatment
on the way to Roulers. He finally reached Giessen camp and was sent out on a
farm to work. He complains of no incidents of maltreatment, until he reached
Huesten in East Prussia. For refusing to do the work required of him he was
kicked, hit in the mouth with the butt of a rifle and had four teeth knocked out.
"Then, made to work in the blast furnaces, he collapsed due to the excessive heat
when forced to stand within 3 feet of the furnace doors. Claimant became
recognized as the leader of his party and received heavier punishment than did the
others. He sustained burns whilst working on the furnaces and contracted “flu",
for which he received no medical attention. He complains chiefly of the blow
on the mouth which besides knocking out teeth, damaged his mouth. The pains
in the head he considers may result from his original wounds. He also suffers
from his heart and nerves and has some stomach trouble. He attributes defective
vigion to the blow on the head above referred to.

The medical record indicates that claimant suffers from impaired vision left
eye, ruptured ear drum (left) resulting chronic otitis media with deafness, nasal
obstruction left side—almost constant headaches, gastronomical disturbances,
and chronic tuberculosis. Of these ailments, the Pension Tribunal has found that
bronchitis, defective hearing and defective vision are attributable to military
service. Dr. S. G. Henry furnished a certificate as to the disabilitics above
referred to, but did not appear before the Commission. Claimant’s medical
history files do not disclose any particular disability.

Claimant’s pension files cast doubt upon his credibility. In letter addressed
to the Pensions Board he declares that through “continual soup diet my teeth
went bad and I had 9 double teeth drawn, two upper and seven lower.” I do not

414296
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- think that he has been successful in showing that his Jmpaired vision and
defective hearing were due to maltreatment. IHis remaining disabilities arr, I
consider, more properly aseribable to service. In these circumstances, viewing
all the facts, 1 consider that claimant has failed to discharge the b_urden of
showing a present disability resulting from maltreat:nent. The claim must,

accordi . be disallowed. .
ecordingly, be disalioe ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.

Orrawa, December 1. 1931.

CASE 1913—RALPH B. WALLACE

‘The claimant was a Private in the 75th Battalion—Regimental number
228014, He enlisted February 24, 1916, at the age of 18 years. He was taken
prisoner April 9, 1917, suffering from a gunshot wound in the forehead. He was
repatriated to England December 7, 1918. He is in receipt of a 60 per cent
disability pension amounting to £87.00 per month, based on tuberculosis of the
lungs, and heart trouble. He was married September 2, 1920, and has two
children.  Prior to enlistment, he was a student, and since his discharge, he has
been a Civil Servant in the employ of the Ontario Government, at a present
salary of $1,500.00 per annum.

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He states that he suffers {rom
chest. and lung trouble, and that certain inoculations to which he was subjected
affected his heart.

An analysis of the evidence reveals: —

Claimant was a prisoner in Germany for about 18 months, first at Munster
hospital and camp, then at Dulmen and finally at Essen. He complains that
the head wound from which he was suffering received improper medical atten-
tion, and that it was only at Exs=en, towards the end of his captivity, that the
bullet was removed by a German doctor, who performed the operation without
arwsthetic. At Dulmen elaimant received g number of inoculations which made
him very ill.  He suggests, but, of course, is unable to prove, that he was
deliberately inoculated with tubereulosis. It would appear that he was being
given protection against cholera, At all events, he ascribes his present condition
of tubereulosis (for which he receives g pension) to these inoculations. He was
sent to work in the coal mines near Essen and beeause he could not carry on,
due to his weakened condition, was punched in the face and beaten. Apart from
his lung condition, elaimant speaks of his heart as troubling him and that he is
generally run down and debilitated,

The medieal record indicates that claimant suffers from tubereulnsis of the
lungs and mitral stenosic, His percentage of disability is stated at 60 per cent
in his own ecalling and at 100 per cent in the general labour market. Dr. G.
Douglass Jeffs, who certifies to the foregoing, appeared hefore the Commission
in support of claimant’s case. He infers from claimant’s history that the tuber-
culosis might well have resulted from the treatment received, but scouts the
idea that the inoculations were administered from any sinister motive,

It is probable, from a perusal of the evidence, that claimant’s illness dates
from the moculations referred to, Leaving aside the suggestion above referred
to, the mere fict of inoculation of a prisoner of war cannot, per se, be regarded ;
as maltreatment, On the contrary, it would evidence a desire to protect the
patient from contagion. That his svstem may not have been able to assimilate ‘
the treatment cannot, in my view, be laid at the door of the Germans. Osten-
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gibly they gave him proper treatment. That it acted unfavourably is unfor-
tunate. Clnimant is in receipt of a pengion for his ailment, and I regard this
as the measure of his recourse. The claim must, accordingly, be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL, .

Commissioner.
OtrAwa, December 7, 1931.

CASE 1915—GEORGE STEVENS

The claimant was a Private in the 20th Battalion—Regimental number
57727. He enlisted in November, 1914, at the age of 26 vears. He was taken
prisoner June 2, 1916, at Ypres, unwounded, but states that he had been gassed
Just previously. He was repatriated to England December 9, 1918. He is in
receipt of a disability pension, amounting to $20.00 per month (including his
wife's proportion) based on “chronic bronchitis.” He was married in 1919 but
has no children. Prior to enlistment, ke was employed as a structural steel
worker at a salary of from $20.00 to $25.00 per week, but since his discharge
has never had a steady position. He does odd jobs of painting and gardening.

He alleges that while a prizoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains that he received beat-
ings with clubs, rifle butts and rubber tubing. He alleges that he suffers from
shock, nerve strain and debility, also that he has a chest condition.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant spent 6 months at Dulmen camp. He complains of frequent
inoculations and was beaten with rubber hose on one occasion for reporting sick.
Tor refusing to work at Munster, in a munitions factory, he was put in cells.
He was sent to Minden for a couple of months and then spent 19 months in the
coal mines at Friederichsfeld. He wa. beaten for reporting sick and speaks of

“the conditions as particularly harsh. He points to a sear over his eve as the

mark of a cut received during this beating, Claimant attributes to these experi-
ences nervous debility and general shock to his gystem, with some chest affec-
tion.

The medical record indicates that claimant suffers from chronic bronchitis
of asthmatic type. His percentage of disability is stated at 20 per cent. Dr.
F. R. Carson, who certifies to the foregoing did not appear before the Com-
mission. There is also a certificate from Dr. Gordon W. Armstrong declaring
claimant suffers from bronchial condition, shock and neurasthenia. His con-
dition shows no improvement. Claimant’s medical history files speak of a gen-
erally weakened condition, aseribed to treatment as a prisoner of war.

I am inclined to think that the bronchial condition is of <ervice origin and
due to gas with probable aggravation due to the long period cls imant was com-
pelled to work in the coal mines. Claimant was subjected to general rough treat-
ment as a prisoner, and 1 think the record justifies a finding that his present
condition results from such treatment, particularly having regard to the con-
ditions which prevailed in t)e coal mines, as to which we have evidence. 1
would, accordingly, recommend a payment to claimant of 8500 with interest
thereon, at the rate of 5 per cent per annum, from January 10, 1920, to date of

payment.
ERROL: M. McDOUGALL, -

Commissioner.
Orrawa, December 9, 1931,
4142063
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CASE 1916—CHARLES SINCLAIR PARSONS

The claimunt was born in Canada and enlisted with the Officers Training
Corps m 1915, He was a Lieutenant in the 227}!1 Battalion and lat('_r took out
an Imperial commission with the Royal Naval Air Service, receiving his appoint-
ment on April 7, 1917, He was taken prisoner April 22, 1918, as the result
of a crash while flving, and wux suffering with weunds in the face, eve and leg
at the time of captwe. He was repatriated to England on December 18, 1918.
e is not in receipt of penston. He was married Mo 25, 1925, and has no
children. Prior to cnlitment, he was employed as a survevor and prospector,
carning from $1.000.00 to £1.500.00 per annum, and sinee his discharge has been
emploved as a mining engincer and professional geologist, carning anywhere
from $2.000.00 to 87.500.00 per annum, but was unemploved at the time of the
hearing. )

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of permanent
injury, due to tue failure on the part of the Gernns to give him reasonable
medical attention and transportation, although ali {acilities were available, in
well organized territory. He suffers as the result of poor food. He received a
heating with rifle butts after the escape of a fellow prisoner. He states that
his left ankle becomes painful and swollea under any strain and that the per-
manent disablement of this leg is duc te the lack of attention by the Germans.

An analysiz of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was brought down and eaptured in the water off Zeebruge, a few
days before the blockade. His complaint is confined to disability resulting from
lack of medical attention to his injured ankle, although in his statement of
claim, ahove, he refers to other ineidents of maltreatment. He received gome
attention at Zecbruge, but in being made to walk to the train without crutches,
with his injured leg dangling. the injury was intensified and it is his contention
that the disability is now greater than it would otherwse have been. He speake
of having received a beating at Zeldenz in conneetion with the escape of a
prisoner, but suffered no disability therefrom.

The medical record, consisting of the eertifieate of Dr. Graham Chambers,
reads as follows: “States loft ankie under influence of any strain becomes
painful snd slightly swollen.  Becomes nnable to walk.” No percentage of
disability is stated. There is nothing unusual in claimant's medieal files.

The original injury appears to me to be the cance of any disability which
*laimant suffers. T cannot say that the record would justify a finding that
the injury was aggravated by anvthing which oceurred to elaimant whilst a
prisoner. 1 regard the elaim, if any, as one purelv for the attention of the
Board of Pension Commissioners, It must, accordingly, be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner.
Orrawa, December 4, 1931,

CASE 1917—WILLIAM FRASER

The claimant was a Private in the 15th Battalion—Regimental number
275897. He enlisted in August 1914 at the age of 23 vears. He was taken
prisoner April 24, 1915, during the second battle of Ypres, slightly wounded
in the back with shrapnel, and suffering from gas. He is not in récoip‘q of
penston although his applieation is pending and has apparently heen granted
although the rating has not been fixed. It is based on chronie bronchitis, neu-
rasthenic and gastritis. He was married February 28, 1920, and has one child.
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Prior to enhstment, he was cmployed as a blacksmith, earning $15.00 per
week and since his discharge he has tried his former accupation but could not
continue and is now a street ear conductor earning $23.00 per week.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
lias resulted in‘ pecuniary damage to him. He complains of having been struck
a blow on the back of the head with a rifle butt in the hands of a guard, from
which he has suffered ever sinee, being subject to loss of menmory and inability
to concentrate.  Gets splitting headaches and has had some five fits since *his
return.  He still bears sears from bayonet pricks and during his imprisonment,
suffered with boils which were lanced and left undressed, permitting salt from
the mines where he was working to enter the open wounds. He also suffers
with gastritis and irregular heart action and is unable to do any manual labour
or work requiring strain or concentration.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was sent, through Gottingen and Celle-lager, to the notorious sait
mines at Beienrude, where he remained for three and a half vears, all of which
time, except for #ix months in hospital, he was working in the salt mines under
conditions with which we are familiar. (See Case 1875). His story reseinbles
that of other prisoners in thiz camp and consists of u recital of beatings, blows,
kicks, exposure and general deprivation. It is unnceessary to detail the incidents
of maltrcatment, which are summarized above as contrined in elaimant’s state-
mesit of claim and are borne out by the evidence.

The medical record indieates that claimant suffers from gastritis and irre-
gular action of the heart. Tis percentage of disability is unstated. Dr. E. F.
Boire, who certifies to the foregoing, did not appear before the Commission.
Claimant’s medieal files show some heart affection with evidenee of bronehitis.

I think I may say, as T have in other eases coming from the salt mines,
that it is surprising that elnimant does not suffer a greater disability from his
experience as a prisoner. The conditions were so eruel and brutal and the work
so heavy as to amount, in the language of Lord Justice Younger to “a singularly
cruel and dangerous form of slavery”. (See Opinion annexed to present report).
Claimant has, I consider, made out a case of maltreatment whilst a prisoner
of war, resulting in disabilitv to him. In the circumstances, I would recommend
a payment to him of $600 with interest thereon, at the rate of 5 per cent per
annum, from January 10, 1920, to date of payment.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner.
Orrawa, December 2, 1931.

CASE 1918--GEORGE WILLIAM FROST

The claimant was a Lance-Corporal with the 10th Battalion—Regimental
number 20477. He enlisted September 23, 1914 at the age of 42 years. He
was taken prisoner April 24, 1915, during the second battle of Ypres, unwounded
but suffering from gas. He wns repatriated to England June 15, 1918. He is
in receipt of 100 per cent dizability pension, amounting to §94.08 per month for
himself and wife, based on neurasthenia, myocarditis, sciatica and bronchitis.
He was married at the time of enlistment and had then a son aged 16 Vears.
Prior to enlistment, he was master of a tug boat on the Pacifie coast at a salary
of $125 per month and board for himself and his wife and after his discharge has
merely been able to eke out an existence with jobs held only for short peric * of
time,
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He alleges that while a priconer of war he was subjecte(} to multr(_}atment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of heving had
his shoulder fractured when pushed down some steps by a German guard, also
had the third finger on his left hand broken; that he was repeated!y beaten,
made to do hard labour and placed in confinement. His health and nerves are
ruined and his release was effected through the intervention of the King of Spain
to whom his wife had written.

An analvsis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant is also a veteran of the South African war and, as above stated,
was 42 vears of age when he enlisted in 1914, He was suffering from the effects
of gas when captured and spent some time at Giessen camp, was transferred to
Friedberg in 1916 and back to Giessen in 1917, from which latter camp he was
sent out on working parties, notably to Geisweid Iron Works. Claimant appears
to have aroused the particular hostility of lis guards, through his efforts to
facilitate the escape of a British officer, and his general unbending attitude to his
captors, for which conduct he has been commended by the milit.ry authorities.
As a marked man, he was singled out for rough handling and was frequently
beaten and driven to work at the most arduous of tasks. Knocked down on one
occasion, his shoulder was fractured and gave him intense pain for months, but
he was driven to work notwithstanding his condition. For his share in the
attempted escape of Captain Walker, he was beaten and sent to Butsbach Peni-
tentiary for 21 days. Claimant entered Germany a strong, healthy man and
emerged a wreek of his former self. It is true that his age may have rendered
him less capeble of resisting the treatment meted out, but a study of the record
creates the convietion that he was exposed to tle deliberac malignity of his
ceptors, :

The medical record indicates that claimant suffers from neurasthensa,
msomnia, persistent headache and myocarditis. His pereentage of disability is
stated at 100 per cent.  Dr. Frederick Inglis, who certifies to the foregoing, did
ot appear befere the Commission, but it is evident from claimant’s appearance
that he is broken in health hevond what his years would normally show and is
quite incapable of supporting himself. While his medical history files indicate
dyspnoca on exertion, which may be the result of gas when captured, 1 have
become convineed that claimant’s general condition was aggravated by the
unjustifiable treatment he underwent in Germany.

Viewing the case as a whole, I have no hesitation in finding that claimant
was subjected to maltreatment whilst a prisoner of war which has resulted in
disability to him. I would, accordingly, recommend a payment to claimant of
£1,600.00 with interest thereon. at the rate of 5 per cent per annum, from Januarv
10, 1920, to date of payment. i

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Orrawa, December 2, 1931. Commissioner.

CASE 1919—JOHN THOMPSON HEWITT

The claimant was a Lance Corporal in the 3rd Battalion, Regimental number
9206. He enlisted in August 1914 at the age of 31 vears. He was taken prisoner
April 1915, at the Second Battle of Ypres, suffering from a wound in the head,
He was exchanged to Holland early in 1918 and repatriated to ¥ngland on the
18th of November 1918. He is in receipt of a disability pension amounting to
$7.50 per month, based on “fracturing index and middle fingers right hand.”
He is unmarried. Prior to enlistment, he was employed at the City Hall,
Toronto, at a salary of $19.50 per week, and sirice his discharge has been
similarly employed, at a present salary of $1,700 per annum.
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He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuninry damage to him. He complains that his hand
was smashed between two trucks whilst he was working in a salt mine, and that
he was compelled to continue working. He complains also of damage to his
feet from wearing wooden clogs. He alleges a state of nervousness and stomach
trouble.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant limits his claim to the injury to his two fingers, and a nervous
condition. His fingers were caught accidentally in the coupling of two trucks
upon which he was working at, or near, Eschede. Although he asked for medical
attention, none was given him for six doys and when he finally saw the doctor,
blood poisoning had set in. He was operated upon and has no complaint as to
the treatment then given him, but contends that “he disability which remains
from this injury was due to wilful disregard of the wound. At Giessen, Saltau,
Lichtenhurst, Grossenweidenmoor and Hameln camps, claimant does not com-
plain particularly of ill treatment. He was in the salt mines for 34 months. He
made several unsuccessful attempts to escape and was confined to cells as punish-
ment. He speaks of enforced punishment drill, general rough usage, poor food
and injury to his feet through bheing compelled to wear wooden clogs.

The medical record indicates that claimant’s right hand is injured—index -
und ring fingers—partly paralysed, that he suffers from nervousness and shortness
of breath—nervous gastritis. His percentage of disability is stated at from
20 per cent to 30 per cent. Dr. F. N, Feader, who certifies to the foregoing, did
not appear before the Commission. Claimant’s medical history files refer only
to the injury to his hand and fingers. In other respects he is declared to be
fit.

The injury to claimant’s fingers was accidental in origin. It has not been
demonstrated that had he received immediate medieal attention, the fingers
would not have been disabled. He admits that the treatment, when received,
was good. In the absence of proof establishing the connexity between the dis-
ablement and the treatment complained of, as also some better proof as to the
other disabilities referred to, claimant cannot succeed. Claimant’s recourse is
properly before the Board of Pension Commissioners. I am, accordingly, com-

pelled to disallow the claim.
ERROL M. McDOUGAILL,
Orrawa, December 7, 1931. Commissioner.

CASE 1920—-MAJOR THOMAS VENABLES SCUDAMORE

The claimant was a Captain in the 7th Battalion when captured. e en-
listed in August 1914 at the age of 25 years. He was taken prisoner April 24,
1915 at St. Julien, suffering from shrapnel wound in the head and from gas. He
was released to Switzerland in December 1916 and repatriated to England March
14, 1918. He is in receipt of a 30 per cent disability pension, amounting to
841,50 per month, based on defective vision, aggravated on active service,
neurasthenia and gastric neurosis. He was married August 24, 1919 and has two
children. Prior to enlistment, he was a Real Estate agent, earning $2,5600 per
annum, and since his discharge he has been in charge of his own real estate
business, since 1919. Had to leave it during the whole of 1920 and 1921 and
again in 1927 for a complete and prolonged rest. His average earnings in the
years he was able to devote to his business, were $2,500 per annum. Thg years
he was compelled to rest he went to Europe and spent much time in hospitals at
great expense. . :
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He alleges that while held prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreat-
ment which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of worry,
blows and abuse, constant under feeding, and solitary confinement.

An analvsis of the evidenee reveals:—

Wounded in the Lead, when eaptured, elaimant was marched to Roulers.
where he declares he wias beaten over the head with a riding crop by a German
officer, during the course of an interrogation. e deseribes the occurrence as
follows, . ., . ... and he started to thrash me aeross the head with the riding
crop, and nothing but the presence of the sentry whom-1 was able to duck
behind prevented me from being beaten up. That is the last time 1 was in any
way interfered with at all, the first of January, 1916 This incident occurred
within cight hours of cluimant’s capture. In deseribing the same incident in
statement made by elaimant upon repatriation (statement dated January 8,
1917) he sayvs:  “1 met the same Commandant in the passage; he addressed
e as ‘Du’, repeatedly struek at me with Lis riding erop, and cursed me for being
a Canadian. .. .. " There i~ thus zome divergenee between the testimony given
by claimant and his earlier statement. [t is not clear whether claimant was
actuadly struck by the German officer. 1 have given some prominence to these
statements, beeause this is the only meident of maltreatment of which claimant
complains, He does say that he was given 16 days solitary confinement for an
attempted eseape and that his health waz affected thereby, and also speaks of
his eye condition, but admits quite frankly as his medical history sheets show,
that this trouble had it< origin before the war. s elaim is based upon a
general nervous condition, which resulted in a breakdown in 192) and again in
1927, due, claimant alleges, to the general eonditions under which he fived, as ¢
prisoner of war,

The medieal record i confined to the claimant’s eve coudition, his nervous
system being declured to be normal. No medieal evidence was adduced before
the Commission, nor hus any certificate been filled substantiating his con-
tentions,  We are left only with the wedieal records attached to his pension
file. As stateq, above elaimant is in reeeipt of a pension on the ground of
defeetive vision, neurasthenia and gastrie neurosis,

In this state of tve record, it 1z obviously impossible to find that claimant
was zubjected to such maltreatment, while a prisoner of war, as has resulted
in permanent disability to him. He has failed to discharge the burden rest-
ing upon him of establishing o case of pecuniary damage through maltreatment
within the relevant seetions of the Treaty of Versailles. His ¢laim must, accord-
ingly, be disallowed. -
ERROL M. MeDOUGALL,

Commissioner.

Orrawa, December 7, 1931,

CASE 1921 —-LEONARD JAMES STANWAY

The elaimant was a Private in the 4th C.M.R.—Regimental number 109622.
He enlisted in November, 1914, at the age of 22 vears. He was taken prisoner
June 3, 1916, slightly wounded in the leg. He was repatriated to England on
December 5, 1918, He is not in receipt of disability pension, but has applied
therefor, on the grounds of bronehitis and astiematism.  He was married in July
1923, and bas one child. Prior to enlistment, he was in the employ of the Dunlop’
Rubber Company, as a tire maker, at a salary of §15 per week, and since his
discharge, has been employed as a clerk in the Department of Pensions, at a
salary of $115 per month, ’ '
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He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains that poor food, expo-
«ure, and lack of medical attention brought on a chest condition from which
he still suffers, and that this condition wax aggravated by his work in a gas fac-
tory. He also complains of nervousness,

_An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was taken to Dulmen camp, where he remained ten weeks and has
nothing to complain of. He was then sent to Duisburg camp and complains of
being made to work in the wet, to which he attributes a chest condition from
which he suffers. Claimant presents one of the rare cases in which p~ complaint
1z made of physical brutality. He declares that he was never beate.. and when
asked how he eseaped this treatment makes the very significant reply, * Keep-

“ing my mouth shut.” He speaks of the doctor as very fair, but attributes his
weakened chest to exposure and lack of proper medical attention. He complains
of being made to work in a tin fectory, out of Duisburg, where the gas fumes,
acainst whieh he was furnished with practically no protection, aggravated an
already impaired lung condition. For an attempted escape, claimant received
only four days confinement upon recapture. Claimant also attributes to these
experiences astigmatism.

There is no medical evidence in this case, not even the usual certificate from
a medical practitioner. Claimant’s medical history files show nothing unusual,
an cntry appearing that pension is under consideration, for bronchitis and astig-
matism, and that he had some hospitalization for rheumatie arthritis in 1916.

Claimant told a pleasingly frank story of his life in Germany, but unfor-
tinately for his case, he has failed to show any present disability resulting from
his experiences which can be regarded as ialtreatment. The claim fails for lack
of medical evidence to support it. I would regard the case, in any event if dis-
ability is shown, as one for the consideration of the Board of Pension Conumis-
sioners. It is, accordingly, disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.

O11awa, December 8, 1931.

CASE 1922—JOSEPH 8. McCULLOCH

The claimant was an Imperial soldier, heing a Private in the Ist and 2nd
Battalions, Sherwood Foresters—Regimental number 10132, He went to France
in September, 1914, at the age of 18 years. He was taken prisoner October
24, 1914, at La Bassece, in France, unwounded. He came to Canada to reside
November 2, 1919. He was repatriated to England December 14. 1918, after
being held prisoner for four years and 2 months. He is not in reec.pt of pen-
sion. He was married December 24, 1926, and has one child. Prior to enlist-
ment, he was employed as a Lutcher’s assistant, at a wage of about §9 per
week and board and since his discharge he was working for the Ford Motor
Company at Windsor, Ontario, at six and seven dollars per day. He was laid
off owing to reduction of staff and was unemployed at the date of the hearing.

While clainiant was an Imperial soldier, the record reveals that he came
to Canada to reside with his mother in the year 1919. As explained in opinion
annexed to my Interim Report dealing with civilian eases, the date of the
ratification of the Treaty of Versailles—January 10, 1920—has been taken
as constitutive of jurisdiction to claim reparations in Canada. 1 sce no good
reason to apply a different rule in the case of British soldiers who took up
residence in Canada prior to that date. I, therefore, find that claimant is
entitled to advance his claim for reparations before this Commission.
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He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of a three-day journey
to Germany in eattle trucks, his overcoat and shoes were taken from him and
he was gives one slice of bread and water during the journey. Was knocked
full-length in a puddle of water by a guard and had to sleep soaking wet with-
out blankets. Was tied to a post on his toes for cight hours. Forced to work
12 hours per day swinging a fourteen-pound hammer and received beatings for
any letting up in the work. Then put to work draining marsh land working
in water to the knees. Given eight days solitary confinement for forgetting
to salute the commandant. Very cold and had no blankets though it was
winter. Then placed to work in a coal mine where he reccived & kick in the
mouth, losing one tooth. Was confined to the mine for two days without food
and finally beeame so ill was sent to hospital with La Grippe. He now suffers
from kidney trouble due to the work in the marsh bogs, suffering severely from
headaches, back-uchies, nervousness and a cough which might develop into
tuberculosis. - Also has blood in the urine and was told to comy to Canada for
his health.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

The earlier portion of elaimant's case, as summarized in his statement of
elaim, is not horne out by his testimony before the Commission. The conditions
of life and maltreatment to which he was subjected from the time he reached
Hameln Camp (October 1914), is covered by his testimony. Claimant spent
time at Vehnemoor, Recklinghausen and Minden camps.and_at_farms connected
therewith.  Upon returning to England, on the advice of his dottors, claimant
omn;z out to Canada with his mother in the hope that the climate would be bene-
ficial,

The medical evidence consistz of a certificate of Dr. Is. C. H. Windeler, who
attended elaimant from 1924 to 1930 for headache, pain in the back and haemae-
turia.  Dr. Windeler also declares that claimant’s nervous system is highly strung
and that he is a very poor sleeper.

Having regard to the long period of claimant's captivity—4 years and 3
months—and the condition in which he was upon enlistment and his condition
upon discharge, as to which there is evidence in the record, T think it is a fair
assumption that the maltreatment to which elaimant was subjected has resulted
i considerable impairment to his health. Iljs testimony was clear and con-
vineing and I have no reason to doubt, the accuracy of his story. We have not,
in this case, the advantage of claimant’s medieal files, but I consider that the
record fully justifies an award in claimant's favour. 1 would, accordingly,
recommend a payment to him of $600, with interest thereon at the rate of 5 per
cent per annum from January 10, 1920, to date of payment,

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

. Commissioner.
Orraws, November 30, 1931.

CASE 1923 —-ARTHUR GIBBONS

The_claimant was a Private in the 3rd Battalion—Regimental number
10122, He enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 18 vears, He was taken
prisoner April 24, 1815, during the second battle of Ypres, suffering from a
shrapnel wound in the thigh. He was repatriated to England August 25, 1915,
having been released through Holland, Ile is in receipt of a 40 per cent dis-
ability pension, amounting to £52.00 per anonth, based on the condition of his
right leg and right ankle. He was married "May 1, 1920, and has two children,
Prior to enlistment, he was employed as a clerk with the Toronto Electric Light
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Company, carning $70.00 per month, and since his discharge has acted as
Secretary-Treasurer of the Canadian Legion until May, 1928, at a salary of
$150.00 per month. From that time he has been employed as a salesman on
commission, earning approximately an average of $100.00 per month, and by
the Board of Pension Comnmissioners as an investigator. :

He alleges that while a prigsoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains that owing to
neglect and malpractice on the part of the German medical authorities, his right
leg was cither not get or was wrongly set, causing permanent shor._ning of the
leg and loss of the use of the foot.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant’s case is confined to malpractice on the part of the German medieal
authorities, which has resulted in an aggravation of the original injury, involv-
ing increased disability, Claimant was a prisoner for about four months,
during which time he was in hospital at Handzame and Thourout in Belgium,
and Giessen in Germany. He complains first that he received no treatment for
sixteen days for his shattered thigh. He speaks of an operation at Handzame,
under anwsthetic, but deelares that the treatment, whatever it was, was improper.
At Thourout, he accuses the attending surgeon of deliberate torture by twisting
the wounded leg, declares that no splints or extensions were applied, but admits
that finally, when this surgeon had been removed, apparently because of inef-
cieney, “they put a thing on my leg.” Arrived at Gicssen, the wound had
healed and claimant was able to hobble about. Ie has no complaint as to his
treatment here,

Claimant’s statement, upon repatriation, which is of record, contrasts
unfavourably with his testimony. In this statement, which he does not now
recollect, he declares that he was well treated by the doctors. As to Thourout,
he makes the same declaration and at Giesson the statement continues, * doctor
here was very kind, owes his release to him.” Claimant, in his testimony,
remarks, “ our doctors were unanimous it was the result of neglect; not only
the doctors here, but the doctors in Rochester, Minnesota.” There is not a
seintilla of evidence in the record to substantiate this statément, nor has claimant
made any attempt to establish this most important point, His unsupported
testimony is certainly insufficient to prove it.

The medical record indicates that claimant received very particular atten-
tion for his injuries when he returned to Canada. Dr. F. B, Richardson, who
appeared before the Coinmission, spoke of a very difficult and intricate operation
he performed on claimant's leg in an attempt to regenerate the severed nerves,
and claimant was also operated upon by Dr. Gallie, in an effort to reduce -the
shortening of the leg. He admits that the operation was partially sneccessful.
Dr. Richardson does not say that the condition of claimant’s leg, as complainant
would have us belicve, indicated negleet and improper attention in the first
place. It is difficult to establish months after an operation, that the original
{reatment was not proper and that the surgeon who performed it was guilty of
walpractice, and it would require very specific and most convineing evidence to
prove such a premise. Having regard to the conflict in claimant’s storv as told
upon repatriation and his testimony given years later, I am clearly o' opinion
that he has completely failed to show that the medieal attention given him was
improper in the sense ihat it constitutes maltreatment as a prisoner of war.
The claim, accordingly, fails and it must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner.
Otrawa, December 4, 1931,
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CASE 1924—EDWARD HENRY HYDE

The claimant was.a Private in the 3rd Battalion,—Regimental number
9796. He enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 21 years. He was taken
prisoner April 24, 1915, during the sccond Battle of Ypres, suffering from a
shrapnel wound in the righ' + m and head and a machine gun wound in the
left arm. He was repatriate » England November 25, 1918, He is in receipt
of a 10 per cent disability pension, amounting to $10.00 per month, based on
infeeted antrum. He was married September 6, 1924, and has one child. Prior
to enlistment, he was employed as an cleetrieian with the Hydro-Electrie, earn-
ing ahout $30.00 per week and since hix diseharge has been with the same com-
puny as elerk, earning 235.00 per week. o .

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment whicn
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him.  He complains of inadequate and
cruel medical attention, blows on the head causing permanent injury, starvation
and exposure. The exposure aggravated the bronehitis and a nose injury s
permanent.

An analysis of the evidence revenls:—

Claimant has no complaint as to iz treatinent in hospital for his wounds.
Attached to Giessen eamp, he was sent out on working parties. At a munitions
factory elaimant was beaten for refusing to work and asserts that he was
stabbed in the arm with a bayonet.  He was sent to Geisweid Tron Mines where
e alleges the fumes from the furnaces have permanently injured his lungs.
For an attempted escape, he was badly beaten, hit over the head with a stick,

“spitttmgthe head open, which has impaired his hearing.  Claimant carries
deformed ear which he says results from an operativn necessitated by injuries
received on the last mentioned oceasion, e served 14 days durk eells on two
oveasions for attempted escapes. Upon recapture after his third attempt he was
nit on the nose and jaw, fracturing both. for which injury he now reeeived a
pension. He wus in hospital for two weeks snd then got 14 duys cells. Claim-
it s indefinite as o his present disubilities apart from the nose and jaw. He
suggests possible tuberenlosis i the jaw, bronehitis, nervousness, enlargement
ot the heart and los< of his teeth.

The medical reeord indieates that elnimant has sustained an injury to his
apper jaw on right stde and fracture of nose, mjury to skull above and involve-
ment of left car, and suffers from bronehitis, including damage to lungs. His
percentage of disability is stated at 35 per cent in his own calling and at 100
per cent in the general labour market. Dr. F. 1. Walts, who certifies to the
foregoing, appeared before the Commission, and expresses  the opinion that
claimant’s condition could result from the history of the case. He speaks of
impaired hearing, which is definite, sntrum trouble and weakened lungs. The
nervous condition may be the resnlt of claimant's experiences—at least Dr.
Watts thinks so.  Claimant's medieal history files would not be favourable to
any claim for general debility, but no sueh general .elaim is advanced.

On the whole, h'm'ing regard to the features of physical injury in evidence,
whereof elaimant still bears the unmistakable marks, T am of opinion that
claimant has proven the elements necessary to « finding in his favour. He has
shown maltreatment fnllm\'qd by consequent di=ability. T would, aceordingly,
recommend a pavment to him of $700.00, with interest thereon, at the rate of
o per cent per annum, from January 10, 1920, to date of payment,

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commiissioner.
Orrawa, December 2, 1931, ‘
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CASE 1925—GARNET F. GREGORY

The elaimant was a Private in the 4th CM.R.—Regimental number 113264, .
fIe enlisted in 1915 at the age of 19 years. Hc was taken prisoner June 2, 1916,
anwounded. He was repatrinted to England November 18, 1918. He is not in
receipt of a disability pension, and states that he dees not intend to apply there-
for. He was married on October 27, 1921, and has two children. Prior to enlist-
ment, hie was a conductor on the Toronto Street Railway, at a salary of $120.00
per month, and since his discharge hus been a constabie on the Toronto Police
i'oree, at a salary of $2,000.00 per annum.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of excessive work and
exposure, unreasonable beatings when recaptured after attempts to eseape, beat-
mgs and teeth knocked out from blows. He alleges that he has been put to
heavy expense for dental work.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was first taken to Dulmen camp, as to which he has no com-
plaints. Sent to the coal mines—K 47, for refusing to work, he was put in front
of the coke ovens heavily clothed during the day and stood out in the cold at
night without a coat, as a punishment. Claimant made a number of attempts
to eseape, all of which were unsuccessful. Upon recapture he was confined to
cells and beaten, on one oceasion losing two teeth. He also exhibits a sear on
hiz <hin which he says results from an injury received at this time. His identifi-
cation marks on his attestation papers refer to a sear in the same position.
Taxed with the discrepancy, he reaflirms that he had no sear on hig shin upon
enlistment.  He complains chiefly of the expense he has incurred for dental
treatment as & result of the loss of teeth above referred to. In other respeets
e appears to be in good health.

The medical record indicates that claimant has an old ulecer of the leg.
recurrent, and the loss of teeth. His percentage of disability is stated at 10 per
cent. Dr. F. S, Park, who certifies to the foregoing, did not appear before the
Commission.  Claimant’s medical history files show nothing unusual, his last
medical board upon discharge from the service declaring all systems normal.

It is significant that eclaimant did not bring forward more direct evidence
from his dentist as to the condition of his mouth. The impression which he
created was not entirely favourable, having regard chiefly to the alleged injury
to his leg, and I would certainly require some greater corroboration before I
could be convineced of the justness of his claim. Under the circumstances, with-
out such corroboration, T am compclied to dizallow the elaim. -

ERROIL M. McDOUGALL,
Orrawa, December 9, 1931. Commassioner.,

CASE 1926—JAMES HAZLETT

Claimant was a Private in the 3rd Battalion—Regimental number 9923.
He enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 44 years, although on enlistment he
stated that he wus 36. Ile was taken prisoner Apri! 24, 1915, during the second
battle of Ypres, unwounded but suffering from gas. He is not in receipt of
pension, although his application to the Board has been favourably considered
but the amount not yet assessed. It is based on chronic arthritis and nephritis.
He was married at the time of enlistment and has 3 children. His wife is now
deceased.  Prior to enlistment, he was employed as a stecl ercctor, earning
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228.80 per week. and since dizeharge has worked as a labourer and had various

occupations, at whieh his average weekly earnings amount to $28.80 per wecek. 7
He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatinent 5
which has resulted in peeuninrvdmmage to him. He complains of blows on the x
head, confinement to cells, exposure and general abuse. :
An analysiz of the evidenee reveals:— E
Chiimant was taken to Giessen camp, vin Roulers, where he remained for
several months. For vefusing to work he was hit with the butt of a rifle and i
knocked unconseions. At his next eamp, Celle-lager, he was again beaten for 3
the same reason and put in cells, His obstinaey in refusing to work, earned him
further beatings at Saltan, with two periods of confinement to cells. An i
attempted eseape, at Hameln, was unsuceessful and claimant did further time b
in cellz, At Vehnemoor he was again beaten and put in cells for the same reason ‘3
and was hit on the head with a stone. Complaint is made of exposure when E
claimant was drenched with water and compelied to remain soaked throughout 3
the night. He sutfers from stomach trouble, headaches and heart troukle, all of i
which he attributes to his experiences whilst a prisoner. 3
The medieal recora indieates that elaimant suffers from combined selerosis K

of cord, arterioselerosis and hypertension, nephritis, osteo artliritis lower dorsal
and lumbar and migraine. His pereentage of disability is stated at 80 per cent. A
Dr. G. W. Lougheed, who certifics to the foregoing, did not appear before the H
Commission. It would appear from claimant’s last medical board, upon dis- .
charge from the service, that all systems were found to be normal.
While claimant has a quite definite heart and spinal cord affection, 1 do not i
consider that this is necessarily to be attributed to lis experiences as a prisoner
of war. At his age, it is not unusual to find some hardening of the arteries and 4
I'world be inelined to say that this trouble did not originate in Germany. His %
remeining cotaplaints, may or may not have resulted from his period of captivity.
The evidence as to the headaches resulting from a blow on the head, is too vague g
to permit of a finding in elaimunt’'s favour. On the whole and viewing all the i
circumstances, I am of opinion that claimant has failed to make out g cage of 2
present disability resulting from maltreatment. His recourse, if any, is else- :
where.  The claim must, accordingly, be disallowed.
ERROL M. McDOUGALL, A

] Commissioner. =1
Orrawa, December 10, 1931,
Bl

CASE 1927—--DAVID PATRICK QUINN i

. A

_(_‘rl:_limun.t was a Private in the 15th Battalion—Regimental number 27655. 3

Ie enlisted in August. 1914, at the age of 25 years. He was taken prisoner
April 24, 1915, at St. Julien during the second battle of Ypres, unwounded but
slightly gased. He was repatriated to Lngland December 22, 1918. He is in g
receipt of & 50 per cent disability pension. amounting to $74.50 for himself and
family, based on epilepsy. He was married May 14, 1919, and has four children. -
Prior to enlistment, he was @ prospector earning about $5 per day and since -
his discharge he has been doing odd jobs and labouring, averaging from €3 to '
§14 a day. i ‘4
He alleges that while a prisoner e was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted In pecuniary damage to him. He complains of work for 3% years 3
in the salt mines under conditions of the greatest severity, to which he attributes
epileptic attacks from which he still suffers. 3
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An analyvsis of the evidence reveals:—-

After a month .at Gottingen camp, claimant was transferred to the salt-
petre mines in East Prussia, where he remained for the duration of his captivity,
compelled to work under conditions of the greatest severity. He does not com-
plain of any particular acts of physical abuse, but stresses the long hours of
labour below ground, with insufficient food and confinement to cells. He con-
tends that a condition of epilepsy developed under this treatment, from which
he still suffers with increased frequency and intensity.

The medical evidence is contained in claimant’s pension file. There was
ome question as to whether the scizures are true epilepsy of the idiopathic type
or are the result of organic brain disease, but the opinion is expressed that these
~cizures date from the time claimant was a prisoner of war. The Board of Pen-
sion Commissioners had disallowed the claim to pension on the ground that
rpilepsy did not result from military service. This finding was reversed by the
Federal Appeal Board in 1927, upon the ground that cpilepsy resulting in dis-
ability is attributable to military service.

The greater part of claimant’s period of service was spent as & prisoner of
war n the salt-petre mines. 1 think that it is « fair inference that the con-
Jition of epilepsy results from the harsh and abusive conditions which existed in .
the salt mines. I am convineed that, even though claimant may have had
-ame predispogition to his malady, the condition was seriously aggravated, by
his treatment in Germany. Having regard to the observations contained in
Opinion annexed to my report herein, and bearing in mind the pension received
by claimant, I consider that he has made out a case of maltreatment resulting
t disability to him. I would, accordingly, recommend a payment to him of $600
with Interest thereon, at the rate of 5 per cent per annum, from January 10,
1920, to date of payment.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Urrawa, December 3, 1931. Commissioner.

CASE 1928—CYRUS ROY HALL

The clnimant was a Private in the 148th Battalion—in which he enlisted in
December, 1915, but he subsequently transferred to the Royal Air Foree, and
was an officer at the time of capture. He was taken prisoner on June 13, 1918,
while engaged in an offensive airplane patrol over Germany. He was repatriated
te England December 13, 1918.

The claimant does not complain of maltreatment in the ordinary sense ol
the word, but alleges that he has a right to be reimbursed for the seizure of cash
and personal effects by the enemy, and for the expenses to which he was put in
the purchase of food and transportation whilst a prisoner.

The claim is unusual, being restricted solely to property loss.  While
techinieally, the captor is not entitled to take from a prisoner his private pro-
perty, I cannot regard such action as “ maltreatment ” within the sense of the
reparation provisions of the Treaty of Versailles. Claimant may be unfortunate,
as a combatant, in losing this property, but I do not see that this Commission has
any mission to make good these Josses. Quite apart from these considerations,
however, 1 find the evidence insufficient to support the elaim. The claimant’s
unsupported statement, fortified only by references as to the property he had
with him, from the statements of persons who knew him, does not constitute
uch proof as I ean accept. In my opinion, the elaim fails, and is, accordingly,
disallowed.

FRROI. M. McDOUGALL,
OrTawa, November 27, 1931. Commussioner.
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CASE 1929—-COLIN VICTOR EARLE

The elaimant was a private in the 2nd Battalion—Regimental number_8205.
He enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 17 years. He was t_nken prisoner
April 24, 1915, at the second battle of Ypre:e_. unwotnded but slightly gassed,
He was repatriated to England November 2:)._ 19.18. He‘xs not in recelpt.of
disability pension, but states that he has an application pending. He was.marnc-d
in 1921 and has two children. Prior to enlistient. he worked on the railroad in
the. summer and went to school in the winter, and since his discharge he has
been i the employ of the Woods Manufacturing Company, at a salary of
$1,800 per annum.

He alleges that while a prizoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in peeuniary damage to him. He complains of several
heatings with rifle butts and bavonets and states he still has bﬂymlqt SCars on
fus arms. He complains also that he was steamied for several hours in & steam
room, also pnt into a cell which was not large enough to lie down in, his
blankets and overcoat having been taken away from him. He alleges that he
was refused medieal treatment for an attack of rheumatism. He states that he
suffers from back trouble, also acute rheumatism.

An analysis of the evidence reveals: —

Claimant was taken to Giescen camp and remained there, or at attached
commandos, for the period of his captivity. His complaints of maltreatment
relate to his experiences at the notorious Geisweid Tron Works. For refusing to
work upoen munitions, and persisting in suck yefusal, he was outrageously beaten
with rifle butts, swords and even received the point of the bayvonets, Unable
to break down his determination net to work, claimant was thrown into a box-
like eell and steam from the exhaust of a hoiler forced into the room. While
he was not burned by the steam, his power of resistanee was seemingly broken
and he eon~ntei to go to work, with, hovever. the intention to escape at the
first opportumty. The apportunity arose shortly  afterwards, and elaimant
though unfit to undertake o hazardous an enterprise, broke away in davlight.
He was veeaptured after fourteen days, in a state bordering upon delirium,
taken at a farm. where his feet were frozen through exposure. He was brought
back to Giessen o phvsical wreek and, far from receiving the medieal attention
which his condition demanded, was thrown into confinement barracks on bread
and water. His condition was so pitiable that comrades interceded with Ambas-
sador Gerard, of the United States, who was viziting the camp and some better-
ment in elaimant’s treatment was brought about. There ig a letter in the file
from Ambassador Gerard recalling the incident as one of extreme hardship,
but he is, of course, unable to identify elaimant as the prisoner he saw on that
occasion.  Claimant clearly beeame a marked man through his persistent refusal
to work and was singled out for the most brutal of treatment. There is an
sbundance of corroboration in the record of the incidents related by claimant,
statemeuts of fellow prisoners, all of whom emphasize the fact that claimant
was singled out for particular maltreatment. The story furnishes a striking
picture of the length to which brutality and caleulated eruelty could be carried.

The medical record indicates that claimant suffers from acute rheumatism,
scoliosis, tenderness lumbar spine and sacral area with periodic attacks of
lumbago. His percentage of disability is stated at from 10 per cent to 25 per
cent. Dr. I, H. Alford, who certifies to the foregoing, appeared before the Com-
mission and demonstrated from X-ray plates a quite definite injury to claimant’s
back which he deseribes as a lipping in the sacroiliae joint {where the spine
joins the pelvis). He speaks of this condition as avthritic.  Dr. Alford, from

the history of the case, is of opinion that claimant’s condition results from his
experiences as a prisoner of war.
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It seems unnecessary further to elaborate the case. I have not the slightest
hesitation in finding that claimant suffers a present disability resulting from
maltreatent whilst a prisoner of war. Were I to deal with the matter on a
punitive basis, the award would be large, but as explained in Opinion annexed
to the present report, this is not the basis upon which compensation is to be
awarded. Viewing all the circumstances, I would recommend g payment to
claimant of 81,600 with intcrest thereon, at the rate of § per cent per annum,
from January 10, 1920, to date of payment.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Orrawy, December 2, 1937, Commissioner.

CASE 1933-—JOHN ALEXANDER PAGE

The claimant was a Private in the 3rd Battalion—Regimental umber
9867. He enlisted in August 1914 at the age of 31 years. He was taken ‘Prisoner
April 24, 1915, during the second battle of Ypres, slightly grazed by shrapnel
on the head and suffering from gas. He was released to Holland May 2, 1918
and repatriated to England November 23, 1018. He is in receipt of a 20 per
cent disability pension, amounting to $20.00 per month, based on chronic
catarrhal otitis media. He was married at the time of enlistment and has two
children. Prior to enlistment, hie was emploved as a bronze sprayer and gilder,
earning up to 45.00 per week, and he is now emploved in the National Gallery
of Canada, at a salary of $1.680.00 per annum.

He alliges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of enforeed hard work
in the stone quarries on bad and insufficient food. States that his ear injury
is the result of being hit on the head while a prisoner. He now suffers with chest
and ear trouble and stomach disorders.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was first taken to Giessen Camp, tlence to a stone quarry. He
has little to complain of as to physical abuse here but speaks of the work as very
heavy. He sustained an injury to his ear which has resulted in impaired hearing,
but iz unable to say how this occurred. Tt first became noticeable in Hollund.
Claimant was next in an iron mine in Hanover wnd complains of the heavy labour.
At another mine he suffered greatly from boils due to under nourishment.
Claimant’s story is confused: he does not appear to remember his experiences
in Germany very elearly. He now complains chiefly of a stomach condition,
which he has trouble in deseribing, but which he attributes to lack of food
whilst a prisoner.

The medieal record indieates that claimant suffers from bronehitis, defective
hearing, indigestion, ears discharge with attack of coryza. His percentage of
dizability is stated at 100 per cent in his own calling and at 10 per cent in
the general labour market. Dr. J. F. Craig, who certifies to the foregoing, did
not appear before the Commission. Claimant's medical files show a catarrhal
condition.

Claimant, in appearance, is very healthy and robust. On his own state-
ment, his main disability would be his stomach condition. Clearly this i3 a
nutritional origin. As explained in Opinion annexed to the present report, this
condition cannot be regarded as the result of maltreatment. Claimant has failed
to distharge the burden of showing that he suffers a prezent disability resulting
from maltreatment whilst a prisoner of war. the claim is, accordingly, disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
OrrAwa, Decembor 10, 1931, Commissioner.
414297
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CASE 1934—FRANCIS MORIN

The elaimant was a Private in the 28th Battalion--Regimental Numbe
73929, He enlisted in Aueust 1914 but was attached to the strength of the 28t
Buttalion October 23, 1914 He was then 21 vears of age. He was taken
prisoner June 6, 1916, after the hattle of St Flo, \m\mupr'“(l but badly shaken
up by a mime explosion. e was repatriated to Fngland November 30, 1918. Hc
i= in receipt of a 40 per cent dizability venston based on tuberculosis zst}(l neu-
rasthenia, e was muevied January 26, 1919, but is separated from his wife.
and has no children. Prive to eniistuent. he was employed as a reporter with
R. G, Dun & Co., finaneinl investigators, carning $85.00 per month, and since
his discharge, hus held various positions, and is now with the Customs Depart-
ment, at Ottaws, at o <ulary of $130.00 per month,

He alleges that while a priconer he was snl)jcctqd to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage 1o him, He complains of having had to work
2} vears in the conl mines, excessive work, exposure and punishments.  The
explosion at the time of capture affeeted one of his ears and be is now quite
deaf,  In a letter written Seprember 2, 1931, ofter his evidenee had bedh taken.
he submits that his deafness while probably eaused by the explosion, was
aggravatd by tubereuloxis,

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was taken to Dubnen camp, where be remained for a few weeks,
and was then sent to a coui mine wt Boechum in Westphalin, where he appears
to-have remained for the duration of hi< eaptivity. He complains ehiefly of the
poor living conditions, hard work and exposure. and speaks of some physical
abuse, though he deelares thi= did him no permanent injury.  To his cxperiences
in this camp he attributes o tuberenlar condition, and deelares that the injury
te hix cars beeame avernvated and has resalted in greater deafness than he
would atherwise have hod. His chiest trouble first beeame apparent  after
repatrintion to England, e

The medieal yeeord indicates that elaimant <uffers from hronie pulmonwury
tuberculosts and complete deatne= in left cnr. Hix pereentage of dizability
is stated at 30 per eent in his own ealling and at 100 per eent in the general
labour market.  Dr. AT Shillinston, who certifies to the foregoing, appeared
before the Commission. He speaks of the tubereular condition as practically
arrested now, and attributes the deteetive hearing to the original <erviee injuries.
Thre i= nothing in the record to show that elainant’s Jdeafness is other than
of recent development.  Claimant's medieal files sugpest that the chest con-
dition may have originated o ewlere than in Cieriany.

Clannant is undoubtedly disabled us a result of service, and T would have
difficnlty in finding that these disabilities are atribuatable to any maltreatment
whilst a prizener of war were it not that he wis compelled to work in the coal
mines for upwards of two vears, Ie encountered rough treatment, and, I con-
sider, hasz ~hown that he sufiers permanent injury re-ulting therefrom. The
general evidence as to the brutal conditions whieh prevatled in the coal mines
creates a strong presumption of maltreatment, which i< strengthened by elaim-
ant’s testimony.  Viewing all the cireumstances, I would. accordingly, recom-
mend a payment to claimant of 8800 with interest thercon. at the rate of 5 per
cent. per annurn, from January 10, 1920, to date of ravment,

ERROL M. MeDOUGALL,

: Commissioner.
Orraws, December 8, 1931,
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CASE 1935—MERTON EGBERT ELLSWORTH KITTREDGE

The claimant was a private in the 13th Battalion—Regimental number
25040. He enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 24 vears, He was taken
prisoner April 24, 1915, during the second Battle of Ypres, suffering from bullet
wounds in the shoulder and head and a touch of gas. He escaped from Ger-
many into Holland December 8, 1916, and was repatriated to England December
13 of that year. He is not in receipt of pension but has an application pending.
He was married May 14, 1927, and has one child. Prior to enlistment, he
was employed as a draughtsman, at $100 per month, and is now ciployed with
the Patents and Copyrights Branch of the Canadian Government, earning $180
per month.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjeeted to maltreatment. which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of negleet of his
wounds, being compelled to work in munitions and cement factories and being
beaten with rifle butts and stabbed with a bayonet while so employed. He
mnhaled considerable lime and cement dust causing nose and throat trouble.
Served several perinds of solitary confinement in punishment barracks, deprived
of food parcels and compelled to stand at attention for long periods. Contracted
vench feet due to their being frozen and reccived no medieal attention. Devel-
oped stomach and bowel trouble due to the foed and privation. e also suffers
from nervous disorders and dental trouble. :

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was first taken to Roulers, nfter receiving xome medieal atten-
tion at a dressing station. He reecived further medical attention at Roulers
and was then sent by rail to Giessen catip, where he remained until June,
1915, For refusing to work in a munitions factory, he was beaten, struck with
the burts of riflex and prodded with bavonet and was later compelled to work
«t a cement works where the hard work combined with the dust injured his
nose and throat. He complains that he was struck in the face and sustained a
broken nose upon two occasions. This occurred at Wetzlar. Claimant’s chief
complaint was that he was compelled to work when unfit to do so, suffering
from numerous boils, During the summer of 1915 claimant made three unsuc-
cessful attempts to coeape, reecived the nsng) solitary confinement upon recap-
ture and was finally successful, on his fourth attempt, in December, 1916, in
cetting across the Holland border. He vomplains that at Vordenermoor he
received a blow on the chin from a guard and sustained injury to his feet as
a result of cold and exposure. Upon repatriation claimant made a long state-
ment, copy of which is of record. 1t is substantially in sceord with the testi-
mony given by elaimant, but the actual physical abuse is not stressed to the
sume extent.  He deals in detail with his four attempted escapes.  As a result
ol these experiences claimant complains that he suffers from his shoulder and
his feet, that his nerves are in bad condition, that his intestines and digestive
tract are impaired, that he =ufiers from his nose and throat and has developed
pyorrhea,  He has also some impairment of b aring,

The medieal record indicates that claimant suffers from rhinitis and
pharyngitis recurring frequently, general nervous debility and gastro-intestinal
distvess and tender feet, His pereentage of dizability is stated at 70 per cent.
Dr. G. O. Barelay. who certifies to the foregoing, appeared before the Com-
mission and, in Lis opinion, claimant’s main complaint is as to his nervous
candition. He also speaks of the intestinal condition as debr'itating.  Dr.
1 H. Allord also appeared before the Commission and stated that claimant
suffers from mucous colitis, which is a condition of the large bowel. This
condition, in Dr. Alford’s opinion, constitutes elaimant’s chief dixability.  He is

04297}
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inelined to aseribe this condition to malnutrition,  He also speaks of suspected
asthma, hay fever which is manifest under certain conditions and troubles
claimant considerably.  Claimant’s medieal history files ndicate that he suf-
fered from trench feet in April, 1915, that at the time of examination in 1917,
there was nothing abnormal in his condition, apart from slight lameness due to
trench feot.

Claimant has made a vary complete eaze and is undoubtedly suffering dis-
ability, but the dificulty in this ecase is to determine whether this disability
results from maltreatment at the hands of the enemy or is not more properly
due to the strain and exposure which claimant underwent on his numerous
attempts to eseape, in which ease the matter would be purely pensionable, I
have carcfully ex~omined the evidence addueed as also the very long statement
made by clain.=t upon repatriation and 1 am inelined to think the claimant’s
disabilities are not as serious as he wonld have us believe, In any event I
have reached the conelusion that the disabilities of which he complains were
not due to medtreatment whilst a prisoncy of war.  The elaim must aceordingly
be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Orrawa, December 2, 1931, Comnussioner.

CASE 1936—J1. GUY KINCH

The elaimant was a private in the 26th sattalion—Regimental number
number 69495, Apparentiv under the misappreliension that this Commission
was dealing with the eases of all veturned soldiers, he filed a claim, He did
not appear at the Halifax sessions of the Commission, and, it now develops
that he was not a prisoner of war. This Commission has no authority to
entertain the elaim, and it is, aecordingly, dizatlowed,

IERROL ML McDOUGALL,
Orranw s, December 5, 1931, Commicsioner.

CASE 1938—CARL FREDERICK HAMLIN

The claimant, born in Finland. in 1881, came to Canada over thirty years
ago. He went back to Finland in 1914 and enlisted with the Russian Tmperial
Forees,  He was taken prisoner by the Austrians, at Cracow, in November, 1914.
When captured, he was stripped .d made to stand three hours on a winter day,
out of doors. ‘

He was advised at the hearing Leld ar Montreal May 21, 1931, that he
could have no elaim before tiis Commission beeanse he was not a British
subject during the war period and was not serving with a British unit when
taken prisoner.  Claimant filed lengthy type vritten statement of his experi-
ences, relating in detail the acts of maltveatment of which he complains.

Claimant alleges that he is now a British subject, but has not filed his
natiradization certficate. A= fur oas the record goes, be was not a British
subject when the war hroke out, nor did he serve inoa British unit. 1 eannot
sce that this Commission las jurisdiction to entertain the claim. Moreover,
there is nothing to corroborate the story told by claimant, nor is there any
medieal evidenee establishing disubility az a result of the treatment alleged
to have been reccived. In these circumstanees the elaim fails and must he
disallowed. '
ERROL 2. McDOUGALL,

Otrswa, December 4, 1931. Commissioner,
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CASE 1946--C. I'. DAVISON

The claimant waz a Private, but does not name the Battalion with which
Le served. He has not completed the usual forms nor Fas he furnished any
information as to his period of captivity, other than contained in a letter to the
Commission dated February 25, 1931, It would appear, from this letter, that
claimant does not intend to press the elaim. The information furnished, at all
events, would not indicate that he was subjected to such maltreatment, causing
dizability, as would entitle him to an award. In these eircumstances, the elaim
mnst be disallowed.

ERROL M. MeDOUGALL,
Comnissioner.

trawa, December 10, 1931,

CASE 1947—LORNE ALBERT HIGGS

The elaimant was a Private in the 13th Battalion—Regimental number
16344. He enlisted in August, 1914, with the 7th Battalion, at Fernie, B.C.,
aved 23 years, He was taken prisoner April 24, 1915, at the sccond battle
of Ypres, unwounaed. He eseaped from Germany late in 1916, and was repat-
viated to England on November 18, 1916. He is not in receipt of pension, and
aad no intention of applying therefor. He is married and has six children.
Prior to enlistment, he was a carpenter, carning about $3 per day, and since
hi< diseharge, basz resumed the same work, at the rate of 50 cents per hour.

Claimant has not completed the usual statement of elaim, but complains
senerallvy in his testimony, of Iack of food and general conditions in Germany.
He declares that he feels somewhat nervous o3 a result of his experiences whilst
U prizoner,

Taken first to Roulers and then to Giessen, claimant has little to com-
pixin of, except as to the food.  He appears to have spent time at Saltaun,
Lichtenhorst and Vordenmoor, but does not complain of any brutality or physi-
cal violence.  He made several attempts to eseape and was finally suceessful
i November, 1916. He became a marked man, with rings painted on his
uniform, but escaped beatings or brutality. He complaing of hard work and
m=uflicient food but declares that beatings eonld be avoided if the prisoners
didd what they were told.

There is no medical evidence of record. Claimant does not regard him-
«lf as disabled and speaks only of some nervousness.

Clearly, claimant has failed to muake out a case of maltreatment whilst
s prisoner of war, and he must be under a misapprehension in presenting «
claim before this Commission. { have no hesitation in disallowing the claim.

ERROL M. MeDOUGALL,

: Comnussioner.
Oreaw s, December 4, 1931,

CASE 1948—CHARLES SCARFE

The claimant was a Corporal in the Princess Patricia Canadian Light
Infantry Battalion—Regimental number 77.  He enlisted in August, 1914,
coming to Canada from the United States to do so. at the age of 30 years. He
was taken prisoner May 8, 1915, suffering with gunshot wound in the arm and
vas, He was released to Switzerland in 1916 and was repatriated to England
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March 25, 1918, He i< in receipt of a 15 per cent dizshility pension, amount-
my to 815 per month based on pleurisv,  He was married August 28, 1918,
:nd has no children,  Prior to enlistment, he was employed as a steel worker
carning $30 per week, and sinee his dizcharge was ()mpl()}'(:d by the Toronto
street eleaning department at a wage of $28.80 per week. Was unemployed for
fifteen months on account of ill-health. and since July, 1928, has been emploved
by the C.P.R. as crossing watehman, at a wage of 818 per week.

" ile alleges that while 4 prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment whick:
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of having had to
work for fourteen months digging canalz. in water to the waist, He was struck
i the face with a riffe hbutt snd lo<t ten teeth, Wi subjected to many kicks
and beatings and now suffers from chronie bronehitis and the loss of teeth.

An analysis of the evidence revenls:—.-

Claimant is an ol soldier. having seen service in Routh Afriea. Taken to
tizessen camp he has no complaint= of ill-treatment. Sent to the punishment
camp, at Vehmemoor. he declures that his back teeth were broken by a blow
trom the butt of a rifle beeanse he refused to work in rain.  The recital of
this oceurrenee is not very convineing and it s difliendt to sce how all his back
teeth could be broken by such a blow. e alleges that he was made to work
i water. digging eanals and has contracted bronchitis, from which he still
<uffers. e complains also of being beaten at Ostenholzenmoor and beeame
<o il that Le was finally recomrsended for transfer to Switzerland and was
released in 1916, e complaing vagnely of some impairment to his hearing
amvd towards the end of his statement alzo alleges that his nerves trouble him,
but evidently never realized that he was -0 aflected until he was told by the
physicians at Christie Street Hospital that such was the case, Again claim-
ant’s testimony Jails to carry conviction aud the impression Jeft was not fav-
ourable,

The medical record indicates that claimant suffers from ehronie bronehitis
and nenrasthenia. is perecataee of dizability is stated at 100 per cent in his
own ealling and at 75 per ceut in the general labour market. Dr. Paul M,
O'=ullivan, who certifies 1o the torezoing, appeared  before the Commission,
He finds exeessive nervousness as elaimant's ontstanding disability, wholly in-
capacitating him in his own line of work,

[ am not convineed that elaimant's present. disabilities result from any
maltreatment to whieh he was subjected whilst a prisoner of war. I would be
maore inelined to think that they result from serviee and are the natural accom-
paniment of advaneing vears,  His powers of rvesistanee wore not such as to
withstand the strain of general conditions during captivity.,  After very earefnl
consideration T have reached the conclusion that the elaim faile. It is, accord-
mgly, disallowed, ‘

FERROL M., MeDOUGALL,

Comnssioner,
Orrawas, December 10, 1931.

CASE 1949-JOHN CURTIS

Claimant was a signaller in the 4th COLR.—Regimental number 109290.
He enlisted in September, 1914, at the age of 19 vears. He was taken prisoner
June 2, 1916, unwounded. 1Je was repatriated to England January 12, 1919,
He ix in receipt of a 100 per cent disability pension amounting to $100 per month,
based on tuberculosis. e was married October 10, 1922, and hag no children.
Prior to enlistment, he was an apprentice cleetrici;in, carning about $10 per
week, and after discharge was an automobile mechanie, carning $30 per week,
but finally had to give up all work on account of his health.
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He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was cubjected to maltreatinent
which has vesulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complaing of being com-
peiled to work in the coal mives wheré he reecived several beatings and was
badly undernourished.  As a resilt of this work. on starvation diet and under
poor living conditions generally he developed tuberculosis, and is now perman-
ent'v disabled.

An analysis of the evidence re eals:—

Clnimant ig one of those unfortunates whe went through the coals mines
m Giermany, with the result that his health has been completely wreeked. He is
 a pitiable condition and came before the Commission in a wheel chair, com-
pletely paralvzed and suffering from advanced tuberenlosis of the lungs. Previous
to his entry into the Augusta-Vietoria coal mines--K-47—he was at Dulmen,
where the treatinent was fair. In the mines, he was Leaten and wade to work
long hours when unwell,  When rifle butts were not available, below ground,
clubs and mining lamps were used to abuse the prisoners. Thisz went on daily.
Claimant lost his voiee, reported sick, and for medical treatment was kicked
by the doetor.  He states that the mines were most unsanitary and that he was
constantly inhaling coal dust. He injured his leg, whieh beeame septie, was
-ent to hoespital and treated by a Canadian medical man as best he could.
Sent to Munster and Parchim, the treatment, though rough, was not a: bad as
in the mines. He worked in a bush near Crefeld, and was also beaten beeause
he could not work Tast enough.  IFrom a farm he attempted to eseape, was
recaptired and made.to serve 33 davs in dark cells azs a mark of speeial vin-
dietiveness on the part-of the officer in charge. The story i= one long recital of
cruelty and brutality under which it is not surprising that elaimant’s health
w< broken, xith the evident results that his appearance now attests,

The medieal record indieates that elaimant suffers from “ pulmonary tuber-
culosia following miner's phthizis.”  MHis pereentage of disability is rated at 100
ner eent. Dr. Gordon W. Armstrong, who certifies to the foregoing, appeared
before the Commission and emphasized the seriousness of claimant’s condition
and attributes the origin of the disease dircetly to elaimant’s experiences in
tiermany.  He cannot explain the condition of paralysis of the legs, which may
nos<ibly be tuberenlar neuriti=.  Iis opinion s, however, quite definite that
claimant’s present condition is of service origin.

On these facts, and with this evidence before me, T have no hesitation in
findding that elaimant was subjected to maltreatiment whilst a prisoner of wer
which has resulted in irreparable and permanent dizability to him and i< entitled
‘o an award,  Viewing all the civeumstances, and taking into consideration the
pension whieh elaimant reeeives, T would vecommend o pavment to him of
22,000 with interest thereon. at the rate of 5 per cent per acnum, frons January
10, 1920. to date of payment.

FRROIL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioncr.
Orraws, December 1, 1931, '

CASE 1952—JOHN BRATTEN PETERS

The claimant was an Tmperial soldier, being a private in the Buffs—Tast
Kent Regiment—Regimental number /20164, He came to Canada to reside
in 1908, and returned to England on a visit in October, 1914, He enlisted April
17, 1915, at the age of 33 years, He was taken prisoner November 30, 1917, at
(lonnelieu, France, wounded below the knee. He was repatriated to England in
December, 1918. He was granted pension for the wounded right knee on
December 11, 1919, amounting to £5-6s. This was discontinued December 24,
1921. He ix unmarried. Prior to enlistment, he was employed as a farmer,



104 REPARATIONS, 1130-31

carning about $25 per month. and since his hischarge has held various positions
and is now emploved at a salesman, on a commission basis, )

He alleges that while 4 prizoner he wys subjected to maltreatment which
hae resulted in peeuniary damage to him.  He complains of lack of medieal
attention for his wound after eapture with the result that his foot beecame
infeeted, hard Iabour, inoenlations und general abusce,

An analysis of the evidenee revealss—

Claimant was x prisoner in Germany for a litile over a year, part of the
time in hospital. While hi< wound was dressed at Julich, after capture, he
complainz that the attention was poor. but does not specify in wh:\} manner it
was deficient.  He was taken to Giessen. where he complains of iroculations
wnd failure to attend to an infected toe from which he was suffering.  Removed
to Mexchede, he complains of the use of paper bundages and poor treatment.
His statement ix somewhat confused. but it would appear that he was next sent
to a furm ad then to the Huesten Iren Foundry. where he met with an accident,
falling into « hole, and injured his knee (which had been wounded), He seems
to huve returned fo Giessen, suffering from his kree, and was made to work,
but wedmits that he received <ome treatment.  He was then sent to an officers’
camp at Frankfort, and point= to this fact ux an acknowledgment that he was
ijured.  Apart from some disability to the knee (accidental iy origin) claimant
speaks of “internal trouble.”

The medieal record indieates o number of ailments—indigestion, low blood
pre=sure, variocele, hacmorrhoids, constipation, newrasthenia and general fatigue.
This informaron is furnizhed in certifiente- of Dr. V. Stanley Kaufman and

D1 1P Claimant’s medieal Listory files refer to the injured knee and
spedk of <o afness, which was of <ervire oy pre-war origin,

Ido akit ean be sl that the disabled condition of claimant's knee
i uttribe o maltreatment by his captors. 10 was accidental in origin.
Clamant aming maladies are so.generad in nature,~-<onie of them at least

consistent v his agethat 1 do not consider I would be justified in finding
that they wre the yesult o1 any maltreatment whilst & prizoner of war.  Claim-
Ants recourse, i any, would be before the Board of Pension Commissioners,
The elaim must, aeeordingly, be disallowed.

FRROTL, M. .\h'l)ﬂ('(i.\l,l,,
Orrawa, December 10, 1931 Commissioner.

CASE 1953--LEONARD L. LING

The elaimant was o Private in the 15th Battalion—Regimental number
27221, He enlisted in Auzust, 1914, at the age of 27 voars, He was taken
prisoner April 24, 1015, during the second hattle of Ypres, suffering from a
bullet wound in the left shoulder. He was repatriaten to England December 24,
1018, He ix in yeecipt of 3 10 per eent disability pension, amonnting to $19.50
per month for himself snd family, based on constitutiong p=ychopathic inferior
neurosis and seiatien, He wae married April 25, 1921, and has two children.
Prior to cnlistment, he was emploved in a tin fuetory arning about £15.00 per
weelk, and zinee hi;' discharge he has been omployvi! {8 omessenger with the
Canadian Bank of Commerce, at a salary ranging from $800.00 to 81,150.00
per annum. :

He alleges that while o prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of being forced
to work for 3% vears in the sult mHnes wiere he received numerous blows and
beatings with bayonets, fists and rifie butts, and has developed nervous trouble
and sciatien as a resylt.
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An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was one of the unfortunate prisoners who served over three years
in the salt mines in Germany. Apart from a few months spent. at Gottingen
after his capture, and in regard to which he has no complaints, the rest of his
period of captivity was spent in the Salsted salt mines under familiar condi-
tions of excessive work and frequent beatings, He speaks generally of his treat-
ment and does not detail the various incidents of brutality to which he was
subjected.  He complains that his nerves have been seriously affected and that
his eyesight has been impaired.

The medieal record indieates that claimant has become prematurely grey
amd is nervous, noises disturb him and he becomes quite shaky at times. No
pereentage of disability is stated. Dr. G. L. Chambers appeared before the
Commission and testified to the extreme nervousness of cluimant, the reflexes
being much exaggerated. He is unable to attribute this condition to any cause.
The medieal history files show that elaimant is in reecipt of pension for the
yeaxons noted,

The evidence in support of maltreatment is not very full, but I am inclined
to think elaimant was reluctant to enter into full details of his experiences.
We have abundant testimony of conditions in the salt mines, and as explained
i Opinion annexed to the present report, almost every prizoner who underwent
captivity in these mines bears the marks of his treatment. I am of opinion
that claimant’s contention that his health was injured by the treatment given
b the salt mines has been proven. 1 would, aceordingly, recommend «
pavment to him of 8600.00 with interest thereon, at the rate of 5 per cent per
amum, from January 10, 1920, to date of payment.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commuissioner.
Opeaws, December 3, 1931,

CASE 1954 —-ROBERT ELMER STEWART

The claimant was a Sergeant in the 13th Battalion—-Regimental number
21177, He enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 24 years. Hq was taken
prisoner April 24, 1915, at Ypres, suffering from gunshot wounds in the chest
aned feft <houlder, and gas. He wus released to Holland, where he remameq fg»r
=X months, when he was repatriated to England December 18, 1918, He is in
coeeipt of a 10 per eent disability penzion, based on his injured shoulder, which
csmounts to $16.00 per month.  He was married January 9, 1920, and has three
ciiidren. Prior to enliztment, he was crploved as a driver boss with a coal
company in Fernie, B.C., at $3.50 per day, and sinee his discharge he was
employed as a landseape gardener, at £100.00 per month for one year, and sub-
«cquently as a contract miner, at an average wage of £1.400.00 per vear,

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in peeuniary damage to him. He complains that when first
tuken prisoner he was struek in the forearm and head while marching thrm!gh
German reservists, and that the forearm was left with two bones protruding
for a long time. The arm still pains him while at work. His subsequent treat-
ment was not especially severe.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was quite badly wounded when captured.  Jie had lain on the
ficld of battle, unconscious, for some time. Parially regaining consciousness
e attempted to reach our own lines but was intercepted by a German Patrol.
While being led through a column of German reservists he was struck down
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CASE 1955 PERCY ROWHITE dicecas o

T Dwae s Cugt i i the Roval Flving Corps. He enlistid in
S B e weonded o e Rovad Flving Corps October 4, 1917, He
Ve B2 e ol s mt e Ui of enlistment aond was married, with one child,
e He died oF caneer of e heeved, Tl 24, 1921, survived by his
RN D B

Too el s now sowde by the widow, Tlarence e orgina White, who is in
et of w100 per ot pension wountine to 86667 per menth. Capt. White
s taben prisoner Nav 1601938 bavineg by <ot sdown while flying behind
vhevnenyhine-s He s yepartod vo have heen wounded i the right thigh and leg

CrocLot tironeh the ol wiist we the time of apture. He was repatriated to

Bt Decauber 2719180 In applving for w pension for the eancer of the
bove it was alleped on his behali that ot the e of the erash of the aeroplane
hereceived aoeevere blow in the right side from which he suffered pain continually
and due to this and the bad food given him while a prisoner, he developed the
cabecr. TUis mow alleged insupport of the elaim for maltreatment, that a guard
~trick i with aorifle in the right side while he was held prisoner awaiting trans-
fer Lo a prison camp on an i<dand inthe Baltie Sea. This statement is contained
inan affidavit by the son of the deceased, dated in California, February 5, 1931.
Prior to the war the deceased was an Assistant Lighthouse Tnspector with the
Department of Muarine, ut a salary of £1,650.00 per annum.  After his return to
Cimada, he was continally 211 until the time of his death, .

An examination of the Soldiers Civil Re-establishment file relating to Captain
White wax made and the result of this indicated that the Pension authorities
decided that he eancer was attributable to war causes, but apart from a refer-
enee to the bad food, there was no evidence of maltreatment,
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Tre weight of the evidenee tends 1o show that the cancer wlneh developed
Lot drom oaniuric: reeeived on service. 1 indeed that wus the cause. Tre
statement of witnesses that the late Captain White declared he had beon
<k in the side by a guard, does not and cannot establish that fact. Fiven
=00 T am of epinion that the claim would be persena! (o thie deecrsed and
Cionet be transmitted to his widow., Her elaim Lus bres dealt with by the
oy of Persion Commissioners, and 1 am without richt in making su awasi in
e TR elam mmstaeconding'y e gl
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CASE 1956 —-FRANK J. MUXNRD

Tie eliimant was o Private in the 280 Battaidon—Resmentar noniee
24 He enlisted on December 18, 1914 at the sze of 18 vears. Ho wis tadien
~omer June 6, 1916, unweunded.,  He was repatrinted to Peglaond Novanber

v therefor. He married on March 16, 1920 andd has 1two elnldren. Prier to
“letment. he was emiploved a: a Fireman, at $100.00 por tmouth, and 1 new
coparsriy empioved as a salesman of plants and flewers, on o comnassion basis,
= which he derives an incowe averaging $16.00 perweek.
He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreaiment
4 has resulted in pecuniary damage o him. He complams that Le was
- Hbed inthe leg for evading work, and wus denied medieal ntrention for this s
v injuries.
An analvsis of the evidence reveals:—

.

Clomint complains eblefy of Bis traahhent o cenn BT L) rently eo -
~redwith Dulmen camp. He declares that, for shirking work. Lie was bayvoneted
r timmes in the ealf of the leg by the German sentryv, oit no dizahelay appears
fave resulted from this injury. On another orcasion Lis feot was aceidentally
~sred by a coal waggon, and though troubling him Le was refused medieal
soention and sent pack to work. Again. hie was beaten by a civilian blacksmith
1 aceidentally dropping a hammer upen him.  Claimant got o steel sliver in
“:» finger and complains of the lancing ke received when the arm sweiled. Asa
~ailt of these experiences. he eomplains of his stemach. his evesight and that
smps shghtly,

The medical record is very inadequate. Claimant files a certificate of Dr.
W' Acheson, which merely states that there are 4 scars on claimant’s leg
“tieh may have been caused as related by claimant. Tt is perhaps significant
. note that enc of the identifieation marks shown on elaimant’s attestation paper
o =car on the left leg. two inches long. The remainder of the certificate states
« history given Dr. Acheson by claimant.  The Jast medieal board received by
simant does not show any disahility. :

In this state of the record there is nothing to substantiaie the claim for
-parations. Claimant has failed to establish a disability resulting from mal-
stinent whilst a prisoner of war. The elaim must, accordipgiv, he dizallowed.

'

ERROL M. MeDOUGALL.
(Conimissioner.

“57aws, December 9, 1931,
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CASE 1957—WILLIAM MAY

The claimant wnx a Sapper with the Canadian Engineers—Regimenta]
munber 503466. He enlisted November 27, 1015, at the age or 33 vears. He
was taken prizoner June 7, 1916, at St l’i(lrr(-‘\\_ood, ll.n\\’()lllld(‘d. He wus
repatriated to England December 10, 1918 He is m receipt of a 75 per cent
disubility pension, smounting to %75 per month for himself and his wlfo,.bnscd
on neurasthenin. He was anarried December 8, 1918, and has no children.
Prior to enlistment. he was employed as a miner, earning about 84 per day,
aand sinee his diseharge was emploved for o time at 890 per month, but for the ;
past three vears has been unable 1o work owing to the condition of his health. '

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment whicl:
has resulted in peeuniary damage to him. He complains of being confined t.
cotis on bircad aned water for five davs and foreed to leep on the floor witheut
blunkets or great-coat at Harvest-Vorsten. At Westerholt camnp, where he
warked in the mines, conditions were terrible, the latrines close to living quarters
never cleaned and piled high with filth the stench being terrible. The quarter:
or Imrracks were overcrowded, had only one door and were dirty and unendur-
anfe Two handred and twenty-two men lived here and they were ealled our
at midniglt for roll call and paraded for two or three hours. The last mun
out of barracks was generally beaten with rifle butts, They were forced to
stand at attention. only partially dressed. and often in the rain, Beatings wit}.

a rubber hose were common. e waus given 54 days punishment on account o

attempted eseapes by others. Was troubled with hoils on his knees, hut wu-

competled to erawl at work in the mine tunnels, which aggravated these. One

, leg beeame o swollen he had to drag it along. Was forced to work 8 hour-

i per dav while in this condition getting only two dayvs off during the whol

. Gines Cluims thot his Junas and beart bave heeome affeeted as a0 result o
' these conditions and wie finally pliced in hospital,

An analysis of the evidence revenls:—

Clalmants testimony bears out the forevoing summary of his statemen:
.v of claim. There i+ filed of record statement made by elaimant npon reputria-
= ton, deseribing in detail his experienees, which i substantially in accord witl,
his testimony.,

Fhe mesiesd record is contained in elaimant - pension file which shows that
Beosufiors nome disordered action of e heart, whieh is declared to have
resuited from peneral serviee conditions, “ place of origin, Germany ", The
heart condition elaimant attributes to pneumonia for which he was in hospital
i Germany.

I was at the outset inclined to view this case as one purely for the Board
of Pension Commissioners, but after very careful examination of the evidence.
Pliwve reached the comeimsion that the ardnois ibour imposed upon claimant
whilst a prisoner in Germany and working in conl mines, having regard to hiz
then physical condition, was unjustified and constitutes maltreatment in the
sense of the reparation provisions of the Treaty of Versailles. Disability has
followed from sueh treatment and it results, therefore, that elaimant has :
suceessfully made out a ease hefore this Commission. I would recommend a
payment to elaimant of 500 with interest thereon, at the rate of 5 per cent
per annum, from January 10, 1920, to date of payment.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL B

_ 4 Commissioner. =
Orraws, December 1, 1931 e
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